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Dear Fellow Stockholders, 
 
 
While working in our booth at the Los Angeles Marathon in March, I saw how well our 
Experts respond to every challenge.  On Saturday before race day monsoonal rain 
swamped our outdoor selling space. Within 15 minutes we had over a foot of water in some 
places, preventing runners from getting to our merchandise and then to the check stands. 
What happened next was a perfect metaphor for the year, and for our team.  
 
Fiscal year 2012-2013 was defined by three events:  
 
First, on July 15, 2011, we lost our founder, Norbert Olberz.  He was more than a 
businessman.  Norbert was a visionary, and he and his partner and wife, Irene, sacrificed 
and dreamed about an unlimited future when Sport Chalet began as a ski shop in La 
Canada in 1959. They provided a philosophy about sports, athletes and people that we 
strive to adhere to every single day: 
 

• To be the image of a sportsperson; 
• Create ease of shopping; 
• To do one thousand things a little bit better; 
• See things through the eyes of the customer; and 
• Not to be the biggest, but the best. 

 
Second, it didn’t snow. Given our winter heritage and our continued commitment to be best 
in class in these sports, the lack of snow over the winter months presented enormous 
challenges; especially since the first half of fiscal year 2011-2012 began on a high note.  
Our second fiscal quarter ending on October 2nd was our tenth straight quarter of sequential 
EBITDA improvement, the second profitable quarter in the prior three, and the third 
consecutive quarter of comp sales improvement, and we executed a reduction of bank debt.  
In short, everything was on track for our return to profitability.  Then the “non–winter” winter 
struck, costing us over $14 million in sales versus the prior year.   
 
The Lake Tahoe region recorded its lowest amount of snowfall since the 1880’s, Mammoth 
Mountain was plagued by poor snowfall all year, and our momentum suddenly and 
agonizingly reversed.  Yet our team of Sport Chalet Experts responded magnificently and 
navigated an aggressive course of action.  We left no stone unturned as we challenged 
ourselves to mitigate the financial damage and look ahead to the future.  Specifically, we 
took the following steps: 
 

• Reduced our inbound winter receipts to minimize  future damage; 
• Expanded our use of rental gear given the fact customers on the mountain were 

likely going only once; 
• Controlled store payroll effectively, reducing our SG&A expenses in the third and 

fourth quarters by 8%; 
• Accelerated delivery of spring and summer merchandise, improving our non-

winter comps by 5% in the third and fourth quarters even though we suffered 
from reduced foot traffic because of winter; and 



• Negotiated far-reaching agreements with our vendors, including returning winter 
products and obtaining markdown allowances, extended dating and rental 
conversions.  
 

Third, and most importantly, our team powered through these challenges and achieved 
notable success, including the following:  
 

• Non-winter sales increased by $9.7 million, a 3.3% improvement 
• Online sales improved by 22.0% and non-winter online sales by 38.0%;  
• Non-winter gross margin improved by 60 basis points; 
• $0.9 million in negotiated occupancy savings were realized; 
• Our Action Pass data base added over 350,000 members giving us over 1.7 

million members; 
• Inventory shrink was reduced by $0.7 million due to tighter controls and enforcing 

tougher standards; 
• Non-winter inventory was reduced by $1.2 million at cost, or 1.6%; 
• Aged inventory was reduced by $4.8 million or 24.0%; and 
• Our co-branded US Bank/Visa credit card holder base was expanded by 104.0%.  

 
We can make a strong case that we manage one of the most complicated retail businesses 
in the United States with our many value added services. We are a manufacturer—Team 
Sales, a charter boat operator—Sport Chalet Scuba, and a ticket broker—resort lift ticket 
sales.  We are mechanics—we repair and tune every bike, snowboard, ski and Scuba 
brand, and we install gear racks on cars and SUVs.  We run a large rental business—as we 
rent as well as sell mountain shop, scuba, and snow gear.  We provide real time athletic 
analysis and advice through our run shops, manage our own website with our own inventory 
shipped from 54 stores, our DC, and Team Sales, and we do not take the easy path of 
outsourcing.  We are trainers and coaches—as we conduct fifteen major product and selling 
events annually.  And we are micro-marketers using every bit of data to build assortments 
and marketing vehicles covering a multitude of customers, geographies, and sports. 
 
Our Next Steps: 
Our leading team of 2,900 Sport Chalet Experts believes in our future and is excited about 
embracing change.  Our company represents something entirely different, the commitment 
to improve, the commitment to utilize technology, and most importantly, our commitment to 
provide a differentiated shopping experience that leaves others behind. To that end, we 
have completed or will soon begin the following strategic initiatives to improve our business 
and return to profitability:  
 

1) We completed our long planned installation of SAP in our Team Sales division.  
We believe we are the only retailer in the United States with the size and scope 
of both retail and Team Sales divisions operating together on one SAP platform.  
This gives us the ability to integrate our retail and Team Sales businesses in a 
more effective manner, creating synergies in merchandising, planning, marketing 
and accounting.  The installation was completed in March 2012, and we are 
already benefitting from this important initiative.  
 



2) In our quest to offer first-to-market performance, technology, and lifestyle 
merchandise, we continue to add and expand exciting new brands only found at 
specialty shops or independent retailers. These new brands include Masi Bikes, 
Tahoe SUP, Kr3w Sportswear, Life Fitness exercise equipment, Lib-Tech 
snowboards, and Zamberlan boots. To make sure we can effectively analyze our 
customer’s strides, we have now installed fifteen running concept shops, all of 
which offer computerized gait analysis, leading towards creating the perfect fit for 
our triathlon, running and walking customers.  The sales results are promising, 
and we are working on our next round of implementation.  

 
3) Our online business remains our single fastest growing segment, and therefore 

we made the investment to mobilize our website m.sportchalet.com, and take 
advantage of the explosive growth of smartphones and tablets.   Immediately 
following our launch, our mobile orders increased 315% over the prior year.   

 
4) Given our prior years’ investment in technology and software, we are one of a 

very small group of retailers able to offer omni channel fulfillment based on real 
time inventory lookup—a system we installed in 2007 and which we continue to 
leverage with both our online and retail store customers.   

 
5) Because of the superior quality of our merchandise and services, combined with 

our "Expert" ability to direct each athlete we serve to the gear and apparel they 
require, we instituted a formal “guaranteed satisfaction” policy in late 2011.    
 

6) We are implementing a mobile strategy based on the latest technology.  Many of 
the nation's best retailers have implemented some form of this technology, but 
given the complexity of our business—including our many specialty services and 
our broad and deep assortment of technical gear, apparel and footwear—an off-
the-shelf solution is not in the cards for us.  We intend to lead in this technology 
in very short order, using the best available software and hardware designed for 
future advances in how our customers will shop in 2017.  

 
7) As part of this mobile initiative, we are using our recently announced new store at 

FIGat7TH in downtown Los Angeles as a platform to launch our next generation 
store prototype and realize the full integration of technology, merchandise, and 
service presented in an exciting and compelling format, all designed to enhance 
our customer's shopping experience. This new store will set the stage for 
continued store growth for our company, as we plot the next geographic targets.  

 
8) In the interim, we completed two minor store remodels last year, both resulting in 

sales above plan, and we have two more scheduled this fiscal year.  The 
information we capture about our customers via our Action Pass customer 
relationship management program, combined with the business intelligence 
concerning individual item behavior we gain as a result of installing SAP, allows 
us to completely rethink assortments, category adjacencies, and marketing inside 
each of these remodeled stores.  After this year, our remodels will adhere to our 
next generation prototype.  

 



9) New logistics initiative. As part of our return to profitability, our merchandising 
and planning teams have taken the lead in developing new standards with 
respect to merchandise shipping and handling for all our vendors. We believe 
these new standards will take significant costs out of the system, and more 
importantly speed the delivery of product from our vendors into our distribution 
center and then into our stores so we can continue to execute our first-to-market 
strategy.  

 
10) Aggressive cost controls continue.  We closed one underperforming store, and 

we will continue to manage our business by reducing costs and shedding 
unnecessary burdens where appropriate in order to invest our capital where we 
can generate superior long-term benefit for our customers, our company, and our 
stockholders.  

 
As the rain worsened at the Los Angeles Marathon site our staff, cold and wet, reacted 
quickly in creating paths and bridges from wooden pallets that allowed our customers to 
shop while staying out of the deep water.  At the same time the LA Fire Department began 
running pumps to drain the site, and the construction team that built the pavilion was called 
in to repair the roof leaks. In short, our team saved the day, our customers got their gear, 
and the marathon was a success the next day.  
 
Our company has developed amazing resiliency, having weathered the housing crisis, the 
financial meltdown, the credit crisis, the foreclosure and unemployment crisis, and one of 
the worst winters on record.  No other retailer in America has been “stress-tested” more 
than Sport Chalet.  We consider ourselves students of retail, and one of the best attributes 
of working for Sport Chalet is our constant desire to listen, learn, and change from the 
challenges encountered.  We have the best team of Experts for understanding our 
customers, and helping them become better athletes by creating an exciting and compelling 
shopping experience online, in our stores and through Team Sales. Our heritage demands 
it.  
 
I am very proud of our Experts and appreciate the support from our customers, vendors and 
business partners.  This is why we believe our future is bright and will see us focused on 
returning to profitability.  We are extremely grateful for your loyalty and support. We will take 
it to the limit!  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Craig Levra 
Chairman and CEO 
 
 
 



 

   
   
 

 

July 6, 2012 

Dear Stockholder: 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I cordially invite you to attend the annual meeting of the 
stockholders of Sport Chalet, Inc. to be held at the Company's executive offices located at One Sport Chalet 
Drive, La Canãda, California 91011, on Thursday, August 16, 2012, at 9:00 a.m. (local time). 

The matters to be considered at the meeting are described in the attached Notice of Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders and Proxy Statement. 

The directors and officers of the Company will be present at the meeting, and will be available to 
respond to any questions and discuss the Company's operating results and future.  I encourage you to attend in 
order to meet your directors and officers and to participate in the business of the meeting.  However, if it is not 
possible for you to attend, please sign, date and promptly return the enclosed proxy card, or vote by telephone 
or the Internet, to ensure that your shares will be voted. 

Finally, you will find enclosed a 20% off coupon for your use at any of our 54 stores.  As in the past, I 
encourage you to try our stores and to write me regarding your shopping experiences, what you liked about our 
stores and any suggestions you may have for improvement. 

Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
Craig Levra, 
Chairman of the Board
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SPORT CHALET, INC. 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS 

To Be Held August 16, 2012 

Notice hereby is given that the annual meeting (the "Meeting") of the stockholders of Sport Chalet, 
Inc. (the "Company") will be held at the Company's executive offices located at One Sport Chalet Drive, La 
Canãda, California 91011, on Thursday, August 16, 2012, at 9:00 a.m. (local time) for the following purposes: 

1. Election of Directors.  To elect seven persons to the Board of Directors, each to hold office 
until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor shall have been 
duly elected and qualified, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, disqualification or 
removal.  One of the directors (the "Class A Director") will be elected by the holders of the 
Class A Common Stock voting as a separate class, and the other directors will be elected by 
the holders of the Class A Common Stock and the holders of the Class B Common Stock 
voting together as a single class.  The Board of Directors has nominated John R. Attwood, 
Rachel C. Glaser, Craig L. Levra, Donald J. Howard, Eric S. Olberz, Randall G. Scoville and 
Kevin J. Ventrudo for election as directors at the Meeting, and has nominated Mr. Attwood 
for election as the Class A Director. 

2. Ratification of Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.  To 
ratify the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as the Company's independent registered public 
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013. 

3. Other Business.  To transact such other business as properly may come before the Meeting or 
any adjournment or postponement thereof. 

Only holders of record of the Class A Common Stock or the Class B Common Stock of the Company 
at the close of business on June 22, 2012 (the "Stockholders") are entitled to notice of and to vote, in person or 
by proxy, at the Meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof.  For a period of at least ten days 
prior to the Meeting, a complete list of Stockholders will be open for examination by any stockholder during 
ordinary business hours at the Company's executive offices located at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, 
California 91011. 

The proxy statement that accompanies this Notice contains additional information regarding the 
proposals to be considered at the Meeting, and Stockholders are encouraged to read it in its entirety.   

We have elected to provide access to our proxy materials both by sending you the accompanying 
proxy statement, proxy card(s) and fiscal 2012 annual report to stockholders, and by notifying you of the 
availability of our proxy statement, proxy card(s) and our fiscal 2012 annual report to stockholders at our 
website at sportchalet.com.   

As set forth in the accompanying proxy statement, proxies are being solicited by and on behalf of the 
Board of Directors of the Company.  All proposals set forth above are proposals of the Board of Directors.  It 
is expected that these materials first will be mailed to Stockholders on or about July 6, 2012. 

By Order of the Board of Directors, 
 
SPORT CHALET, INC.  
 
 
 
Howard K. Kaminsky, 
Secretary 

La Cañada, California 
July 6, 2012 
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IF YOU ARE A HOLDER OF RECORD ON THE RECORD DATE OF CLASS A COMMON 
STOCK OR CLASS B COMMON STOCK YOU WILL RECEIVE A PROXY STATEMENT AND AN 
ACCOMPANYING PROXY CARD WITH RESPECT TO EACH CLASS OF COMMON STOCK.  TO 
ENSURE YOUR REPRESENTATION AT THE MEETING WITH RESPECT TO EACH CLASS OF 
COMMON STOCK, PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND RETURN EACH ACCOMPANYING 
PROXY CARD IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE(S) AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE, EVEN IF YOU 
HAVE PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED A PROXY FOR THE OTHER CLASS OF COMMON STOCK 
THAT YOU OWN.  YOU MAY ALSO VOTE BY TELEPHONE OR BY THE INTERNET.  IF YOU 
DO ATTEND THE MEETING, YOU MAY REVOKE YOUR PROXY AND VOTE YOUR SHARES 
IN PERSON.  A PROXY MAY BE REVOKED AT ANY TIME BEFORE EXERCISE. 
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SPORT CHALET, INC. 
One Sport Chalet Drive 

La Cañada, California  91011 
(818) 949-5300 

________________ 
 

PROXY STATEMENT 
 

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS 
To Be Held August 16, 2012 

________________ 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

This proxy statement (the "Proxy Statement") is furnished in connection with the solicitation of 
proxies by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Sport Chalet, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 
"Company"), for use at the annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company (the "Meeting") to be held at 
the Company's executive offices located at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Canãda, California 91011, on 
Thursday, August 16, 2012, at 9:00 a.m. (local time) and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the 
purposes set forth herein and in the attached Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  Only holders of 
record of the Class A Common Stock or the Class B Common Stock of the Company (the "Stockholders") at 
the close of business on June 22, 2012 (the "Record Date") are entitled to notice of and to vote, in person or by 
proxy, at the Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.  The Notice of Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, this Proxy Statement, the accompanying proxy card(s) (the "Proxy") and our fiscal 2012 annual 
report to stockholders first will be mailed to Stockholders on or about July 6, 2012. 

Matters to be Considered 

The matters to be considered and voted upon at the Meeting will be: 

1. Election of Directors.  To elect seven persons to the Board, each to hold office until the next 
annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and 
qualified, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal.  One of 
the directors (the "Class A Director") will be elected by the holders of the Class A Common 
Stock voting as a separate class, and the other directors will be elected by the holders of the 
Class A Common Stock and the holders of the Class B Common Stock voting together as a 
single class.  The Board has nominated John R. Attwood, Rachel C. Glaser, Craig L. Levra, 
Donald J. Howard, Eric S. Olberz, Randall G. Scoville and Kevin J. Ventrudo for election as 
directors at the Meeting, and has nominated Mr. Attwood for election as the Class A Director. 

2. Ratification of Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.  To 
ratify the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as the Company's independent registered public 
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013. 

3. Other Business.  To transact such other business as properly may come before the Meeting or 
any adjournment or postponement thereof. 

Voting Recommendations of the Board 

Our Board recommends that you vote your shares "FOR" each of the nominees to the Board named 
herein and "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of Moss Adams LLP. 
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Important Changes to Voting Shares Held in "Street Name" 

There have been important changes in how your shares held in "street name" may be voted in the 
election of directors or on executive compensation.  Previously, if you were the beneficial owner of shares held 
in street name by a brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer, or other similar organization, and you failed to instruct 
the organization as to how to vote such shares, the organization could, in its discretion, vote such shares in the 
election of directors or on executive compensation.  Brokerage firms who are members of the New York Stock 
Exchange are no longer allowed to vote your shares held in street name in the election of directors or on 
executive compensation, if you fail to instruct the organization how to vote such shares.  Therefore, it is very 
important that you provide instructions on how to vote any shares beneficially owned by you in street name. 

Internet Access to Proxy Materials 

Under rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), we have elected to 
provide access to our proxy materials both by sending you this Proxy Statement, the Proxy and our fiscal 2012 
annual report to stockholders, and by notifying you of the availability of our proxy materials on the Internet.  
This Proxy Statement, the form of Proxy and our fiscal 2012 annual report to stockholders are available at our 
website at sportchalet.com.   

How to Vote 

Stockholder of Record 

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Computershare Trust 
Company, N.A., you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares, and the proxy 
materials were sent directly to you. 

If you are a stockholder of record, you may attend the Meeting and vote either by proxy or in person.  
If you wish to attend the Meeting and vote in person, a ballot will be provided to you at the Meeting.  

If you do not wish to attend the Meeting and vote in person, you may vote by proxy.  There are three 
ways to vote by proxy.  You may vote by means of the mail, telephone or the Internet.  If you vote by 
telephone or the Internet, you do not need to return the accompanying Proxy.  Telephone and Internet voting 
facilities will be available 24 hours a day, and will close at 11:59 p.m., Eastern time, on August 15, 2012. 

If a proxy is properly submitted and is not revoked, the proxy will be voted at the Meeting in 
accordance with the stockholder's instructions indicated on the proxy.  If no instructions are indicated on the 
proxy, the proxy will be voted "FOR" the election of the Board's nominees, "FOR" ratification of the 
appointment of Moss Adams LLP, and in accordance with the recommendations of the Board as to any other 
matter that may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. 

Voting by Mail.  If you choose to vote by mail, simply mark the accompanying Proxy and date, sign 
and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided.  The Proxy must be signed and dated by you or your 
authorized representative or agent.  Craig L. Levra and Howard K. Kaminsky, the designated proxyholders (the 
"Proxyholders"), are members of the Company's management.  Please allow sufficient time for delivery if you 
decide to vote by mail. 

Voting by Telephone.  You can vote by calling the toll-free telephone number on the Proxy.  Voice 
prompts will instruct you how to vote your shares and confirm that your vote has been properly recorded.   

Voting on the Internet.  You can vote on the Internet by referring to the website on the Proxy. As 
with telephone voting, you can confirm that your vote has been properly recorded. 
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Beneficial Owner of Shares Held in Street Name   

If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer, or other similar 
organization, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name," and the proxy materials were 
forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your shares is considered the stockholder of 
record for purposes of voting at the Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct that 
organization on how to vote the shares held in your account by following the instructions provided by that 
organization. If you wish to attend the Meeting and vote in person, you must obtain a proxy executed in your 
favor from the organization that holds your shares. 

Even if you plan to attend the Meeting, we recommend that you also submit your proxy or voting 
instructions so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend the Meeting. 

How to Revoke a Proxy 

You may revoke a proxy at any time before it is voted at the Meeting by submitting a written 
revocation, or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date, to the Company's Secretary at the Meeting or at the 
Company's principal executive offices located at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, California 91011 prior to 
the vote at the Meeting.  Only your last proxy will be counted.  A Stockholder also may revoke a proxy by 
attending the Meeting and voting in person.  Attending the Meeting in person will not automatically revoke a 
previously granted proxy unless you vote again at the Meeting or submit a written revocation, or a duly 
executed proxy bearing a later date, to the Company's Secretary at or before the Meeting.  

If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in "street name," you may change your vote by submitting 
new voting instructions to the brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer or other organization holding your shares by 
following the instructions they provide or, if you obtained a proxy in your favor from that organization, by 
attending the Meeting and voting in person.  

Voting Rights 

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 46,000,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock, $0.01 par value ("Class A Common Stock"), of which 12,414,490 shares were issued and outstanding at 
the close of business on the Record Date, (ii) 2,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value 
("Class B Common Stock"), of which 1,775,821 shares were issued and outstanding at the close of business on 
the Record Date,  and (iii) 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value, none of which were issued and 
outstanding on the Record Date.  The Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock are referred to 
herein collectively as the "Common Stock." 

Each Stockholder is entitled to 1/20th of one vote, in person or by proxy, for each share of Class A 
Common Stock, and one vote, in person or by proxy, for each share of Class B Common Stock, standing in his 
or her name on the books of the Company at the close of business on the Record Date on each matter on which 
shares of such class of Common Stock are entitled to vote at the Meeting.  The Certificate of Incorporation 
does not authorize cumulative voting in the election of directors. 

One-third of the shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the Meeting, 
present either in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum for the conduct of business at the Meeting.  Votes 
withheld, abstentions and "broker non-votes" (as defined below) will be counted for purposes of determining 
the presence of a quorum. 

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that the holders of the Class A Common Stock shall vote as 
a separate class for the election of one director (the "Class A Director"), and the holders of the Class A 
Common Stock and the holders of the Class B Common Stock shall vote together as a single class for the 
election of all other directors, each to hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or 
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her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, 
disqualification or removal.  The Board has nominated John R. Attwood, Rachel C. Glaser, Craig L. Levra, 
Donald J. Howard, Eric S. Olberz, Randall G. Scoville and Kevin J. Ventrudo for election as directors at the 
Meeting, and has nominated Mr. Attwood for election as the Class A Director. 

In the election of directors, the candidates receiving the highest number of votes, up to the number of 
directors to be elected, will be elected.  Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect with respect to 
the election of directors. 

Each proposal described in this Proxy Statement, other than the election of directors, requires the 
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock present, in person or 
by proxy, and entitled to vote on the proposal at the Meeting.  With respect to all proposals submitted to the 
Stockholders, other than the election of directors, abstentions will be included in the number of shares present 
and entitled to vote with respect to the proposal and, accordingly, will have the effect of a vote "AGAINST" 
the proposal. However, broker non-votes with respect to any such proposal submitted to the Stockholders will 
not be counted as shares present and entitled to vote with respect to that proposal and, accordingly, will not 
have any effect with respect to the approval of that proposal (other than to reduce the number of affirmative 
votes required to approve the proposal). 

Of the shares of Common Stock outstanding on the Record Date, 7,676,439 shares of Class A 
Common Stock (or approximately 62% of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock) and 
105,565 shares of Class B Common Stock (or approximately 6% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
Class B Common Stock), representing approximately 20% of the total voting power of the Class A Common 
Stock and the Class B Common Stock, were owned indirectly by Irene Olberz and Eric S. Olberz, as co-
trustees of the Olberz Family Trusts (the "Olberz Trusts").  In addition, on the Record Date, Craig L. Levra, 
the Company’s Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Howard K. Kaminsky, the 
Company’s Executive Vice President – Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, owned 1084 and 
72,675 shares, respectively, of Class A Common Stock (or less than 1% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
Class A Common Stock), and 791,635 and 285,371 shares, respectively, of Class B Common Stock (or 
approximately 61% of the issued and outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock), representing 
approximately 45% of the total voting power of the Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock.  
As a result, Ms. Oblerz and Messrs. Olberz, Levra and Kaminsky will have the power to determine the 
outcome of any matter submitted to the Stockholders. Ms. Olberz and Messrs. Olberz, Levra and Kaminsky 
have informed the Company that they intend to vote all shares owned by them "FOR" the election of the 
Board's nominees and "FOR" ratification of the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as the Company's 
independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013. 

If a Proxy is properly signed, dated and returned and is not revoked, the shares represented by the 
Proxy will be voted at the Meeting in accordance with the instructions given in the Proxy.  If no instructions 
are given in the Proxy, such shares of Common Stock will be voted "FOR" the election of the Board's 
nominees, "FOR" ratification of the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as the Company's independent 
registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013 and in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Board as to any other matter that may properly be brought before the Meeting or any 
adjournment or postponement thereof. 

Organizations holding Common Stock in "street name" who are members of a stock exchange are 
required by the rules of the exchange to transmit the proxy materials to the beneficial owner of the Common 
Stock and to solicit voting instructions with respect to the matters submitted to the Stockholders.  If the 
organization has not received instructions from the beneficial owner by the date specified in the statement 
accompanying such proxy materials, the organization may give or authorize the giving of a proxy to vote the 
Common Stock in its discretion as to some matters, but not as to certain other proposals without specific 
instructions from the beneficial owner.  When an organization is unable to vote a client's shares on a proposal, 
the missing votes are referred to as "broker non-votes."  If you hold Common Stock in "street name" and you 
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fail to instruct the organization that holds your shares as to how to vote such shares, the organization may, in 
its discretion, vote such shares "FOR" ratification of the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as the Company's 
independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013, but not with respect 
to the election of directors. 

Procedures for Stockholder Nominations 

Under the Company's Bylaws, any stockholder entitled to vote in the election of directors generally 
may nominate one or more persons for election as directors at a meeting, but only if written notice of such 
stockholder's intent to make such nomination or nominations has been given, either by personal delivery or by 
United States mail, postage prepaid, to the Secretary of the Company not later than the close of business on the 
tenth day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders with respect to an 
election to be held at an annual or special meeting of stockholders.  Each such notice shall set forth:  (a) the 
name and address of the stockholder who intends to make the nomination and of the person or persons to be 
nominated; (b) representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Company entitled to 
vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or 
persons specified in the notice; (c) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder 
and each nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the 
nomination or nominations are to be made by the stockholder; (d) such other information regarding each 
nominee proposed by such stockholder as would be required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant 
to the proxy rules of the SEC; and (e) the consent of each nominee to serve as a director of the Company if so 
elected.  The presiding officer of the meeting may refuse to acknowledge the nomination of any person not 
made in compliance with the foregoing procedure.  Stockholder nominations submitted in accordance with the 
requirements of the Bylaws will be forwarded to the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.  See 
"Proposal 1.  Election of Directors – Nominating Procedures and Criteria and Board Diversity." 

Cost of Solicitation of Proxies 

This Proxy solicitation is made by the Board, and the Company will bear the costs of this solicitation, 
including the expense of preparing, assembling, printing and mailing this Proxy Statement and any other 
material used in this solicitation of Proxies.  The solicitation of Proxies will be made by mail and may be 
supplemented by telephone or other personal contact to be made without special compensation by officers and 
regular employees of the Company.  If it should appear desirable to do so to ensure adequate representation at 
the Meeting, officers and regular employees may communicate with Stockholders, banks, brokerage houses, 
custodians, nominees and others, by telephone, facsimile or e-mail, or in person, to request that Proxies be 
furnished.  No additional compensation will be paid for these services.  The Company will furnish copies of 
solicitation materials to banks, brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries to be 
forwarded to the beneficial owners of Common Stock held in their names.  The Company will reimburse 
banks, brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable expenses in 
forwarding proxy materials to the beneficial owners. 

Other Business 

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board knows of no business to be presented for 
consideration at the Meeting other than as stated in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  If, 
however, other matters are properly brought before the Meeting, including a motion to adjourn the Meeting to 
another time or place in order to solicit additional proxies in favor of the recommendations of the Board, the 
Proxyholders intend to vote the shares represented by the Proxies on such matters in accordance with the 
recommendation of the Board, and the authority to do so is included in the Proxy.  Such authorization includes 
the authority to appoint a substitute nominee or nominees to the Board's nominees identified herein where 
death, illness or other circumstances arise which prevent any such director nominee from serving in such 
position and to vote such Proxy for such substitute nominee. 
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Householding Information 

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of 
"householding."  This means that only one copy of the proxy materials may have been sent to multiple 
stockholders in a household.  We will promptly deliver a separate copy to a stockholder upon written or oral 
request to the Company's Secretary at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Canãda, California 91011 or (818) 949-
5300.  To receive separate copies of the notice in the future, or if a stockholder is receiving multiple copies and 
would like to receive only one copy for the household, the stockholder should contact his or her bank, broker 
or other nominee record holder, or may contact the Company's Secretary at the above address.  

Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Management 

The following table sets forth as of the Record Date certain information relating to the ownership of 
the Common Stock by (i) each person known by the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five 
percent of the outstanding shares of any class of the Common Stock (other than depositories), (ii) each of the 
Company's directors and nominees, (iii) each of the Named Executive Officers (as defined below) and (iv) all 
of the Company's executive officers and directors as a group.  

    Class A Common Stock            Class B Common Stock     % of Total 
Voting Power (4) Name and Address (1)  Shares (2) % of Class (3) Shares (2) % of Class (3) 

      
John R. Attwood (5) ........................  50,250 * 4,250 * * 
Rachel C. Glaser (6) ........................  11,500 * -- * * 
Donald J. Howard (7) ......................  41,000 * 3,000 * * 
Eric S. Olberz (8) .............................  19,194 * 500 * * 
Randall G. Scoville (6) ....................  14,000 * -- * * 
Kevin J. Ventrudo (9)  .....................  57,000 * -- * * 
Craig L. Levra (10) ..........................  330,084 2.6 791,635 44.6 33.5 
Howard K. Kaminsky (11) ..............  166,675 1.3 286,371 16.1 12.3 
Dennis D. Trausch (12) ....................  321,181 2.5 26,300 1.5 1.8 
Thomas H. Tennyson (13) ...............  117,000 * -- * * 
Tim A. Anderson (14) ......................  131,126 1.0 7,250 * * 
Irene Olberz (15) ..............................  7,676,439 61.8 105,565 5.9 20.4 
Wedbush, Inc. (16) ..........................  1,125,930 9.1 -- * 2.3 
Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. (17)  633,384 5.1 -- * 1.3 
Directors and executive officers as a 
group (11 persons) (18) ...................  1,259,010 9.4 1,119,306 62.3 48.0 

______________ 

* Less than 1%  

(1) The address of each executive officer and director is in care of the Company, One Sport Chalet Drive, 
La Cañada, California 91011.  The address of Wedbush, Inc. is 1000 Wilshire Boulevard, Los 
Angeles, California 90017.  The address of Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. is Palisades West, 
Building One, 6300 Bee Cave Road, Austin, Texas 78746. 

(2) Except as may be set forth below and subject to applicable community property laws, each such 
person has the sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of Common Stock owned.  

 
(Footnotes continued on next page)
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

(3) Based on 12,414,490 shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,775,821 shares of Class B Common 
Stock outstanding on the Record Date.  Under Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
certain shares may be deemed to be beneficially owned by more than one person (if, for example, a 
person shares the power to vote or the power to dispose of the shares).  In addition, shares are deemed 
to be beneficially owned by a person if the person has the right to acquire the shares (for example, 
upon exercise of an option) within 60 days of the date as of which the information is provided.  In 
computing the percentage ownership of any person, the amount of shares outstanding is deemed to 
include the amount of shares beneficially owned by such person (and only such person) by reason of 
these acquisition rights.  The amount of shares beneficially owned by such person by reason of these 
acquisition rights is not deemed outstanding for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership 
of any other person.  As a result, the percentage of outstanding shares of any person as shown in this 
table does not necessarily reflect the person's actual ownership or voting power with respect to the 
number of shares of Common Stock actually outstanding at the Record Date. 

(4) Based on 1/20th of one vote for each share of Class A Common Stock and one vote for each share of 
Class B Common Stock. 

(5) Includes 22,250 shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,750 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.   

(6) Includes 4,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which 
first become exercisable on or before August 21, 2012   

(7) Includes 31,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 3,000 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.   

(8) Includes 13,500 shares of Class A Common Stock and 500 shares of Class B Common Stock issuable 
upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 2012.  
Excludes 7,676,439 shares of Class A Common Stock and 105,565 shares of Class B Common Stock 
held by the Olberz Trusts, of which Irene Olberz and Eric S. Olberz are co-trustees.  

(9) Includes 12,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which 
first become exercisable on or before August 22, 2012.  Excludes 4,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable after that date. 

(10) Includes 329,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which 
first become exercisable on or before August 21, 2012.  Excludes 16,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable after that date.  
791,435 shares of Class B Common Stock are pledged as collateral for a loan used to pay Mr. Levra’s 
income taxes resulting from the 2005 recapitalization plan and for subsequent purchases of Class B 
Common Stock.  

(11) Includes 94,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,000 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.  Excludes 23,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options 
which first become exercisable after that date. 

(12) Includes 189,001 shares of Class A Common Stock and 7,250 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.  Excludes 23,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options 
which first become exercisable after that date. 

(Footnotes continued on next page) 
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

(13) Includes 117,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which 
first become exercisable on or before August 21, 2012.  Excludes 33,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable after that date. 

 (14) Includes 131,126 shares of Class A Common Stock and 7,250 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.  Excludes 23,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options 
which first become exercisable after that date. 

(15) Consists of shares held by the Olberz Trusts, of which Irene Olberz and Eric S. Olberz are co-trustees.  
7,676,439 shares of Class A Common Stock and 105,565 shares of Class B Common Stock are 
pledged as collateral for a loan used in conjunction with a real estate construction project.  

(16) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2012, by 
Wedbush, Inc., Edward W. Wedbush and Wedbush Securities, Inc. as joint filers.  Wedbush, Inc. 
owns all of the shares of Wedbush Securities, Inc.  Edward W. Wedbush is the chairman and owns a 
majority of the shares of Wedbush, Inc. and is the President of Wedbush Securities, Inc.  Wedbush, 
Inc. states that it has sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 656,712 shares of Class A 
Common Stock, shared voting power over 1,051,780 shares of Class A Common Stock and shared 
dispositive power over 1,125,930 shares of Class A Common Stock.  Mr. Wedbush states that he has 
sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 306,095 shares of Class A Common Stock, shared 
voting power over 1,051,780 shares of Class A Common Stock and shared dispositive power over 
1,125,930 shares of Class A Common Stock.  Wedbush Securities, Inc. states that it has sole voting 
power and sole dispositive power over 88,973 shares of Class A Common Stock, shared voting power 
over 1,051,780 shares of Class A Common Stock and shared dispositive power over 1,125,930 shares 
of Class A Common Stock.  Mr. Wedbush disclaims beneficial ownership of the Class A Common 
held by Wedbush, Inc. or Wedbush Securities, Inc. 

(17) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2012 by 
Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. as an investment manager, advisor or sub-advisor of certain 
investment companies, trusts and accounts.  Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. states that it has sole 
voting power over 629,647 shares of Class A Common Stock and sole dispositive power over 633,384 
shares of Class A Common Stock.  Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. disclaims beneficial ownership of 
the Class A Common Stock held by these investment companies, trusts and accounts. 

(18) Includes 946,877 shares of Class A Common Stock and 20,750 shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options which first become exercisable on or before August 21, 
2012.  Excludes 122,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options 
which first become exercisable after that date. 
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PROPOSAL 1 
 

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

Directors and Executive Officers 

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the number of directors of the Company shall be fixed from 
time to time by the Board, but shall not be less than three.  The number of directors currently is seven.  The 
Certificate of Incorporation provides that each director shall be elected at each annual meeting of stockholders 
to hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor shall have been duly 
elected and qualified, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal. 

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that each holder of Class A Common Stock shall be entitled 
to 1/20th of one vote, in person or by proxy, for each share of such class standing in his or her name in the 
election of directors, and each holder of Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote, in person or by 
proxy, for each share of such class standing in his or her name in the election of directors.  At the Meeting, the 
holders of Class A Common Stock shall vote as a separate class for the election of one director (the "Class A 
Director"), and the holders of the Class A Common Stock and the holders of the Class B Common Stock shall 
vote together as a single class for the election of all other directors. 

The Board has nominated John R. Attwood, Rachel C. Glaser, Craig L. Levra, Donald J. Howard, 
Eric S. Olberz, Randall G. Scoville and Kevin J. Ventrudo for election as directors at the Meeting, each to hold 
office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor shall have been duly elected 
and qualified, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal.  The Board has 
nominated Mr. Attwood for election as the Class A Director. 

Each nominee currently is a director and has indicated his or her willingness to serve.  Unless 
otherwise instructed, the Proxyholders will vote the Proxies received by them for the nominees of the Board.  
If any nominee is unable or unwilling to serve as a director at the time of the Meeting or any adjournment or 
postponement thereof, the Proxies will be voted for such other nominee(s) as shall be designated by the current 
Board to fill any vacancy.  The Company has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable or 
unwilling to serve if elected as a director. 

The Company's Bylaws set forth certain requirements for stockholders wishing to nominate director 
candidates directly for consideration by the stockholders.  See "General Information – Procedures for 
Stockholder Nominations" above.  Stockholders have not proposed any candidates for election at the Meeting. 

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE ELECTION OF THE 
BOARD'S NOMINEES. 

None of the directors, nominees for director or executive officers were selected pursuant to any 
arrangement or understanding, other than with the directors and executive officers of the Company acting 
within their capacity as such.  Except as set forth below, there are no family relationships among directors or 
executive officers of the Company and no directorships are now, or in the past five years have been, held by 
any director in a company which has a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of 
the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 
1940.  Officers serve at the discretion of the Board. 

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the nominees and executive officers 
of the Company as of the Record Date.  An asterisk (*) by the name of a nominee indicates that the Board has 
determined that the nominee is "independent" under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market ("Nasdaq"). 
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Name Age  Position 

John R. Attwood* 82  Director and a member of the Compensation Committee since 1993, 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee from 1993 until 2011, 
and a member of the Audit Committee from 1993 until 2001.  
Mr. Attwood was the President of Attwood Enterprises, a consulting 
business from 1988 until 2008.  He was the Chairman of Coca-Cola 
Bottling of Los Angeles and a Senior Vice President and a Group 
President of Beatrice Companies, Inc., the parent company of Coca-
Cola Bottling of Los Angeles, until his retirement in 1986.  He 
received a Bachelors Degree in Business Administration from 
California State University, Los Angeles.   

With his extensive tenure and senior executive positions with Coca-
Cola Bottling of Los Angeles and Beatrice Companies, Inc., 
Mr. Attwood brings to the Board extensive experience in marketing 
consumer products, operations and business organization and 
management. 

Rachel C. Glaser* 50  Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating Committee since 2010.  Ms. Glaser is 
currently the Chief Financial Officer for Move, Inc. (NASDAQ: 
MOVE), an online network of websites for real estate search, 
finance, and moving and home enthusiasts.  From 2008 to 2011, Ms. 
Glaser was Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer for 
MyLife.com, a subscription-based people search business.  From 
2005 to 2008, Ms. Glaser was the Senior Vice President of Finance 
at Yahoo! Inc. (NASDAQ: YHOO), a global internet services 
provider.  From 1986 to 2005, Ms. Glaser held positions of 
increasing responsibility at The Walt Disney Company (NYSE:  
DIS), a media and entertainment company, and was Vice President 
of Operations and Business Planning for the Consumer Products 
group at the time of her departure.  Ms. Glaser received a Bachelors 
Degree in Psychology from the University of California at Berkeley 
and a Masters Degree in Business Administration from the 
University of Southern California. 

With her 29 years of experience in a wide variety of leadership 
positions, during which she had significant experience in the 
consumer sector, together with her service as a senior operations or 
finance officer of multiple internet companies, Ms. Glaser provides 
the Board with extensive experience in online business, finance, and 
accounting. 
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Name Age  Position 

Craig L. Levra 53  Chairman of the Board since 2001, director since 1998, President 
since 1997, Chief Operating Officer from 1997 until 1999 and Chief 
Executive Officer since 1999.  Prior to joining the Company, 
Mr. Levra was employed by The Sports Authority, then the nation's 
largest sporting goods retailer.  During his five-year tenure with that 
company, he held positions of increasing responsibility in 
merchandising and operations and was Vice President of Store 
Operations at the time of his departure.  Mr. Levra received a 
Bachelors Degree and a Masters Degree in Business Administration 
from the University of Kansas.  Mr. Levra currently serves on the 
Boards of Directors of the National Retail Federation, Junior 
Achievement of Southern California, the Southern California 
Committee for the Olympic Games and the Los Angeles Sports and 
Entertainment Commission. 

With his executive experience with The Sports Authority and 
15 years as the principal operating officer of the Company, 
Mr. Levra brings to the Board extensive experience in sporting 
goods retailing in general and in the markets, customers, vendors 
and communities with which the Company does business.  His 
service with numerous community organizations also provides him 
insight into the needs, aspirations and trends of the Company's 
markets.  Mr. Levra's leadership of management's aggressive 
response to the severe and persistent macroeconomic downturn has 
provided him a unique understanding of the Company's business for 
use in aligning the Company's strategy to developing trends in 
macroeconomic conditions and the Company's industry. 

Donald J. Howard* 66  Director since 2004, a member of the Compensation Committee 
since 2004, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee 
since 2005 and the Audit Committee from 2007 until 2010, and the 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee since April 2011.  Mr. 
Howard currently is Executive Vice President of Fritz Duda 
Company, a diversified real estate investment and development 
company.  From 1998 until joining Fritz Duda Company in 2008, he 
was a Partner and Senior Vice President, Development of 
Marketplace Properties, a shopping center development company.  
He served as Senior Vice President, Development of Donahue 
Schriber, a Southern California mall development company, from 
1997 until joining Marketplace Properties in 1998, and as Senior 
Vice President, Real Estate/Construction of The Vons Companies, 
Inc., a leading grocery store chain, from 1994 to 1997.  Mr. Howard 
has been employed in the development, construction and 
management of retail properties in Southern California since 1974.  
He received a Bachelors Degree in Business Administration from 
the University of Southern California. 

With his 38 years of experience in the development, construction 
and management of retail properties in Southern California, 
Mr. Howard is an invaluable resource to management with respect 
to managing the Company's real estate assets. 
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Name Age  Position 

Eric S. Olberz 49  Director since 1992, a member of the Compensation Committee 
from 1992 until 2004, and a member of the Audit Committee from 
1992 until 2001.  Mr. Olberz is the Chief Financial Officer of 
several real estate corporations controlled by the Olberz Family 
Trusts. He was employed as a staff accountant with BDO/Nation 
Smith Hermes Diamond-Accountants & Consultants from 2000 to 
2002.  Mr. Olberz worked primarily with the firm's family office 
group, providing wealth management services for high net worth 
individuals.  From 1999 to 2000, he was employed as a staff auditor 
with Moreland & Associates.  Mr. Olberz was President and owner 
of Camp 7, Inc., a soft goods manufacturing operation located in 
Santa Ana, California, from 1995 to 1996 and Vice Chairman of the 
Company from 1994 to 1995, Vice President from 1984 to 1994 and 
Secretary from 1992 to 1995.  Mr. Olberz resigned as an officer and 
employee of the Company concurrently with Camp 7, Inc.'s 
acquisition of the Company's soft goods manufacturing operations in 
1995.  Mr. Olberz received a Bachelors Degree with an emphasis in 
accounting from National University and is a Certified Public 
Accountant.  Mr. Olberz is the son of Irene and Norbert Olberz, the 
co-founders of the Company. 

With 11 years as an accountant, 11 years as an executive of the 
Company and nine years operating Camp 7, Inc., Mr. Olberz 
provides the Board with accounting and operational expertise and an 
intimate knowledge of the Company's operations. 

Randall G. Scoville* 51  Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Compensation Committee since 2010.  Mr. Scoville was, from 1995 
to 1999 and from 2005 to current, the Chief Accounting Officer and 
Senior Vice President of International Operations for Unified 
Grocers, Inc., a $4 billion cooperative that provides distribution, 
manufacturing, financial and insurance services to supermarkets and 
other retailers in the western United States.  Prior to Unified 
Grocers, Inc., Mr. Scoville was Chief Financial Officer of Cardenas 
Markets, Inc., a supermarket chain, from 2003 to 2005, Coastal 
Pacific Acquisition Company, an asset holding company, from 2002 
to 2003, and Trader Joe's, a specialty retailer, from 1999 to 2002.  
Between 1992 and 1995, he was the Director of Planning and 
Analysis for Food 4 Less Supermarkets, Inc./Ralphs Grocery 
Company, a supermarket chain.  From 1983 to 1992, Mr. Scoville 
was employed by KPMG Peat Marwick and was a Senior Manager 
in the audit department at the time of his departure.  Mr. Scoville is 
a Certified Public Accountant and a board member of California 
Shopping Cart Retrieval Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
California Grocers Association.  Mr. Scoville received a Bachelors 
Degree in Business Economics from the University of California, 
Santa Barbara. 

With his 29 years of experience in a wide variety of leadership 
positions, during which he had significant experience in the 
consumer sector, together with his service as the Chief Financial 
Officer of retail companies, Mr. Scoville provides the Board with 
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Name Age  Position 

extensive experience in Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 compliance, 
accounting, finance and global retail operations. 

Kevin J. Ventrudo* 53  Director, Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee since 2009, and a 
member of the Compensation Committee from 2009 until 2010.  
From 2006 to 2007, Mr. Ventrudo currently is Chief Operating 
Officer of HighPoint Associates a consulting and business advisory 
firm. From 2006 until joining HighPoint in 2012, he was engaged in 
the provision of independent consulting and financial advisory 
services.  From 2004 through 2006, he served as Managing Partner 
of Investment Homes International, a real estate concern.  From 
2003 to 2004, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Woodstone 
Consulting Company, a consulting firm focused on improving 
individual and organizational effectiveness.  He previously served as 
a Managing Director of SG Cowen Securities Corporation from 
1998 to 2001, a Managing Director of Smith Barney from 1994 to 
1998, a Managing Director of Sutro & Co. Incorporated from 1991 
to 1994, the Chief Financial Officer of L.A. Gear, Inc., a footwear 
and apparel company, from 1990 to 1991, and a Vice President of 
Merrill Lynch Capital Markets from 1985 to 1990.  Mr. Ventrudo 
received a Bachelors Degree in economics from Yale University and 
a Masters Degree in Business Administration from Stanford 
Graduate School of Business. 

Mr. Ventrudo's 16 years in the investment banking industry, during 
which he had significant experience with clients in the retail, apparel 
and consumer sectors, together with his service as the Chief 
Financial Officer of a leading footwear manufacturer and 
his entrepreneurial experience, including time heading a consulting 
firm focusing on organizational effectiveness, provides the Board 
with extensive experience in finance and accounting, strategy and 
organizational effectiveness. 

Howard K. Kaminsky 54  Chief Financial Officer since joining the Company in 1985, 
Executive Vice President – Finance since 2000 and Secretary since 
1995.  Mr. Kaminsky served as Vice President – Finance from 
January to April 1997, Senior Vice President – Finance from 1997 
to 2000 and Treasurer from 1992 to 1997.  Prior to joining the 
Company, Mr. Kaminsky was employed in the auditing division of 
Ernst & Young LLP where he became a Certified Public 
Accountant.  He received a Bachelors Degree in Business 
Administration from California State University, Northridge.  Mr. 
Kaminsky is a member of Financial Executives International. 

Dennis D. Trausch 63  Executive Vice President – Growth and Development since 2002 
and Executive Vice President – Operations from 1988 until 2002.  
Since joining the Company in 1976, Mr. Trausch has served in 
various positions starting as a salesperson and assuming positions of 
increasing responsibility in store and Company operations.  
Mr. Trausch is currently responsible for real estate, lease 
negotiations, facilities, construction, logistics and the distribution 
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Name Age  Position 

center.  He majored in Mathematics at Glendale College.  
Mr. Trausch has been a member of the International Council of 
Shopping Centers since 1990. 

Thomas H. Tennyson 52  Executive Vice President and Chief Merchandising Officer since 
joining the Company in 2008.  Mr. Tennyson has more than 27 
years of experience with department and specialty retail stores.  He 
served as Senior Vice President and General Merchandise Manager 
of Mervyns Department Stores from 2005 until joining the 
Company, and from 2004 to 2005 as Vice President, Divisional 
Merchandise Manager of Galyan's Trading Company which was 
acquired by Dick's Sporting Goods in 2004.  From 1999 to 2004, 
Mr. Tennyson held positions of increasing responsibility with Kohl's 
Department Stores and was Vice President, Divisional Merchandise 
Manager at the time of his departure.  From 1984 to 1999, he held 
various management positions with the Department Store Division 
of Dayton-Hudson Corporation.  Mr. Tennyson received a Bachelors 
Degree in Retail Merchandising from the University of Wisconsin-
Stout. 

Tim A. Anderson 52  Executive Vice President – Retail Operations, Loss Prevention and 
Specialty Services since January 2011, Executive Vice President – 
Retail Operations from June 2010 to January 2011, Senior Vice 
President – Retail Operations from 2007 to 2010, Vice President – 
Retail Operations from 2003 to 2007 and Director of Store 
Operations from 2002 to 2003.  Mr. Anderson is responsible for 
store operations, store employees and specialty services.  He was 
employed by Vans Incorporated, a national apparel and footwear 
retailer, as Director of Retail Operations from 1998 until joining the 
Company.  Prior to Vans Incorporated, Mr. Anderson held various 
positions with national retailers such as Gap, Inc. and Limited 
Brands.  He majored in Communications at Iowa Central. 

Committees of the Board 

The Board has a standing Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee.  Each committee consists of two or more directors who serve at the discretion of the 
Board.  Each member of each committee is "independent" as defined under the applicable rules of Nasdaq, and 
each member of the Audit Committee is "independent" as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC and 
possesses the qualifications required by Nasdaq. 

Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Scoville, who serves as the 
chairman of the committee, and Ms. Glaser and Mr. Ventrudo.  The purpose of the Audit Committee is to 
assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding (i) the Company's accounting and system of 
internal controls, (ii) the quality and integrity of the Company's financial reports, (iii) the Company's 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and (iv) the independence and performance of the 
Company's independent registered public accounting firm.  The Board has determined that Mr. Scoville 
qualifies as an "audit committee financial expert" as defined under the rules of the SEC. 

Compensation Committee.  The Compensation Committee currently consists of Mr. Howard, who 
serves as the chairman of the committee, and Messrs. Attwood and Scoville.  The purpose of Compensation 
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Committee is to help to ensure that (i) the executive officers of the Company are compensated in a manner 
consistent with the compensation strategy of the Company determined by the Board, (ii) the treatment of all 
executive officers is in an equitable and consistent manner, (iii) the Company maintains the ability to recruit 
and retain qualified executive officers, and (iv) the requirements of the appropriate regulatory bodies are met.  
The committee also administers the Company's 1992 Incentive Award Plan (the "1992 Plan"), Employee 
Incentive Plan, Bonus Plan, Employment Retirement Savings Plan (the "401(k) Plan"), and 2004 Equity 
Incentive Plan (the "2004 Plan").   

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.  The Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee currently consists of Mr. Ventrudo, who serves as the chairman of the committee, and Ms. Glaser 
and Mr. Howard.  The principal purposes of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are to help 
ensure that (i) the Board is appropriately constituted to meet its fiduciary obligations to the stockholders and 
the Company, and (ii) the Company has followed and continues to follow appropriate governance standards.  
To carry out its purposes, the committee (i) identifies individuals qualified to become members of the Board, 
consistent with criteria approved by the Board, (ii) recommends the director nominees to be selected by the 
Board for the next annual meeting of stockholders, (iii) develops and recommends to the Board corporate 
governance principles applicable to the Company, and (iv) oversees the evaluation of the Board and 
management.  For further information concerning the criteria and procedures for selecting director nominees, 
see "Nominating Procedures and Criteria and Board Diversity" below. 

Charters of the Committees.  Each standing committee of the Board has recommended, and the Board 
has adopted, and may amend from time to time, a written charter, a copy of which is available on the 
Company's website at sportchalet.com under "About Us – Investor Relations – Corporate Governance." 

Meetings of the Board and Committees 

The Board held six meetings during the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012.  The Audit Committee held 
four meetings, the Compensation Committee held six meetings, and the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee held five meetings, during the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012.  Each person who was a 
director of the Company or a member of a committee of the Board was present for at least 75% of the meetings 
of the Board and all such committees held during the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012. 

It is the policy of the Company to require members of the Board to attend the annual meeting of 
stockholders, if practicable.  Each director attended the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders. 

Board Leadership Structure 

The Chairman of the Board conducts each Board meeting and sets the agenda of each Board meeting 
after consulting with members of the Board and management.  The Chairman of the Board also has the 
responsibility of establishing effective communication with the Company's stakeholders, including 
stockholders, employees, customers, communities, suppliers and creditors. 

Although the Board has no policy regarding the separation of the position of the Chairman of the 
Board and the position of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, each position has been held by the 
same person for substantially the entire history of the Company.  The Board currently believes that having a 
single person hold the position of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
is the best solution to govern the Company efficiently because it (1) provides each director with immediate and 
regular access to the principal operating officer of the Company, (2) provides the Chief Executive Officer with 
direct and unfiltered communication with each director, (3) eliminates the costs associated with maintaining an 
independent office of the Chairman of the Board, and (4) encourages the chair of each Board committee and 
each individual director to take a more hands-on approach to the affairs of the Board than he or she might if 
there were an independent office of the Chairman directing Board affairs. 
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Risk Oversight 

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's risk management process by (i) overseeing the 
Company's efforts to align its management of risks with its strategic objectives, (ii) overseeing the 
establishment and implementation of a risk oversight framework, and (iii) reviewing the effectiveness of the 
risk oversight framework in the identification, assessment, monitoring, management and disclosure of 
significant risks.  The Company's risk management process is intended to provide reasonable assurance that 
procedures are in place to identify, assess, monitor, manage and disclose risks that may have a material adverse 
effect on the achievement of the Company's strategic objectives. 

Nominating Procedures and Criteria and Board Diversity 

Among its functions, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee considers and approves 
nominees for election to the Board.  In addition to the candidates proposed by the Board or identified by the 
committee, the committee considers candidates for director suggested by stockholders, provided such 
recommendations are made in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Bylaws and described under 
"General Information – Procedures for Stockholder Nominations" above.  Stockholder recommendations that 
comply with these procedures will constitute valid nominations and will receive the same consideration that 
the committee's nominees receive.  Stockholders have not proposed any candidates for election at the Meeting. 

Essential criteria for all candidates considered by the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee include the following:   

• integrity and ethical behavior; 

• maturity;  

• management experience and expertise;  

• independence and diversity of thought;  

• broad business or professional experience that complements that of other directors; 

• an understanding of business and financial affairs and the complexities of business 
organizations; 

• the ability to actively participate in Board and committee activities; and 

• the ability to work professionally and effectively with other directors and 
management. 

In evaluating candidates for certain Board positions, the committee evaluates additional criteria, 
including the following:   

• financial or accounting expertise;  

• experience in the Company's industry;  

• business and other experience relevant to public companies of a size comparable to 
the Company; and  

• experience in investment banking, commercial lending or other financing activities. 
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In selecting director nominees, the committee evaluates the general and specialized criteria set forth 
above, identifying the relevant specialized criteria prior to commencement of the recruitment process, 
considers previous performance if the candidate is a candidate for re-election, and generally considers the 
candidate's ability to contribute to the success of the Company. 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee believes that the Board should include 
individuals with a broad range of relevant professional expertise, experience and education and reflect the 
diversity and cultural and geographical perspectives of the Company's employees, customers and suppliers. 

The Board's nominees for the Meeting have been recommended by the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee, and have been selected by the full Board. 

Communications with Directors 

Stockholders may communicate with the chair of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, 
or the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, or with the independent directors individually or as 
a group, by writing to any such person or group c/o the Secretary of the Company, at the Company's office at 
One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, California  91011. 

Communications are distributed to the Board, or to any individual director, depending on the facts and 
circumstances set forth in the communication.  In that regard, the Board has requested that certain items that 
are unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board should be excluded, including the following:  junk 
mail and mass mailings; product complaints; product inquiries; new product suggestions; resumes and other 
forms of job inquiries; surveys; and business solicitations or advertisements.  In addition, material that is 
unduly hostile, threatening, illegal or similarly unsuitable will not be distributed, with the provision that any 
such communication that is not distributed will be made available to any independent director upon request. 

Communications that include information better addressed by the complaint hotline supervised by the 
Audit Committee will be delivered to the hotline. 

Compensation of Directors 

The following table sets forth the compensation paid to our non-employee directors for their service in 
fiscal 2012. 

            Name                 

Fees 
Earned or 

Paid 
 in  

Cash ($)     
Stock  

Awards ($) 

Option 
Awards  

($)(1)   

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Compensation ($)

Changes in Pension 
Value and 

Nonqualified 
Deferred 

Compensation 
Earnings ($) 

All Other 
Compensation ($)

 
Total ($)

                (a) 
 

(b) 
 

(c) 
 

(d) 
 

(e) 
 

(f) 
 

(g) 
 

(h) 
 

John R. Attwood 32,400 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 34.595 
Rachel C. Glaser 36,000 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 39,195 
Donald J. Howard 42,300 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 45,495 
Eric S. Olberz 27,900 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 31,095 
Randall G. Scoville 43,200 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 46,395 
Kevin J. Ventrudo  40,500 -- 3,195 -- -- -- 43,695 
_______________ 

(1) These amounts reflect the value determined by the Company for accounting purposes for these awards and do not 
reflect whether each director has actually realized benefit from the awards.  The value of the equity awards in columns  

(Footnotes continued on next page) 
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

d and h is based on the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, without 
regard to the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.  Amounts reported for stock options are 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  This model was developed to estimate the fair value of 
traded options, which have different characteristics than employee stock options, and changes to the subjective 
assumptions used in the model can result in materially different fair value estimates.  See Note 2 to the Company's 
audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012, included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 
10-K filed with the SEC on June 8, 2012, for a discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating grant date fair 
value. 

Directors who are employees of the Company are compensated as officers of the Company and 
receive no separate compensation for serving as directors.  Non-employee directors receive an annual retainer 
of $22,500 plus $900 for each Board or committee meeting attended during the fiscal year.  The chair of the 
Audit Committee receives an additional $1,800 for each Audit Committee meeting attended, and the other 
committee chairs receive an additional $900 for each meeting of their respective committees attended.  
Directors also receive reimbursement of expenses incurred in attending meetings.  The Board may modify such 
compensation in the future.   

On the date of each annual meeting of stockholders each non-employee director currently is granted 
options under the 2004 Plan to purchase 2,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at the fair market value on the 
date of grant.  All options are fully vested upon grant and expire ten years from the date of grant.  See 
"Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan Based Awards Table – 2004 Equity Incentive 
Plan." 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

The Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs. Howard (Chairman), Attwood and 
Scoville. No member of the Compensation Committee has served as one of the Company’s officers or 
employees at any time.  None of the executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or 
compensation committee of any other company that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of 
our Board or Compensation Committee. 

Code of Conduct 

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable to all directors, officers and employees of 
the Company.  A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on the Company's website, sportchalet.com under 
"About Us – Investor Relations – Corporate Governance."  The Company intends to disclose future 
amendments to, or waivers from, certain provisions of the Code of Conduct applicable to our Chief Executive 
Officer and senior financial executives on our website within four business days following the date of such 
amendment or waiver. 

Audit Committee Report 

The Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors shall not be deemed incorporated by 
reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any filing under the 
Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company 
specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such 
Acts. 

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Board maintains an Audit Committee comprised of three of the Company's directors.  Each 
member of the Audit Committee meets the independence and experience requirements of the Nasdaq Stock 
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Market and the independence requirement of the SEC.  Mr. Scoville qualifies as an “audit committee financial 
expert” as defined under the rules of the SEC.  The Audit Committee assists the Board in monitoring the 
accounting, auditing and financial reporting practices of the Company. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Company's financial statements and financial 
reporting process, including its system of internal controls.  In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit 
Committee: 

• Reviewed and discussed with management the audited financial statements contained 
in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2012; and 

• Obtained from management their representation that the Company's financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States. 

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an audit 
of the Company's financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) and expressing an opinion on whether the Company's financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the Company's financial position and results of operations for the 
periods presented and conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  In fulfilling 
its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee: 

• Discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters 
required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended 
("Communication with Audit Committees");  

• Reviewed and discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the 
written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting 
firm required by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board as currently in 
effect; and  

• Reviewed and discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm 
whether the rendering of the non-audit services provided by them to the Company 
during fiscal 2012 was compatible with their independence. 

The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, which was adopted by the Board and is 
assessed annually for adequacy by the Audit Committee.  The charter is available on the Company's website at 
sportchalet.com under "About Us – Investor Relations – Corporate Governance." 

The Audit Committee held four meetings with the independent registered public accounting firm 
during fiscal 2012, in each case with and without management present.  In performing its functions, the Audit 
Committee acts only in an oversight capacity.  It is not the responsibility of the Audit Committee to determine 
that the Company's financial statements are complete and accurate, are prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States or present fairly the results of operations of the Company for 
the periods presented or that the Company maintains appropriate internal controls.  Nor is it the duty of the 
Audit Committee to determine that the audit of the Company's financial statements has been carried out in 
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) or that the 
Company's registered public accounting firm is independent. 

Based upon the reviews and discussions described above, and the report of the independent registered 
public accounting firm, the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board, and the Board has approved, that 
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the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended April 1, 2012, for filing with the SEC. 

The Audit Committee also has recommended, and the Board also has approved, the selection of Moss 
Adams LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2013. 

Dated:  May 31, 2012 THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
 
Randall G. Scoville, Chairman  
Rachel C. Glaser 
Kevin J. Ventrudo 

 

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Policy Regarding Related Person Transactions 

The Board has adopted a written policy which requires the Audit Committee to review and approve or 
ratify any transaction (a “related person transaction”) in which the Company was, or is to be, a participant and 
in which any director, executive officer, nominee for director or beneficial owner of more than 5% of the 
outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company, or any immediate family member of any such person, 
has a direct or indirect material interest. The policy requires the following: 

•  the Audit Committee shall review any proposed agreement or arrangement relating to a related
person transaction or series of related person transactions, and any proposed amendment to any
such agreement or arrangement; 

  
•  the Audit Committee shall establish standards for determining whether the transactions covered

by such proposed agreement or arrangement are on terms no less favorable to the Company than 
could be obtained from an unrelated third party (“fair to the Company”); 

  
•  before the Company enters into any such proposed agreement or arrangement, and at least

annually thereafter, the Company's accounting department shall report to the Audit Committee 
whether the transactions covered by such agreement or arrangement are fair to the Company
under the standards established by the Audit Committee; 

  
•  the Audit Committee shall not pre-approve, and shall make all reasonable efforts (taking into

account the cost thereof to the Company) to cancel or cause to be renegotiated, any such 
agreement or arrangement which is not so determined to be fair to the Company; and 

  
•  the Company will disclose any related person transactions required to be disclosed by the rules

promulgated by the SEC, in the manner so required. 
  

Property Leases 

The Company leases from corporations controlled by Irene Olberz and Eric S. Olberz, the wife and 
son of the Company's founder, our corporate office in La Cañada and our stores in La Cañada (through July 7, 
2011 when the shopping center was sold to an unrelated party), Huntington Beach and Porter Ranch, 
California.  We have incurred rental expense under such leases of $2.4 million, $3.1 million and $3.2 million 
in fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.   
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The following table sets forth base rent for the remaining lives on these related leases (excluding options for 
renewal). 

Related Party payment due by period (in thousands) 

 
Total 

Less than 
   1 year    

 
2 years 

 
3 years 

 
4 years 

$4,559 $1,521 $1,285 $1,184 $569 
 

Management believes that the occupancy costs under the leases with corporations controlled by Irene 
Olberz and Eric S. Olberz are no higher than those which would be charged by unrelated third parties under 
similar circumstances. 

Compliance with Reporting Requirements of Section 16  

Under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, the Company's directors, executive officers and any person 
holding ten percent or more of either class of the Common Stock are required to report their ownership of 
Common Stock and any changes in that ownership to the SEC and to furnish the Company with copies of such 
reports.  Specific due dates for these reports have been established, and the Company is required to report in 
this Proxy Statement any failure to file on a timely basis by such persons.  Based solely upon a review of 
copies of reports filed with the SEC, each person subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) has 
filed timely all reports required to be filed in fiscal 2012, except for Messrs. Attwood, Howard, Olberz, 
Scoville and Ventrudo and Ms. Glaser, each of whom filed one late Form 4 in connection with the annual grant 
of stock options to non-executive directors in August 2011. 

PROPOSAL 2 
 

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT  
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has ratified the selection of Moss 
Adams LLP to serve as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2013. 

Although this appointment is not required to be submitted to a vote of the Stockholders, the Audit 
Committee believes it is appropriate as a matter of policy to request that the Stockholders ratify the 
appointment.  If the Stockholders do not ratify the appointment, which requires the affirmative vote of a 
majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock present, in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote on the 
proposal at the Meeting, the Board will consider the selection of another independent registered public 
accounting firm. 

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE TO RATIFY THE APPOINTMENT OF 
MOSS ADAMS LLP AS THE COMPANY'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING MARCH 31, 2013. 

 
 

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

Introduction 
 
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis explains the Company's compensation objectives and 

philosophy, as well as how and why (1) compensation decisions were made in fiscal 2012 for each person who 
served as the Company's principal executive officer or principal financial officer during fiscal 2012 and the 
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Company's three other most highly compensated executive officers (collectively, the "Named Executive 
Officers") and (2) the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers were set for fiscal 2013.  This section also 
explains how the compensation of the Named Executive Officers is aligned with the interests of the Company's 
stockholders and is intended to place in perspective the executive compensation information contained in the 
tables that follow this discussion. 

 
During fiscal 2012, the Named Executive Officers were: 
 

• Craig L. Levra, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer; 
 

• Howard K. Kaminsky, Executive Vice President – Finance, Chief Financial Officer 
and Secretary; 
 

• Dennis D. Trausch, Executive Vice President – Growth and Development; 
 

• Thomas H. Tennyson, Executive Vice President and Chief Merchandising Officer; 
and 
 

• Tim A. Anderson, Executive Vice President – Retail Operations, Loss Prevention 
and Specialty Services. 

 
The Compensation Committee 

Committee Members  

The Compensation Committee (the "Committee") consists of three directors, Donald J. Howard 
(Chairman), John R. Attwood and Randall G. Scoville.  The Board has determined that each member of the 
Committee is "independent" as that term is defined under the rules of Nasdaq.  The Committee meets as often 
as necessary to perform its duties and responsibilities.  The Committee held seven meetings during fiscal 2012 
including two executive sessions without management.   

Role of the Committee 

The Committee operates under a written charter approved by the Board.  A copy of the charter is 
available at sportchalet.com under “About Us – Investor Relations – Corporate Governance.”  The 
Committee's purpose is to: 

• review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of 
the executive officers; 

• evaluate the performance of the executive officers in light of those goals and 
objectives; 

• determine and approve the compensation level of the executive officers based on this 
evaluation; and 

• make recommendations to the Board with respect to incentive compensation plans 
and equity-based plans. 
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Compensation Objectives and Philosophy 

The objective of the Company's compensation program is to promote the profitability and growth of 
the Company for the benefit of its stockholders, employees, customers, suppliers, creditors, communities and 
other stakeholders. 

The Company's general compensation philosophy is that compensation programs should be designed 
to attract, retain and motivate executives critical to the Company's long-term growth and profitability.  This 
compensation consists primarily of base salaries, cash bonuses, equity awards and benefits.  In support of this 
philosophy, the Committee believes that: 

• the total compensation of executives should be competitive (i.e., at approximately the 
50th percentile) with the total compensation paid to executives with comparable 
duties by other companies in the Company's industry that are of similar size and 
performance; 

• the base salaries of executives generally should not exceed the median base salaries 
paid to executives with comparable duties by other companies in the Company's 
industry that are of similar size and performance; 

• bonus programs and equity incentive plans should motivate the executives to achieve 
specific strategic and performance objectives established by the Board;  

• upon the achievement of such objectives, bonuses and equity incentive awards 
should be adequate to compensate for base salaries which generally are below the 
median base salaries of other companies in the Company's industry that are of similar 
size and performance; and 

• bonuses and long-term equity incentive awards should serve to align the executive's 
interests with those of the Company's stockholders. 

Compensation Committee Process 

Annual Evaluation 

The Committee meets in executive session at the beginning of each fiscal year to (i) evaluate the 
performance of the executive officers, including the Named Executive Officers during the prior fiscal year; 
(ii) determine their annual bonuses, if any, for the prior fiscal year; (iii) establish their performance goals and 
objectives for the current fiscal year; (iv) set their base salaries, benefits and target cash bonuses, if any, for the 
current fiscal year; and (v) consider and approve any grants to them of equity incentive award.  The Committee 
may meet from time to time during the year to assess the adequacy of executive compensation.  

For a discussion of the criteria used by the Committee to evaluate the performance of the Named 
Executive Officers in fiscal 2012, determine their bonuses for fiscal 2012, and approve any grants of equity 
incentive awards for fiscal 2012, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis – How and Why Executive 
Compensation Decisions Were Made." 

For a discussion of the criteria used by the Committee to set the base salaries, benefits and target cash 
bonuses, if any, of the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2013, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis – 
2013 Executive Compensation."  
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Management's Role in Determining Executive Compensation 

The Committee determines the compensation of all the executive officers, including the Named 
Executive Officers.  Craig L. Levra, the Chief Executive Officer, plays a role in the Committee's determination 
of executive compensation because he evaluates employee performance, recommends performance targets and 
objectives and recommends salary levels, bonuses, benefits, and equity incentive awards of the executive 
officers, other than himself. 

Compensation Consultant 

The Committee's charter enables the Committee to retain a consulting firm to assist in the evaluation 
of executive compensation, and provides the Committee with the sole authority to approve the consulting 
firm's fees and other retention terms.  In December 2011, the Committee retained Frederic W. Cook & Co., 
Inc. and in April 2008 the Committee retained Oaktree Associates, Inc. to provide the Committee with 
information concerning the range of compensation paid to executives with comparable duties by other 
companies that are of similar size and performance and in similar industries as the Company.  The Committee 
intends to update a compensation survey no more frequently than every third year because the Committee does 
not believe that executive compensation or comparable companies are likely to experience significant change 
any more frequently. 

Comparable Companies and Market Positioning 

The Committee periodically reviews data concerning the pay practices of retailers which emphasize 
sporting goods.  Although this information provides the Committee with a general frame of reference, the 
Committee does not target the compensation of any Named Executive Officer at any specific percentile or 
within a specific range of the compensation paid by such sporting goods retailers.   

2009 Survey.  In reviewing and approving executive compensation for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
the Committee considered the survey provided by Oaktree Associates, Inc. in 2008 (the "2009 Survey").  The 
2009 Survey included 14 retailers which emphasize sporting goods (the "Peer Group").  In order to obtain a 
large enough sample of companies, companies with significantly greater revenue, net income, net profit margin 
and number of employees than the Company were included.  This was considered appropriate given the 
Company’s market for potential employees.  The 2009 Survey compared the compensation paid to the 
principal executive, financial, buying, operations, merchandizing and information officers of the companies in 
the Peer Group to that paid by the Company to its six most highly paid executives for fiscal 2007.  In addition, 
the 2009 Survey compared the compensation paid to such officers by the Company for fiscal 2007 to that paid 
to the covered executives by the seven companies in the Peer Group nearest to the Company with respect to 
revenue, net income, net profit margin and number of employees (the "Comparable Companies").  For the 
companies in the Peer Group, revenue ranged from $118 million to $5.75 billion, net income from a loss of 
$13 million to a profit of $251 million, net profit margin from a negative 1.4% to a positive 10.6%, and 
number of employees from 1,660 to 45,400.  For the Comparable Companies, revenue ranged from $118 
million to $911 million, net income from a loss of $13 million to a profit of $38 million, net profit margin from 
a negative 1.4% to a positive 7.4%, and number of employees from 1,660 to 9,500.  All data concerning the 
companies in the Peer Group were based on their most recent SEC reports.  

The companies in the Peer Group were:  

Foot Locker Pacific Sunwear Big 5 Sporting Goods* Big Dog Holdings* 
Dick's Sporting Goods Columbia Sportswear Hibbett Sports* Zumiez* 
Cabela's Finish Line Citi Trends*  
Genesco Gander Mountain* Golfsmith International*  

__________________ 
* Indicates a Comparable Company. 



 

 -25-  
   
 

The 2009 Survey compares the cash compensation and the total compensation of the Company's 
executive officers to the comparable amounts paid by members of the Peer Group and the Comparable 
Companies.  "Cash compensation" is defined as the sum of base salary, cash bonus and all other cash 
compensation.  "Total compensation" is defined as the sum of cash compensation and the value of equity 
awards valued at the date of grant.  

The results of the 2009 Survey showed that for the Company's fiscal 2007:  

• cash compensation of the Company's CEO was 4% greater than the median cash 
compensation paid by the Comparable Companies, and 10% less than the median 
cash compensation paid by the Peer Group; 

• cash compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 25% to 48% less than the median cash compensation paid by the 
Comparable Companies;  

• cash compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 37% to 57% less than the median cash compensation paid by the 
Peer Group;  

• total compensation of the Company's CEO was 10% less than the median total 
compensation paid by the Comparable Companies, and 38% less than the median 
total compensation paid by the Peer Group; 

• total compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 31% to 53% less than the median total compensation paid by the 
Comparable Companies; and 

• total compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 55% to 69% less than the median total compensation paid by the 
Peer Group.  

2013 Survey.  In reviewing and approving executive compensation for fiscal 2013, the Committee 
considered the executive compensation review provided by Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. in December 2011 
(the "2013 Survey").  The 2013 Survey included 20 small-cap retailers (the "Peer Group").  In order to obtain a 
large enough sample of companies, companies with greater revenue and market capitalization than the 
Company were included; the Company ranked just below the 25th percentile.  This was considered appropriate 
given the Company’s market for potential employees.  The 2013 Survey compared the compensation paid by 
job function or if there was not a match, by pay rank of the officers of the companies in the Peer Group to that 
paid by the Company to its five most highly paid executives for fiscal 2011.  For the companies in the Peer 
Group, revenue ranged from $190 million to $900 million, EBITDA from a loss of $45 million to a profit of 
$96 million, number of employees from 1,158 to 9,198 and market capitalization from $7 million to $922 
million.  All data concerning the companies in the Peer Group were based on their most recent SEC reports.  

The companies in the Peer Group were:  
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Hibbett Sports West Marine Golfsmith International Cache 
Zumiez Hastings Entertainment Hancock Fabrics Christopher & Bank 

Corp. 
Big 5 Sporting Goods Build-A-Bear Workshop Marinemax A.C. Moore Arts & 

Crafts 
Citi Trends Books-A-Million Bakers Footwear Group Syms Corp. 
Reading International Duckwall ALCO Stores Trans World Entertainment Coldwater Creek 

 
The 2013 Survey compares the cash compensation and the total compensation of the Company's 

executive officers to the comparable amounts paid by the Peer Group.  "Cash compensation" is defined as the 
sum of base salary, cash bonus and all other cash compensation.  "Total compensation" is defined as the sum 
of cash compensation and the value of equity awards valued at the date of grant.  

The results of the 2013 Survey showed that for the Company's fiscal 2011:  

• cash compensation of the Company's CEO was 40% below the median cash 
compensation paid by the Peer Group, and 24% less than the 25th percentile; 

• cash compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 26% to 41% less than the median cash compensation paid by the 
Peer Group;  

• cash compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 8% to 19% less than the 25th percentile paid by the Peer Group;  

• total compensation of the Company's CEO was 37% less than the median total 
compensation paid by the Peer Group, and 44% less than the 25th percentile; 

• total compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 48% to 56% less than the median total compensation paid by the 
Peer Group; and 

• total compensation of the Company's four most highly paid executives (other than the 
CEO) ranged from 56% to 64% less than the 25th percentile paid by the Peer Group. 

Elements of Executive Compensation 

The Committee favors compensating executive officers of the Company in the form of bonuses and 
equity awards rather than in the form of base salaries so as to more closely align the interests of the executive 
officers with the interests of the stockholders.  The Committee does not allocate between cash and non-cash 
compensation or between short-term and long-term compensation based on specific percentages.  Instead, the 
Committee believes that the total compensation package for each executive officer of the Company should be 
generally in line with the prevailing market.  As a result of the difficult macroeconomic conditions in the 
Company's principal markets in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company generally did not increase the 
salaries of, or pay bonuses to, executives in those years except as described below.   
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The following table shows each element of executive compensation as a percent of the total 
compensation for each Named Executive Officer for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010: 

     Name         Title     Year 
Base     

Salaries (%)
Bonus 
(%)(2) 

Equity 
Awards 
(%)(1)  

All Other  
Compensation (%)

Craig L. Levra Chairman of the Board, President 
and Chief Executive Officer 

2012 
2011 
2010 

63 
88 
47 

26 
1 
-- 

5 
-- 
47 

6  
11 
6 

Howard K. Kaminsky Executive Vice President – 
Finance, Chief Financial Officer 
and Secretary  

2012 
2011 
2010 

78 
88 
60 

2 
1 
-- 

12 
-- 
33 

 8 
11 
7 

Dennis D. Trausch Executive Vice President – 
Growth and Development 

2012 
2011 
2010 

71 
81 
48 

2 
1 
-- 

13 
-- 
44 

 14 
18 
8 

Thomas H. Tennyson Executive Vice President and 
Chief Merchandising Officer 

2012 
2011 
2010 

81 
89 
62 

2 
1 
6 

9 
-- 
26 

8 
10 
6 

Tim A. Anderson Executive Vice President – Retail 
Operations, Loss Prevention and 
Specialty Services 

2012 
2011 
2010 

77 
76 
51 

2 
1 
-- 

12 
-- 
36 

9 
23 
13 

_______________ 

(1) These amounts reflect the value determined by the Company for accounting purposes for these awards and do not 
reflect whether each Named Executive Officer has actually realized benefit from the awards.  The value of the equity 
awards is based on the grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, without regard to the 
estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.  Amounts reported for stock options are determined 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  This model was developed to estimate the fair value of traded options, 
which have different characteristics than employee stock options, and changes to the subjective assumptions used in the 
model can result in materially different fair value estimates.  See Note 2 to the Company's audited financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012, included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on 
June 8, 2012, for a discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating grant date fair value. 

(2) In fiscal 2011, the Company established an employee incentive plan (the "Employee Incentive Plan") under which all 
employees, including the Named Executive Officers, may participate. For a description of the Employee Incentive 
Plan, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis –– How and Why Executive Compensation Decisions Were Made – 
Bonuses." 

How and Why Executive Compensation Decisions Were Made 

When making individual executive compensation decisions, the Committee takes many factors into 
account, including the executive officer's experience, responsibilities, management abilities and job 
performance, the performance of the Company as a whole, the current market conditions and competitive pay 
for similar positions at comparable companies.  These factors are considered by the Committee in a subjective 
manner without any specific formula or weighting. 

For fiscal 2012, the major factors that influenced the Committee's executive compensation decisions 
were: 

• the $3.0 million net loss experienced by the Company in fiscal 2011 compared to the 
$8.3 million net loss in fiscal 2010 and the $52.2 million net loss in fiscal 2009; 
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• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal 
markets; 

• the absence of any increase in base salaries or bonuses in fiscal 2011, 2010 or 2009, 
except as described below; 

• the executives' continued aggressive response to the difficult macroeconomic 
conditions in the Company's principal markets, including reductions in occupancy 
expenses, improvements in inventory management, and improvements in comparable 
store sales of fiscal 2011, as well as favorable amendments to the Company’s bank 
credit line and completion of an evaluation of the Company’s customers; 

• the growth  of the Company’s online business, sportchalet.com; and 

• the substantial amount by which cash compensation and total compensation of each 
executive was below the median cash compensation and total compensation paid to 
officers by companies in the Peer Group and by the Comparable Companies.   

At the Company’s 2011 annual meeting of the stockholders, the Company provided stockholders an 
advisory vote on approving the Company’s executive compensation for 2011 (the “Say-On-Pay 
Vote”).  The stockholders approved the executive compensation program and the executive 
compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers for 2011 by a vote of 85.6%.  The Compensation 
Committee did not make any changes to the executive compensation program as a result of the 
favorable Say-On-Pay Vote.  

Base Salaries 

The Committee reviews the base salary of each executive officer at the beginning of each fiscal year.  
In determining whether a change in base salary is appropriate, the Committee considers the Company's 
executive compensation philosophy described above, the executive's scope of responsibility, level of 
experience, individual performance, and past and potential contribution to the Company's business, the 
Company's performance, changes in the cost of living, and the terms of the executive's employment agreement, 
if any.  The Committee does not assign any particular formula or weight to the foregoing factors.  To ensure 
that the base salaries are adequate, the Committee also periodically reviews an independent survey of 
executive compensation and compares the base salaries to those paid to officers with comparable duties by 
other companies that are of similar size and performance and in similar industries as the Company.  In 
addition, the Committee discusses and takes into consideration the recommendation of the Chief Executive 
Officer regarding each executive officer's base salary, other than the Chief Executive Officer's own base 
salary. 

Although the Company's philosophy is to use bonuses to motivate the executives to achieve specific 
strategic and performance objectives, for fiscal 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008 the Company did not pay 
bonuses to its executive officers (except pursuant to the Employee Incentive Plan, a discretionary bonus to the 
CEO for fiscal 2012 in lieu of an equity incentive award, and a bonus in fiscal 2010 and 2009 guaranteed upon 
employment to the Chief Merchandising Officer) for the reasons described below.  Based upon the 2009 
Survey and the 2013 Survey, the base salary paid by the Company to its Chief Executive Officer (1) in fiscal 
2007 was 12% less than the median base salary paid by the Comparable Companies and 15% less than the 
median base salary paid by companies in the Peer Group, and (2) in fiscal 2011 was 24% less than the median 
base salary paid by companies in the Peer Group.  Based upon the 2009 Survey, the base salaries paid by the 
Company to its four most highly compensated executives (other than the Chief Executive Officer) (1) in fiscal 
2007 ranged from 2% to 29% less than the median base salaries paid to the covered officers by the Comparable 
Companies and from 15% to 39% less than the median base salaries paid to the covered officers by companies 
in the Peer Group, and (2) in fiscal 2011 ranged from 16% to 26% less than the median base salaries paid to 
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the covered officers by companies in the Peer Group.  To the extent that a Named Executive Officer has an 
employment agreement, such executive's employment agreement specifies a minimum level of base salary for 
the executive. 

The following table shows the changes in the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 
2012, 2011 and 2010: 

     Name     
Fiscal 2009 

Salary 
Fiscal 2010 

Salary 

Percent 
Change 

FY '09/FY '10 
Fiscal 2011 

Salary 

Percent 
Change 

FY '10/FY '11 
Fiscal 2012 

Salary 

Percent 
Change 

FY '11/FY '12 

Craig L. Levra $380,000 $380,000 -- $380,000 -- $380,000 -- 

Howard K. 
Kaminsky 228,000 228,000 -- 228,000 -- 228,000 -- 

Dennis D. 
Trausch 185,400 185,400 -- 185,400 -- 185,400 -- 

Thomas H. 
Tennyson 285,000 295,000 3.5% 295,000 -- 295,000 -- 

Tim A. 
Anderson 180,000 180,000 -- 210,000 16.7% 210,000 -- 

The Named Executive Officers did not receive an increase in base salary for services rendered in 
fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010 from that paid in fiscal 2009, except for Mr. Tennyson who in fiscal 2010 received 
an increase of 3.5% guaranteed upon employment and Mr. Anderson who in fiscal 2011 received an increase 
of 16.7% in connection with his promotion to Executive Vice President – Retail Operations, Loss Prevention 
and Specialty Services.  

The executive officers who were not Named Executive Officers received no increase in base salary in 
fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010, except in connection with promotions. 

In deciding not to increase the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2012 compared 
to 2011, the Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the continuing net loss of $3.0 million experienced by the Company in fiscal 2011; 

• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal 
markets; and 

• the grant of equity incentive awards in fiscal 2012, 2010, 2009 and 2008 as described 
below. 

In deciding not to increase the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2011 compared 
to 2010 (except for Mr. Anderson on his promotion to Executive Vice President – Retail Operations, Loss 
Prevention and Specialty Services), the Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the continuing net loss of $8.3 million experienced by the Company in fiscal 2010; 
and 

• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal 
markets. 
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In deciding not to increase the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2010 compared 
to 2009 (except for Mr. Tennyson who received an increase of 3.5% guaranteed upon employment), the 
Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the continuing net loss of $52.2 million experienced by the Company in fiscal 2009; 

• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal 
markets; 

• the ability of each Named Executive Officer (other than Messrs. Levra and 
Kaminsky) to participate in the Option Exchange described below under "– Option 
Exchange Program;" and 

• the grant of equity incentive awards in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 as described 
below. 

Bonuses  

In fiscal 2008 and preceding years, the Company maintained a bonus plan under which certain 
executive officers could earn a bonus equal to a percentage of their annual base salaries, if the Company met 
the performance criteria set by the Committee at the beginning of the fiscal year. 

In fiscal 2010 and 2009, the Company did not pay executive bonuses, except for the minimum bonus 
guaranteed to Mr. Tennyson by the terms of his employment agreement of $29,500 in fiscal 2010 and $28,500 
in fiscal 2009, because the Company experienced a net loss in each of those fiscal years due to the difficult 
macroeconomic conditions in its principal markets. 

In fiscal 2011, the Company established an employee incentive plan (the "Employee Incentive Plan") 
under which all employees, including the Named Executive Officers, may participate.  No amount is payable 
under the Employee Incentive Plan with respect to any fiscal quarter unless the Company's earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") for that quarter exceeds the EBITDA amount set 
forth in the Company's operating budget.  One-half of any amount by which the Company's EBITDA for the 
year-to-date period ending with the most recent quarter exceeds the EBITDA set forth in the budget would be 
paid to eligible employees in proportion to their base salaries for the quarter.  Only employees who are 
employed both before the beginning of the quarter and at the time of payment would be eligible to receive a 
bonus payment with respect to a quarter.  The Board retains the right, in its sole discretion, to reduce the 
aggregate amount payable under the Employee Incentive Plan with respect to any quarter, notwithstanding the 
fact that the conditions for payment have been met, or otherwise to modify the Employee Incentive Plan.  In 
fiscal 2011, a total of $535,000 was paid to all employees, including Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Tennyson, 
Trausch and Anderson who received $3,858, $2,246, $2,893, $1,994, and $2,184, respectively, under the 
Employee Incentive Plan.   

In fiscal 2012, the Company continued the Employee Incentive Plan described above under which all 
employees, including the Named Executive Officers, may participate.  A total of $725,000 was paid to all 
employees, including Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Tennyson, Trausch and Anderson who received $8,519, 
$5,121, $6,559, $4,339, and $4,892, respectively.  In addition, the Committee granted Mr. Levra a 
discretionary bonus of $150,000 for his leadership of the Company’s aggressive response to the economic 
downturn which bonus was in lieu of the equity incentive awards granted to the other executive officers 
because of the significant equity held by Mr. Levra. 



 

 -31-  
   
 

Equity Awards 

In keeping with the Committee's compensation philosophy, the Committee believes that equity 
incentive awards should be a significant component of the total compensation of the executive officers to align 
the executives' interests with those of the Company's stockholders and motivate the executives to achieve the 
specific strategic and performance objectives established by the Board.  Under the Company's 2004 Equity 
Incentive Plan, the Company may grant any type of award whose value is derived from the value of the 
Common Stock of the Company, including shares of Common Stock, options, units and stock appreciation 
rights. 

For fiscal 2012, the Company granted equity awards under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan to 
executive officers on March 8, 2012.  Messrs. Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson were each granted 
options to purchase up to 15,000 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $1.38 per share (the 
closing sale price on the date of grant), which options have a term of ten years and first become exercisable in 
five equal annual installments on each of the first five anniversaries of the date of grant.  In deciding to grant 
equity awards, the Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the reduction in net loss for the first half of the fiscal year to $0.2 million in fiscal 
2012 from $2.5 million in fiscal 2011; 

• the negative impact on comparable store sales of the unseasonably warm and dry 
winter; 

• the aggressive response by the Named Executive Officers to the unseasonably warm 
and dry winter in the Company's principal markets, including reductions in operating 
expenses and inventory management of both winter and non-winter products; 

• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company’s principal 
markets; 

• the number of shares issuable pursuant to, and the vesting of, the options held by 
each Named Executive Officer; 

• the absence of any increase in base salaries or bonuses since fiscal 2008, except as 
described above; 

• the growth of the Company’s online business, sportchalet.com; and 

• the amount by which cash compensation and total compensation of each Named 
Executive Officer was below the median cash compensation and total compensation 
paid to officers by companies in the Peer Group in the 2013 Survey. 

For fiscal 2011, the Company granted equity awards under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan to 
executive officers on April 4, 2011, just after the end of the fiscal year.  Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, 
Tennyson and Anderson were granted options to purchase up to 20,000, 10,000, 10,000, 10,000 and 10,000 
shares, respectively, of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $2.02 per share (the closing sale price on the 
date of grant), which options have a term of ten years and first become exercisable in five equal annual 
installments on each of the first five anniversaries of the date of grant.  In deciding to grant equity awards, the 
Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the reduction in net loss to $3.0 million in fiscal 2011 from $8.3 million in fiscal 
2010; 
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• the increase in sales on a 52 week basis of 0.8%; 

• the continued difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company’s principal 
markets; 

• the expiration in May 2011 of options to purchase up to 70,000 and 40,250 shares of 
the Company's Class A Common Stock and 10,000 and 5,750 shares of the 
Company’s Class B Common Stock held by Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky and 5,750 
shares of the Company’s Class B Common Stock held by Mr. Trausch; 

• in the case of Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky, the fact that they were not eligible to 
participate in the Option Exchange; 

• the number of shares issuable pursuant to, and the vesting of, the options held by 
each Named Executive Officer; 

• the absence of any increase in base salaries or bonuses since fiscal 2008, except as 
described above; 

• the aggressive response by the Named Executive Officers to the difficult 
macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal markets, including reductions 
in operating expenses, reductions in occupancy expenses, improvements in inventory 
management, and sequential improvements in comparable store sales and 
profitability in each quarter of fiscal 2011, as well as favorable amendments to the 
Company’s bank credit line; 

• the growth of the Company’s online business, sportchalet.com; and 

• the amount by which cash compensation and total compensation of each Named 
Executive Officer was below the median cash compensation and total compensation 
paid to officers by companies in the Peer Group and by the Comparable Companies 
in the 2009 Survey. 

In fiscal 2010, each executive officer (other than Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky) was given the 
opportunity to participate in the Option Exchange.  For information on the options surrendered by, and the new 
options granted to each Named Executive Officer in the Option Exchange, see “Option Exchange Program” 
below.  

In fiscal 2010, the Company granted Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson 
under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan options to purchase up to 225,000, 75,000, 100,000, 75,000 and 75,000 
shares, respectively, of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $2.10 per share (the closing sale price on the 
date of grant), which options have a term of ten years and first become exercisable in two equal annual 
installments on each of the first two anniversaries of the date of grant.  In deciding to grant such awards, the 
Committee particularly noted the following: 

• the expiration in fiscal 2010 of options to purchase up to 175,000, 35,000 and 35,000 
shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and 25,000, 5,000 and 5,000 shares 
of the Company’s Class B Common Stock held by Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky and 
Trausch; 

• in the case of Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky, the fact that they were not eligible to 
participate in the Option Exchange; 
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• the number of shares issuable pursuant to, and the vesting of, the options held by 
each Named Executive Officer; 

• the absence of any increase in base salaries or bonuses in fiscal 2010 or 2009, except 
as described above; 

• the aggressive response by the Named Executive Officers to the difficult 
macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal markets, including reductions 
in operating expenses, reductions in occupancy expenses, improvements in inventory 
management, and sequential improvements in comparable store sales in each quarter 
of fiscal 2010, as well as favorable amendments to the Company’s bank credit line 
and successful negotiations with vendors for more beneficial terms; 

• the launch of the Company’s online business, sportchalet.com; and 

• the amount by which cash compensation and total compensation of each Named 
Executive Officer was below the median cash compensation and total compensation 
paid to officers by companies in the Peer Group and by the Comparable Companies 
in the 2009 Survey. 

The exercise price of the stock options granted to date has been no less than the fair market value of 
the Common Stock as of the date of grant.  To encourage retention, the ability to exercise the option is subject 
to vesting restrictions.  The Committee's policy is to award options annually, which generally vest over five 
years and expire ten years from the date of grant, and are in recognition of the executive officer's current and 
potential contributions to the Company.  Decisions made by the Committee regarding the timing and size of 
subsequent option grants take into consideration the Company's and the individual's performance, competitive 
market practices, the allocation between the cash and non-cash components of the individual's compensation, 
and the size and term of option grants made in prior years.  The Company’s procedures for the granting of 
stock options provide that (i) options to executive officers may only be granted at the express direction of the 
Committee, (ii) the accounting department will conduct a quarterly review of all option grants to confirm that 
the requisite approval was obtained and to confirm that the exercise price for the option was determined in 
accordance with the requirements of the Company's equity incentive plan, (iii) the accounting department will 
report the results of that audit to the Committee's Chair, and (iv) each approval of an option grant by the 
Committee will expressly establish the date of grant, which generally will be a date after the date of approval 
only when such a delay in the date of grant is reasonably related to a legitimate business purpose, such as to 
coincide with a hiring or promotion.  It is also the policy of the Company to generally avoid granting options 
as of a date during a blackout period.   

Post-Termination and Change in Control Payments 

The Committee believes that a change in control transaction would create uncertainty regarding the 
continued employment of the Company's executive officers.  This is because many change in control 
transactions result in significant organizational changes, particularly at the senior executive level.  In order to 
encourage the Company's executive officers to remain employed with the Company during an important time 
when their continued employment in connection with, or following, a transaction is often uncertain, and to 
help keep the Company's executive officers focused on the Company’s business rather than on their personal 
financial security, the Committee believes that providing certain of the Company's executive officers with 
severance benefits upon certain terminations of employment following an actual or potential change of control 
transaction, is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders 

Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Tennyson, Trausch and Anderson have employment agreements with the 
Company.  Upon termination without “cause” or by "non-renewal" (as defined), each of Messrs. Levra, 
Kaminsky, Tennyson, Trausch and Anderson will receive a lump sum payment equal to the amount he would 
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have received, at his annual base salary rate, for 24 months, 12 months, six months, six months and six 
months, respectively, within 60 days following such termination.  Each of Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, 
Tennyson, Trausch and Anderson may receive Company-paid COBRA health care continuation benefits for 
himself and his family for 18 months, subject to the limitations of the law.  If Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, 
Tennyson, Trausch or Anderson is terminated without "cause" (as defined in his respective agreement) after 
January 1 but before payment of the bonus for the year in which such termination occurs, such executive 
officer will also be entitled to a bonus, pro rated for the period employed that fiscal year through termination 
based on such executive officer's maximum target bonus for that fiscal year, if any bonus is paid to at least one 
executive vice president for that fiscal year.  Upon termination by Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Tennyson, 
Trausch or Anderson for “good reason” (as defined in his respective agreement), such executive officer will 
receive a lump sum payment equal to the amount he would have received, at his annual base salary rate, for 24 
months, 12 months, six months, six months and six months, respectively, within 60 days following such 
termination.   

If termination by the Company without "cause" or by "non-renewal" or by the employee for "good 
reason" occurs within 12 months following or in "anticipation of" a "change in control" (as defined in their 
respective agreements), then each of Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Tennyson, Trausch and Anderson will receive 
in lieu of the above, a lump sum payment equal to the amount he would have received, at his annual base 
salary rate, for 30 months, 18 months, 12 months, 12 months, and 12 months, respectively, to be paid within 60 
days following such termination.  The agreements provide that any such payments may be reduced to the 
maximum amount that may be paid without the payments being "excess parachute payments" within the 
meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  The 2004 Equity Incentive Plan 
generally provides, that upon a change in control, all stock awards then outstanding shall vest immediately.  
For a further description of these arrangements, see "Executive Compensation – Potential Payments Upon 
Termination or Change in Control." 

Benefits 

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, each executive officer received an annual automobile allowance 
of $20,000 for Mr. Levra, $11,550 for Messrs. Kaminsky, Tennyson and Trausch, and $16,150 for 
Mr. Anderson.  Each executive officer also is entitled to participate in the Company’s executive health care 
plan which pays all health care costs not covered by the Company’s group health insurance plan, up to 
$100,000 in the aggregate and $30,000 per occurrence, including premiums and deductibles. 

Option Exchange Program 

On September 15, 2009, the stockholders of the Company approved a proposal to authorize a one-time 
stock option exchange offer (the "Option Exchange") by the Company. We believe that granting stock options 
motivates our employees to perform at high levels, provides an effective means of recognizing employee 
contributions to our success and provides eligible employees a valuable incentive to stay with us.  Prior to the 
Option Exchange, some of our outstanding options, whether or not they were then exercisable, had exercise 
prices that were significantly higher than the current market price of our Class A Common Stock.   By making 
the offer to exchange eligible options for new options that would have an exercise price equal to the closing 
price of our Class A Common Stock as reported on Nasdaq on the new option grant date, we intended to 
provide eligible employees with the benefit of owning options that over time may have a greater potential to 
increase in value.  We believed this would create better performance incentives for eligible employees and, as 
a result, maximize stockholder value. 

Under the Option Exchange, each eligible employee, other than Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky and 
members of the Board, were given the opportunity to exchange some or all of his or her outstanding options to 
purchase shares of Class A Common Stock, with exercise prices equal to or greater than $2.38 per share, that 
were granted under the Company's 1992 Incentive Award Plan or 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, for a conditional 
right to receive new options to purchase a fewer number of shares than the exchanged options. The number of 
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shares underlying the new options equaled one-half of the number of shares underlying the exchanged options. 
The exercise price of the new options was $1.71, the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the new 
option grant date, November 9, 2009, as reported by Nasdaq. The new options vest in two equal installments, 
one-half on the first anniversary of the new option grant date and the remaining one-half on the second 
anniversary of the new option grant date, regardless of whether the exchanged options were fully or partially 
vested. The term of the new options is six years, regardless of the remaining term of the exchanged options.  

The Option Exchange expired at 5:00 p.m., Pacific Time, on November 6, 2009. Pursuant to the 
Option Exchange, eligible options to purchase an aggregate of 721,927 shares of Class A Common Stock were 
tendered and accepted for cancellation, representing approximately 70% of the total shares of Class A 
Common Stock underlying options eligible for exchange in the Option Exchange. On November 9, 2009, the 
Company granted new options to purchase an aggregate of 360,964 shares of Class A Common Stock in 
exchange for the eligible options surrendered in the Option Exchange.  

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the options surrendered by, and the new 
options granted to, each of the Named Executive Officers in the Option Exchange.  

   Exchanged Options New Options 

Name  Positions and Offices Held 
Number of

Shares 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Shares  
Exercise 

Price 
         
Craig L. Levra  Chairman of the Board, 

President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

--  -- --  -- 

        
Howard K. 
Kaminsky 

 Executive Vice President – 
Finance, Chief Financial 
Officer and Secretary 

--  -- --  -- 

        
Dennis D. Trausch  Executive Vice President – 

Growth and Development 
40,250 

3,000 

35,000 

35,000 

7,000 

21,875 

10,000 

21,875

 $4.30 

10.28 

4.94 

2.38 

3.64 

8.15 

7.49 

6.35

20,125 

1,500 

17,500 

17,500 

3,500 

10,938 

5,000 

10,938 

 $1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

       

Thomas H. 
Tennyson 

 Executive Vice President and 
Chief Merchandising Officer 

--  -- --  -- 
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   Exchanged Options New Options 

Name  Positions and Offices Held 
Number of

Shares 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Shares  
Exercise 

Price 
         
Tim A. Anderson  Executive Vice President – 

Retail Operations, Loss 
Prevention and Specialty 
Services 

21,875 

15,000 

21,875 

7,000 

5,000 

37,500

 8.15 

7.49 

6.35 

3.62 

10.28 

4.94

10,938 

7,500 

10,938 

3,500 

2,500 

18,750 

 1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

1.71 

2013 Executive Compensation 

Although the results of the 2013 Survey showed that the compensation of the Named Executive 
Officers is substantially below the compensation paid by the companies in the Peer Group, in light of the 
continuing difficult macroeconomic conditions in the Company's principal markets, the Committee has 
decided not to increase the base salaries or benefits of the Named Executive Officers at this time.  

In fiscal 2013, the Named Executive Officers will remain eligible to participate in the Employee 
Incentive Plan on the same terms as are applicable to all eligible employees.  For fiscal 2013, the Company 
also established an employee bonus plan (the "Bonus Plan") under which all salaried employees, including the 
Named Executive Officers, may participate.  Under the Bonus Plan each eligible employee can earn a bonus 
equal to a percentage of their salary, if the Company’s net income for fiscal 2013 exceeds a specified amount.  
For Craig Levra, the percentage will range between 70% and 160% of base salary, and for each other executive 
officer will range from 40% to 60% of base salary.  The percentage will be determined within this range based 
upon the employee’s performance evaluation. Only employees who are employed both at the beginning of the 
year and at the time of payment would be eligible to receive a bonus payment.    The Board retains the right, in 
its sole discretion, to reduce any award payable under the Bonus Plan, notwithstanding the fact that the 
conditions for payment have been met, or otherwise to modify the Bonus Plan.  There is no assurance the 
Company will achieve its net income objective.   

The Company has established a long-term incentive plan (“LTI Plan”) for the Chief Executive Officer.  
The LTI Plan is intended to reward the achievement of specific financial and strategic objectives over a two-
fiscal year performance cycle.  

Under the LTI Plan, the Chief Executive Officer is eligible to earn a cash bonus based upon the 
Company’s achievement of certain performance objectives in fiscal 2013. The Company must achieve a 
threshold performance level in order for any bonus to be paid under the LTI Plan. Once the Company’s 
threshold performance level has been met, the bonus opportunity will vary depending on the extent to which 
the Company has exceeded its threshold performance level, up to 120% of the target bonus.  The target award 
is $325,000, and the award, if any, will be paid in the year following the performance period.  The financial 
measures for the LTI Plan award are based on improved net income, a reduction in the debt to EBITDA ratio, 
growth of online sales, growth of the Team Sales Division, and new store openings as well as quantifiable 
strategic metrics deemed to be important to the operating performance of the Company.  Each of the 
performance objectives was selected from a list of performance objectives under the 2004 Equity Incentive 
Plan approved by the stockholders at the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders. 

The LTI Plan is intended to be an ongoing program under which the Compensation Committee will 
grant new long-term compensation awards each year.  However, the Compensation Committee is not obligated 
to grant awards under the program each year, and it may grant awards in any given year with terms that vary 
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from those set forth above in any respect, including, among other things, the performance objectives, the 
aggregate award values and the performance period.   
 

There is no assurance that the Company will achieve the performance objectives established by the 
Compensation Committee in any fiscal year. 
 
Other Considerations 

Impact of Accounting and Tax Treatment on Compensation. Accounting and tax considerations play 
an important role in the design of our executive compensation program. Accounting rules, such as Financial 
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718 (formerly 
Statement No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS 123R")), require us to expense the estimated fair 
market value of our stock-based compensation, which reduces the amount of our reported profits. The 
Committee considers the amount of this expense and the financial impact to us in determining the amount of 
equity compensation awards. 

Under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a public 
company generally will not be entitled to a deduction for non-performance-based compensation paid to certain 
executive officers to the extent such compensation exceeds $1.0 million.  Special rules apply for 
"performance-based" compensation, including the approval of the performance goals by the stockholders of 
the Company. 

As the Company's current compensation structure generally does not contemplate annual non-
performance based compensation to any executive in excess of $1.0 million, the Committee has not formulated 
a policy regarding qualifying compensation paid to executive officers for deductibility under Section 162(m) 
of the Code, and does not foresee the necessity of doing so in the near future.  Should limitations on the 
deductibility of compensation become a material issue, the Committee will, at such time, determine whether 
such a policy should be implemented, either in general or with respect to specific transactions. 

Among other things, Section 409A of the Code limits flexibility with respect to the time and form of 
payment of deferred compensation. If a payment or award is subject to Section 409A but does not meet the 
requirements that exempt such amounts from taxation under such section, the recipient is subject to (i) income 
tax at the time the payment or award is not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, (ii) an additional 20% 
federal tax at that time, and (iii) an additional tax equal to the amount of interest (at the underpayment rate 
under the Code plus one percentage point) on the underpayment that would have occurred had the award been 
includible in the recipient's income when first deferred, or if later, when not subject to a substantial risk of 
forfeiture. We have made modifications to our plans and arrangements such that payments or awards under 
those arrangements either are intended not to constitute "deferred compensation" for Section 409A purposes 
(and will thereby be exempt from Section 409A's requirements) or, if they constitute "deferred compensation," 
are intended to comply with the Section 409A statutory provisions and final regulations. 

Risk Considerations.  We have designed our total direct compensation mix to encourage the 
Company's executive officers to take appropriate risks aimed at improving the Company's performance and 
driving long-term stockholder value.  We believe that the design and objectives of the Company's executive 
compensation program provide an appropriate balance of incentives for executive officers and thereby avoids 
inappropriate risks.  In this regard, our executive compensation program includes, among other things, the 
following design features:  

• A balanced mix of fixed versus variable compensation and cash-based versus equity-based 
compensation; 

• Variable compensation based on a variety of performance goals, including Company and 
individual performance goals; 
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• Compensation Committee discretion to lower annual incentive award amounts; 

• A balanced mix of short-term and long-term incentives; and 

• Time-based vesting requirements for equity awards.  

The Committee reviews the Company's employee compensation policies and practices, including those for 
non-executive officers, on an annual basis to assess how those policies and practices may affect risk taking by 
employees.  During its review in fiscal 2012, the Compensation Committee determined that the Company's 
compensation practices and policies do not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse 
effect on the Company.  

Conclusion 

The Committee believes that the Company's compensation policies support the Committee's 
compensation philosophy that compensation should be designed to attract, retain and motivate executives 
critical to the Company's long-term growth and profitability.  The Committee believes that for fiscal 2012, 
2011 and 2010, the total compensation package for each of the Named Executive Officers was competitive 
with the total compensation paid to executives of other companies in the Company's industry that are of similar 
size and performance.  In addition, the Committee believes that the bonus and equity awards help reinforce the 
compensation philosophy that bonus programs and equity incentive plans should motivate the executive to 
achieve specific strategic and performance objectives established by the Board and align the executive's 
interests with those of the Company's stockholders. 

Compensation Committee Report 

The Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall not be deemed 
incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any 
filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that 
the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed 
under such Acts. 

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 

The Compensation Committee (the "Committee") of the Company has reviewed and discussed the 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management, and based on such review and discussion, the 
Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this 
Proxy Statement. 

 

Dated: May 31, 2012  THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE  
 
Donald J. Howard, Chairman 
John R. Attwood  
Randall G. Scoville 
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Summary Compensation Table 

The table below summarizes the total compensation of each of the Named Executive Officers for the 
fiscal years ended April 1, 2012, April 3, 2011 and March 28, 2010.  The Named Executive Officers are the 
Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and the three other most highly compensated 
executive officers in the table below (reduced by the amount in column (h)). 

Name and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) 

Stock 
Awards 

($)(1)  

Option 
Awards  
($)(1)(2) 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation  
         ($)(3)        

Change in 
Pension Value 

and Nonqualified 
Deferred 

Compensation 
Earnings ($) 

All Other 
Compensation
        ($)(4)        

Total 
     ($)     

(a) 
 

(b) 
 

(c) 
 

(d) 
 

(e) 
 

(f) 
 

(g) 
 

(h) 
 

(i) 
 

(j) 
 

 
Craig L. Levra 
Chairman of the Board, 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

 
2012 
2011
2010 

 

 
380,000 
380,000 
380,000 

 

150,000
--
--

--
--
--

33,168
--

379,060

8,519
3,858

--

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

 

35,193
48,031
47,952

606,880
431,889
807,012

 
Howard K. Kaminsky 
Executive Vice President – 
Finance, Chief Financial 
Officer and Secretary 

 
2012 
2011 
2010 

 

 
228,000 
228,000 
228,000 

 

--
--
--

--
--
--

33,495
--

126,353

5,121
2,246

--

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

24,326
27,662
29,839

290,942
257,908
384,192

 
Dennis D. Trausch 
Executive Vice President – 
Growth and Development 

 
2012 
2011 
2010 

 
185,400 
185,400 
185,400 

--
--
--

--
--
--

33,495
--

190,095

4,339
1,994

--

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

36,656
41,555
31,180

259,890
228,949
406,675

 
Thomas H. Tennyson 
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Merchandising 
Officer 

 
2012 
2011 
2010 

 

 
295,000 
295,000 
285,000 

--
--

29,500

--
--
--

33,495
--

126,353

6,559
2,893

--

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

28,750
32,033
30,639

363,804
329,926
481,492

 
Tim A. Anderson 
Executive Vice President – 
Retail Operations, Loss 
Prevention and Specialty 
Services 

 
2012 
2011 
2010 

 

 
210,000 
203,166 
180,000 

 

--
--
--

--
--
--

33,495
--

126,353

4,892
2,184

--

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

22,765
60,891
44,247

271,152
266,241
350,600

_______________ 
 
(1) These amounts reflect the value determined by the Company for accounting purposes for these awards and do not 

reflect whether each Named Executive Officer has actually realized benefit from the awards.  The value of the equity 
awards in columns (e) and (f) is based on the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 
Topic 718, without regard to the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.  Stock option 
amounts are determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  This model was developed to estimate the fair 
value of traded options, which have different characteristics than employee stock options, and changes to the subjective 
assumptions used in the model can result in materially different fair value estimates.  See Note 2 to the Company's 
audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012, included in the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on June 8, 2012, for a discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating grant 
date fair value.   

(2) Fiscal 2010 includes the incremental fair value resulting from the Option Exchange for each Named Executive Officer.  
Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky were excluded from participating in the Option Exchange.  The incremental fair value for 
Mr. Trausch was $21,624.  Mr. Tennyson elected not to participate in the Option Exchange, and there was no 
incremental fair value for Mr. Anderson. 

(Footnotes continued on next page) 
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

(3) In fiscal 2011, the Company established an employee incentive plan (the "Employee Incentive Plan") under which all 
employees, including the Named Executive Officers, may participate. For a description of the Employee Incentive 
Plan, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis – How and Why Executive Compensation Decisions Were Made – 
Bonuses." 

(4) Certain of the Company's executive officers receive personal benefits in addition to salary and cash bonuses, consisting 
of automobile allowances, matching contributions under the Company's retirement plan, group health insurance, group 
life insurance and executive health care.  The amount shown in column (i) for "All Other Compensation" consists of the 
following:   

                     Year 
Craig L.

Levra  ($)
Howard K. 

Kaminsky ($) 
Dennis D.

Trausch ($) 
Thomas H. 

Tennyson ($) 
Tim A. 

Anderson ($)

Automobile allowance 2012 
2011 
2010 

20,000 
20,000 
20,000 

11,550 
11,550 
11,550 

11,550 
11,550 
11,550 

11,550 
11,550 
11,550 

16,150 
16,150 
16,150 

Matching contributions 
to retirement plan 

2012 
2011 
2010 

       -- 
       -- 
 1,827 

  

-- 
-- 

1,843 

-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 

     -- 
     -- 
     -- 

Group health and life 
insurance 

2012 
2011 
2010 

9,044 
19,764 
19,510 

6,120 
13,740 
13,542 

6,120 
13,740 
13,542 

9,044 
19,764 
17,136 

2,252 
6,585 
6,479 

Executive health care 2012 
2011 
2010 

6,149 
8,267 
6,615 

6,656 
2,372 
2,904 

18,986 
16,265 
6,088 

8,156 
719 

1,952 

4,363 
38,156 
21,618 

Total 2012 
2011 
2010 

35,193 
48,031 
47,952 

24,326 
27,662 
29,839 

36,656 
41,555 
31,180 

28,750 
32,033 
30,639 

22,765 
60,891 
44,247 

Grants of Plan-Based Awards 

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to grants of awards to the Named 
Executive Officers under our non-equity and equity incentive plans during fiscal 2012.   

  

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity  

     Incentive Plan Awards     
  

Estimated Future Payouts 
Under Equity  

     Incentive Plan Awards     
 

All Other 
Stock Awards: 

Number of 
Shares of 
Stock or   
Units (#) 

All Other 
Option Awards: 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Options (#) 

Exercise 
or Base 
Price of 
Option 
Awards  

($/Share) 

Grant Date 
Fair Value 

of Stock and 
Option 

Awards(2)      Name     
Grant  
  Date   

Thres-
hold ($) Target ($) Maximum ($)

Thres-
hold (#) Target (#) Maximum (#)

          (a) 
 

(b) 
 

(c) 
 

(d) 
 

(e) 
 

(f) 
 

(g) 
 

(h) 
 

(i) 
 

(j) 
 

(k) 
 

(l) 
 

Craig L. Levra 3/20/12 -- 150,000 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Craig L. Levra (1) -- 8,519 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Howard K. Kaminsky (1) -- 5,121 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Dennis D. Trausch (1) -- 4,339 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Thomas H. Tennyson (1) -- 6,559 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Tim A. Anderson (1) -- 4,892 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
______________________ 

(1) In fiscal 2012, the Company established an employee incentive plan (the "Employee Incentive Plan") under which all 
employees, including the Named Executive Officers, may participate. For a description of the Employee Incentive 
Plan, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis –– How and Why Executive Compensation Decisions Were Made – 
Bonuses." 

(Footnotes continued on next page) 
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

 (2) The value of the equity awards in column (l) is based on the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance 
with FASB ASC Topic 718, without regard to the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.  
Stock option amounts are determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  This model was developed to 
estimate the fair value of traded options, which have different characteristics than employee stock options, and changes 
to the subjective assumptions used in the model can result in materially different fair value estimates.  See Note 2 to the 
Company's audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012, included in the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on June 8, 2012, for a discussion of the relevant assumptions used in 
calculating grant date fair value.   

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table 

Employment Agreements 

The Company has entered into employment agreements, as amended, with each of Messrs. Levra, 
Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson.  The term of employment commences on January 1 of each year 
and terminates on the following December 31 and automatically renews for an additional twelve months at the 
end of the initial term or any renewal term unless notice of termination is given by either party at least 30 days 
prior to the end of the term.  For fiscal 2013, Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson are 
entitled to (i) receive an annual base salary (subject to increase from time to time in the discretion of the 
Board) of $380,000, $228,000, $185,400, $295,000 and $210,000, respectively, (ii) participate in the executive 
bonus program, (iii) receive a monthly automobile allowance in the amount of $20,000 for Mr. Levra, $11,550 
for Messrs. Kaminsky, Trausch and Tennyson, and $16,150 for Mr. Anderson, and (iv) participate in all plans 
provided to executive officers or employees generally.  In the event employment is terminated by the Company 
without "cause" (as defined in such employment agreements) or by the employee for specified causes, 
Mr. Levra will be entitled to his annual base salary for 24 months, Mr. Kaminsky will be entitled to his annual 
base salary for 12 months, and Messrs. Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson each will be entitled to his annual 
base salary for six months, as well as certain other payments, as well as alternative amounts on a termination in 
connection with a change in control.  See "Post-Termination and Change in Control Payments" above. 

Indemnification Agreements 

`The Company has entered into an indemnification agreement with each of its executive officers that 
may require the Company to indemnify the officer against liabilities that may arise by reason of his or her 
status or service. 

2004 Equity Incentive Plan 

General.  The 2004 Plan was effective on August 2, 2004 and was approved by the Board and 
Company’s stockholders.  Under the 2004 Plan, awards may be granted to employees, directors and 
consultants of the Company and its affiliates.  The purpose of the 2004 Plan is to encourage ownership in the 
Company by key personnel whose long-term service is considered essential to the Company's continued 
progress and, thereby, encourage recipients to act in the stockholders' interest and share in the Company's 
success. 

As of June 22, 2012, 203,285 shares of Class A Common Stock and 31,931 shares of Class B 
Common Stock had been issued under the 2004 Plan, 2,186,095 shares of Class A Common Stock and 35,251 
shares of Class B Common Stock were subject to outstanding awards, and there were 618,480 shares of 
Common Stock available for issuance under awards that may be granted in the future and such awards can be 
settled with either Class A or Class B shares. 

As of June 22, 2012, approximately 2,900 employees (including the Named Executive Officers) and 
the Company's directors were eligible to participate in the 2004 Plan  

As of June 22, 2012, as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market, the fair market value of a share of 
Class A Common Stock was $1.50 and the fair market value of a share of Class B Common Stock was $1.75.   
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Administration.  The 2004 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the 
"Committee").  Subject to the provisions of the 2004 Plan, the Committee has a wide degree of flexibility in 
determining the recipients of awards, the terms and conditions of awards, and the number of shares or amount 
of cash to be issued pursuant thereto, including conditioning the receipt or vesting of awards upon the 
achievement by the Company of specified performance criteria.  The expenses of administering the 2004 Plan 
are borne by the Company.  The Committee also has the authority to amend outstanding awards, including 
modifying or waiving the vesting and exercisability conditions, and to offer to buy out outstanding awards on 
terms that the Committee establishes. 

Terms of Awards.  The 2004 Plan authorizes the Committee to enter into options, stock awards, SARs 
or cash awards with an eligible recipient.  An award may consist of one such security or benefit or two or more 
of them in tandem or in the alternative. 

An award granted under the 2004 Plan may include a provision accelerating the receipt of benefits 
upon the occurrence of specified events, such as a change of control of the Company or a dissolution, 
liquidation, merger, reclassification, sale of substantially all of the property and assets of the Company or other 
significant corporate transactions.   

As a result of Section 162(m) of the Code (see section "Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) 
Limits" section below), the 2004 Plan states that the aggregate number of shares subject to awards granted 
under the 2004 Plan during any calendar year to any one recipient shall not exceed 250,000, except that in 
connection with his or her initial service, an award may be granted conveying an additional 250,000 shares. 

If awards granted under the 2004 Plan expire, are canceled or otherwise terminate without being 
exercised, the Common Stock not purchased pursuant to the award again becomes available for issuance under 
the 2004 Plan. 

Payment of Exercise Price.  An award may permit the recipient to pay all or part of the purchase price 
of the shares or other property issuable pursuant thereto, or to pay all or part of such recipient's tax withholding 
obligation with respect to such issuance, by (i) delivering cash, or (ii) delivering previously owned shares of 
capital stock of the Company, or (iii) delivering consideration received by the Company under a broker 
assisted sale and remittance program, the terms and conditions of which will be determined by the Committee. 

Amendment and Termination of the 2004 Plan.  The Board may amend, alter, suspend or terminate the 
2004 Plan, or any part thereof, at any time and for any reason.  However, the Company will obtain stockholder 
approval for any amendment to the 2004 Plan to the extent required by applicable laws or stock exchange 
rules.  In addition, without limiting the foregoing, unless approved by the Company's stockholders, no such 
amendment shall be made that would:  (1) increase the maximum number of shares for which awards may be 
granted under the 2004 Plan, other than an increase pursuant to a change in the Company's capitalization; 
(2) reduce the exercise price of outstanding SARs or options; (3) change the class of persons eligible to receive 
awards under the 2004 Plan.  No such action by the Board or stockholders may alter or impair any award 
previously granted under the 2004 Plan without the written consent of the recipient. 

Term.  Awards may not be granted under the 2004 Plan on or after August 11, 2021.  Any award that 
was duly granted on or prior to such date may thereafter be exercised or settled in accordance with its terms. 

Terms and Conditions of Stock Options.  A stock option is the right to acquire shares at a fixed 
exercise price over a fixed period of time.  The Committee may grant options that either are intended to be 
"incentive stock options" as defined under Section 422 of the Code, or are not intended to be incentive options 
("non-qualified stock options").  The Committee will determine the number of shares covered by each stock 
option and the exercise price of the shares subject to each stock option and the vesting conditions.  A stock 
option granted under the 2004 Plan generally cannot be exercised until it becomes vested.  The maximum term 
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life for stock options granted under the 2004 Plan may not exceed ten years from the date of grant although the 
Committee may establish a shorter period at its discretion.   

Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees.  No incentive stock option may be granted 
under the 2004 Plan to any person who, at the time of the grant, owns (or is deemed to own) stock possessing 
more than 10% of the total combined voting power of the Company or any affiliate of the Company, unless the 
option exercise price is at least 110% of the fair market value of the stock subject to the option on the date of 
the grant and the term of the option does not exceed five years from the date of the grant.  In addition, the 
aggregate fair market value, determined at the time of the grant, of the shares of Common Stock with respect to 
which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by an optionee during any calendar year (under 
all such plans of the Company and its subsidiaries) may not exceed $100,000.   

Terms and Conditions of Stock Awards.  Stock awards may be in the form of shares or stock units.  
Stock units are the right to receive an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares covered by the stock 
unit at some future date after the grant. Each stock award agreement will contain provisions regarding (1) the 
number of shares subject to such stock award or a formula for determining such number, (2) the purchase price 
of the shares, if any, and the means of payment for the shares, (3) the performance criteria, if any, and level of 
achievement versus these criteria that will determine the number of shares granted, issued, retained and vested, 
as applicable, (4) such terms and conditions on the grant, issuance, vesting and forfeiture of the shares, as 
applicable, as may be determined from time to time by the Committee, (5) restrictions on transferability of the 
stock award, and (6) such further terms and conditions, in each case not inconsistent with the 2004 Plan, as 
may be determined from time to time by the Committee. 

Terms and Conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights ("SARs").  A SAR is the right to receive, upon 
exercise, an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the date of the 
SAR's exercise and the fair market value of the shares covered by the exercised portion of the SAR on the date 
of grant. The Committee determines the terms of SARs, including the exercise price, the vesting and the term 
of the SAR. The maximum term life for SARs granted under the 2004 Plan may not exceed ten years from the 
date of grant subject to the discretion of the Committee to establish a shorter period. Settlement of a SAR may 
be in shares of Common Stock or in cash, or any combination thereof, as the Committee may determine. 

Terms and Conditions of Cash Awards.  Each cash award agreement will contain provisions regarding 
(1) the performance goals and maximum amount payable to the recipient as a cash award, (2) the performance 
criteria and level of achievement versus the criteria that will determine the amount of such payment, (3) the 
period as to which performance shall be measured for establishing the amount of any payment, (4) the timing 
of any payment earned by virtue of performance, (5) restrictions on the alienation or transfer of the cash award 
prior to actual payment, (6) forfeiture provisions, and (7) such further terms and conditions, in each case not 
inconsistent with the 2004 Plan, as may be determined from time to time by the Committee.  In order to be 
eligible to qualify as performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m), the maximum amount 
payable as a cash award that is settled for cash may not exceed $2,000,000 with respect to any one person in 
any fiscal year. 

Performance Goals.  The business criteria on which performance goals are based under the 2004 Plan 
will be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Committee.  The performance criteria may include (l) cash 
flow; (2) earnings (including gross margin, earnings before interest and taxes, earnings before taxes, and net 
earnings); (3) earnings per share (pre and after tax); (4) growth in earnings or earnings per share; (5) stock 
price; (6) return on equity or average stockholders' equity; (7) total stockholder return; (8) return on capital; 
(9) return on assets or net assets; (10) return on investment; (11) revenue; (12) income or net income; 
(13) operating income or net operating income; (14) operating profit or net operating profit; (15) operating 
margin; (16) return on operating revenue; (17) market share; (18) contract awards or backlog; (19) overhead or 
other expense reduction; (20) growth in stockholder value relative to the moving average of the S&P 500 Index 
or a peer group index; (21) credit rating; (22) strategic plan development and implementation; (23) EBITDA, 
(24) comparable store sales; (25) labor productivity; (26) gross profit percentage of sales or dollars; 
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(27) inventory turn; (28) new store performance; (29) new store sales; (30) new store profitability; (31) number 
of new stores opened; and (32) any other similar criteria as may be determined by the Committee. 

Adjustments.  If there is any change in the stock subject to the 2004 Plan or subject to any award made 
under the 2004 Plan (through merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, stock dividend, dividend 
in kind, stock split, liquidating dividend, combination or exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or 
otherwise), the 2004 Plan and shares outstanding thereunder will be appropriately adjusted as to the class and 
the maximum number of shares subject to the 2004 Plan and the class, number of shares and price per share of 
stock subject to such outstanding options as determined by the Committee to be fair and equitable to the 
holders, the Company and the stockholders.  In addition, the Committee may also make adjustments in the 
number of shares covered by, and the price or other value of, any outstanding awards under the 2004 Plan in 
the event of a spin-off or other distribution (other than normal cash dividends) of Company assets to 
stockholders.   

Change in Control and Termination of Service.  The Committee generally can decide the effect of a 
change in control of the Company or a termination of a participant's service on outstanding awards.  For 
example, the Committee may, among other things, provide that awards will fully vest upon a change in control 
or provide for cash payments for awards or provide that awards are assumed by an acquirer. 

Limited Transferability of Awards.  Awards granted under the 2004 Plan generally are not 
transferrable other than upon death or pursuant to a court-approved domestic relations order. However, the 
Committee may in its discretion permit the transfer of awards.  

1992 Incentive Award Plan  

The 1992 Incentive Award Plan (the "1992 Plan") became effective in October 1992.  The 1992 Plan 
authorized the granting of certain incentive awards including stock appreciation rights, non-qualified stock 
options, incentive stock options, restricted stock, dividend equivalents and performance awards.  The 1992 
Plan was amended on August 6, 1998, August 1, 2002 and September 20, 2005. 

Although the 1992 Plan terminated on August 1, 2004, awards outstanding on that date may be 
exercised or settled after that date in accordance with their terms.  Any shares not issued under the 1992 Plan 
were added to the shares available for issuance under the 2004 Plan. 

As of June 22, 2012, there were 35,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 8,250 shares of Class B 
Common Stock subject to outstanding options granted under the 1992 Plan. 

The 1992 Plan provided for the grant of incentive stock options to employees of the Company.  The 
1992 Plan also provided for the grant of non-qualified stock options to the Company's officers, employees or 
consultants.  Incentive stock options may have certain tax advantages for the optionee as compared to non-
qualified stock options.  The exercise price of an incentive stock option may not be less than 100% of the fair 
market value of the Company's Common Stock on the date of grant or 110% of such fair market value in the 
case of an optionee who holds more than 10% of the Company's Common Stock.  The exercise price of a non-
qualified stock option may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the Company's Common Stock on 
the grant date.  Shares subject to an option granted under the 1992 Plan may be purchased for cash or its 
equivalent, including shares of Common Stock.  Options expire ten years after the grant date, with the 
exception of incentive stock options held by a holder of 10% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, 
which expire five years after the grant date. 

Employee Incentive Plan 

For a description of the Employee Incentive Plan, including the amounts paid to the Named Executive 
Officers in fiscal 2012, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis – How and Why Executive Compensation 
Decisions Were Made – Bonuses." 
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Employee Bonus Plan 

For a description of the Bonus Plan, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis – 2013 Executive 
Compensation." 

LTI Plan 

For a description of the long-term incentive plan (“LTI Plan”) for the Chief Executive Officer, see 
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis – 2013 Executive Compensation.” 

401(k) Plan 

Eligible employee participants can make voluntary contributions to a qualified retirement plan with a 
401(k) feature (the "401(k) Plan") through payroll deductions.  Such contributions can be used by the 
participant to purchase interests in certain mutual funds or, before December 2009, shares of the Company's 
Common Stock. 

Each employee twenty-one years of age or older is eligible to participate in the 401(k) after 
completing three months of service.  There are currently approximately 2,900 employees of the Company who 
are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan.  Subject to compliance with certain nondiscrimination tests which 
limit contributions of or on behalf of "highly compensated employees" (as such term as defined in the federal 
tax laws), the participants may make an annual contribution equal to from 2% up to and including 100% of 
their salary compensation or $16,500 (whichever is less).  Additional "catch-up" contributions are permitted 
for participants who have attained age 50 during the plan year. 

Executive Health Care Plan 

The Company’s executive officers participate in a supplemental group medical plan which reimburses 
them for medical expenses not covered under the Company’s basic plan for an annual benefit of up to 
$100,000 per employee or family unit for unreimbursed medical expenses during a calendar year (subject to a 
$30,000 per occurrence limit).  Such medical expenses include deductibles, coinsurance, excess amounts up to 
the usual and customary prevailing health care charges, dental, orthodontic and vision care. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards At Fiscal Year-End 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding equity-based awards held by each of the 
Named Executive Officers as of April 1, 2012. 

 

 Option Awards   Stock Awards  

   Name     

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options  
Exercisable (#) 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Unexercisable (#) 

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Unearned 
Options (#) 

Option 
Exercise  
Price ($)

Option 
Expiration 

   Date   

Number of 
Shares or 
Units of 

Stock That 
Have Not 
Vested (#)

Market 
Value of 
Shares or 
Units of 

Stock That 
Have Not 
Vested ($) 

Equity 
Inventive Plan 

Awards: 
Number of 
Unearned 

Shares, Units 
or Other  

Rights That 
Have Not 
Vested (#) 

Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Awards: 
Market or 

Payout Value 
of Unearned 
Shares, Units 

or Other 
Rights That 

Have Not 
Vested ($) 

       (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i) (j) 
 
Craig L. Levra 

 
100,000 
225,000 

4,000 
 

 
-- 
-- 

16,000(2) 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

 
7.49 
2.10 
2.02 

 
3/31/16 
2/8/20 
4/4/21 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

Howard K. 
Kaminsky 
 

8,000 
10,000 
75,000 

2,000 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 

8,000(2) 
15,000(3) 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

3.62 
7.49 
2.10 
2.02 
1.38 

9/29/13 
3/31/16 
2/8/20 
4/4/21 
3/8/22 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

Dennis D. 
Trausch 
 

1,000 
3,125 
3,125 

87,001 
100,000 

2,000 
-- 

 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

8,000(2) 
15,000(3) 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.64 
6.35 
8.15 
1.71 
2.10 
2.02 
1.38 

9/25/13 
8/26/14 
6/28/15 
11/9/15 
2/8/20 
4/4/21 
3/8/22 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
 

Thomas H. 
Tennyson 
 

40,000 
75,000 

2,000 
-- 

 

10,000(1) 
-- 

8,000(2) 
15,000(3) 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

4.94 
2.10 
2.02 
1.38 

4/9/18 
2/8/20 
4/4/21 
3/8/22 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

Tim A. 
Anderson 

1,000 
3,125 
3,125 

54,126 
75,000 

2,000 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

8,000(2) 
15,000(3) 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.62 
6.35 
8.15 
1.71 
2.10 
2.02 
1.38 

9/29/13 
8/26/14 
6/28/15 
11/9/15 
2/8/20 
4/4/21 
3/8/22 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

______________________ 

(1) Such options first become exercisable in five equal annual installments on each of the first five anniversaries 
of the date of grant.  The grant date was April 9, 2008, and the remaining anniversary date is on April 9, 
2013. 

(2)  Such options first become exercisable in five equal annual installments on each of the first five anniversaries 
of the date of grant.  The grant date was April 4, 2011, and the remaining anniversary dates are on April 4, 
2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016. 

(3)  Such options first become exercisable in five equal annual installments on each of the first five anniversaries 
of the date of grant.  The grant date was March 8, 2012, and the remaining anniversary dates are on March 8, 
2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. 
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding exercises of options and vesting of 
restricted stock held by the Named Executive Officers during the year ended April 1, 2012. 

 
  Option Awards  

 
  Stock Awards

 

   Name    
Number of Shares  

Acquired on Exercise (#) 
Value Realized  

on Exercise ($)(1) 
Number of Shares 

Acquired on Vesting 
Value Realized  

on Vesting ($)(1) 
     
Craig L. Levra  --    --    -- -- 
Howard K. Kaminsky -- -- -- -- 
Dennis D. Trausch --   --   -- -- 
Thomas H. Tennyson -- -- -- -- 
Tim A. Anderson -- -- -- -- 
________________ 

(1) Value realized on exercise (or vesting) is calculated by (i) multiplying the number of shares acquired on exercise (or 
vesting) by (ii) the difference between the closing price on the exercise (or vesting) date and the exercise price, and 
does not reflect an actual sales price.  The actual value realized depends upon the number of shares actually sold by the 
Named Executive Officer, if any. 

Pension Benefits 

The table disclosing the actuarial present value of each Named Executive Officer's accumulated 
benefit under defined benefit plans, the number of years of credited service under each such plan, and the 
amount of pension benefits paid to each of the Named Executive Officers during the year is omitted because 
the Company does not have a defined benefit plan for Named Executive Officers. 

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation 

The table disclosing contributions to nonqualified defined contribution and other deferred 
compensation plans, each executive's withdrawals, earnings and fiscal year-end balances in those plans is 
omitted because the Company has no nonqualified deferred compensation plans or benefits for executive 
officers or other employees of the Company.   

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control 

The potential payments upon termination or change in control are governed by the Named Executive 
Officers' employment agreements (to the extent such officer has an agreement).  Each of Messrs. Levra, 
Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson has an employment agreement with the Company. 

Voluntary Termination 

The 2004 Plan and form of option agreement generally provides that if the executive's service is 
terminated for any reason except death or "total and permanent disability" (as defined in the 2004 Plan), then 
the vested options will expire at the earlier of the expiration date of the options or three months after the 
termination date, and any unvested options will expire on the termination date.  The Company has discretion to 
determine when the executive's service terminates for purposes of the 2004 Plan.   

Payment Upon Termination With Cause 

As provided above, under the 2004 Plan, any vested options will expire at the earlier of the expiration 
date of the options or three months after the termination date and any unvested options will expire on the 
termination date.  Under Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson's employment 
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agreements, upon termination with "cause" no further benefits will be payable to the executive officer upon 
such termination.  "Cause" under the employment agreements means (i) the commission of a material criminal 
act or any act of fraud or material dishonesty with respect to the Company; (ii) misconduct; (iii) material 
breach of the employment agreement; (iv) insubordination or refusal to perform his required duties; or (v) an 
order of a court, administrative board or judge, or regulatory authority which precludes the executive officer 
from performing his duties. 

Payment Upon Termination Without Cause 

As provided above, under the 2004 Plan, any vested options granted will expire at the earlier of the 
expiration date of the options or three months after the termination date and any unvested options will expire 
on the termination date.  Upon termination without cause, each of Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, 
Tennyson and Anderson will receive his base salary for 24 months, 12 months, six months, six months and six 
months, respectively, following termination, payable in a lump sum payment within 60 days of termination.  
Each of Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson will receive health care for himself and 
his family for the shorter of (a) 18 months, 12 months, six months, six months and six months, respectively, 
following termination, or (b) the date such executive officer becomes eligible for health care coverage under 
another employer, or (c) the date such executive officer becomes eligible for health care coverage under his 
spouse's employer.  If Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson or Anderson is terminated without cause 
after the end of the fiscal year but before payment of the bonus for that year, such executive officer will also be 
entitled to his accrued bonus for the previous fiscal year, if any.  These payments will be paid only upon the 
executive officer signing a severance agreement and release which will require the executive officer to release 
all claims against the Company before receiving such severance amounts.  In addition, these payments shall 
not constitute "excess parachute payments" under Section 280G of the Code.  If the auditors of the Company 
were to determine that they constitute "excess parachute payments," they would be reduced to the maximum 
amount payable without them constituting such. 

Payment Upon Termination by Executive for Good Reason 

As provided above, under the 2004 Plan, any vested options granted will expire at the earlier of the 
expiration date of the options or three months after the termination date, and any unvested options will expire 
on the termination date.  Upon termination by Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson or Anderson for 
“good reason,” such executive officer will receive his base salary for 24 months, 12 months, six months, six 
months and six months, respectively, following termination, payable in a lump sum payment within 60 days of 
termination.  These payments will be paid only upon the executive officer signing a severance agreement and 
release which will require the executive officer to release all claims against the Company before receiving such 
severance amounts.  "Good reason" under the employment agreements means (i) a significant reduction in the 
executive officer's authority or duties; (ii) a significant reduction in, or failure to pay, his base salary; or (iii) 
the exclusion of the executive officer from participation in compensation plans or fringe benefits otherwise 
available to Vice Presidents of the Company.  The executive officer has to send written notice to the Company 
within 90 days for it to constitute a good reason.  In addition, these payments shall not constitute "excess 
parachute payments" under Section 280G of the Code.  If the auditors of the Company were to determine that 
they constitute "excess parachute payments," they would be reduced to the maximum amount payable without 
them constituting such. 

Payment Upon Termination Due to Death or Disability 

The 2004 Plan and form of option agreement generally provides that if the executive dies or has “total 
or permanent disability” (as defined), any vested options will expire at the earlier of the expiration date or 12 
months after the termination date, and any unvested options will expire on the termination date.  As used in the 
2004 Plan "total or permanent disability" has the meaning set forth in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.   



 

 -49-  
   
 

Payment Upon  Change in Control 

Under the 2004 Plan, upon a change in control, the Committee may accelerate the vesting of all share-
based compensation granted to the executive.  A "change in control" means: 

• any merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity (or 
survives only as a subsidiary of another entity whose stockholders did not own all or 
substantially all of the Common Stock in substantially the same proportions as 
immediately before the transaction); 

• the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets; 

• the acquisition of beneficial ownership of a controlling interest of the outstanding 
shares of Common Stock of the Company by any person; 

• the dissolution or liquidation of the Company; 

• a contested election of directors which results in the directors before such election or 
their nominees ceasing to constitute a majority of the Board; or 

• any other event specified by the Board, regardless of whether at the time an award is 
granted or thereafter.  

Under the employment agreements, Messrs. Levra, Kaminsky, Trausch, Tennyson and Anderson are 
subject to non-competition clauses during the term of their employment, and are not permitted to disclose any 
confidential information or trade secrets of the Company, without prior written consent. 

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or a change in control of the 
Company for each of the Named Executive Officers assuming each of the Named Executive Officer's 
employment was terminated on April 1, 2012, and assuming that the change in control occurred at April 1, 
2012.  These disclosed amounts are estimates only and do not necessarily reflect the actual amounts that would 
be paid to the Named Executive Officers, which would only be known at the time they become eligible for 
such payments. 

         Name         

Voluntary 
Termination   

      ($)(1)      

Termination 
With Cause   
     ($)(1)     

Termination 
Without 

Cause ($)(1) 

 
Change in 

Control  
    ($)(4)     

Termination 
for Good 
Reason 
($)(1) 

Death 
($)(1)(2) 

Disability 
($)(1)(3) 

Craig L. Levra -- -- 760,000 950,000 760,000 15,000 228,000 

Howard K. Kaminsky -- -- 228,000 342,000 228,000 15,000 136,800 

Dennis D. Trausch -- -- 92,700 185,400 92,700 15,000 111,240 

Thomas H. Tennyson -- -- 147,500 295,000 147,500 15,000 177,000 

Tim A. Anderson -- -- 105,000 210,000 105,000 15,000 126,000 

_______________ 

(1) Includes the value of vested stock options as of April 1, 2012, calculated by multiplying the number of shares 
underlying vested options by the difference between the exercise price and the closing price of the Company’s  

(Footnotes continued on next page) 
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(Footnotes continued from prior page) 

Common Stock on April 1, 2012.  There were no vested options with a market price in excess of the exercise price at 
that date. 

(2) Represents the amount due from Company purchased life insurance. 

(3) The Company maintains long-term disability insurance which pays 60% of salary limited to $240,000 annually. 

(4) Includes the value of vested and unvested (a change in control accelerates vesting) stock options as of April 1, 2012, 
calculated by multiplying the number of shares underlying vested options by the difference between the exercise price 
and the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock on April 1, 2012.  There were no vested and unvested options 
with a market price in excess of the exercise price at that date. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information  

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to shares of Common Stock that may 
be issued under our equity compensation plans as of April 1, 2012. 

Plan Category 

Number of Securities to be 
Issued Upon Exercise of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights  

 
Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

 Number of Securities Remaining 
Available for Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities   

Reflected in Column (a)) 
 (a)  (b)  (c) 

Plans Approved by 
Stockholders 
     Class A 2,186,095 

 

$  2.42 618,480 (1) 

     Class B     35,251  $  6.42 618,480 (1) 

Plans Not Approved by 
Stockholders             -- 

 
         --       -- 

_______________ 

(1) At June 22, 2012, there were 618,480 shares of Common Stock available for issuance, which shares may be either Class A 
Common Stock or Class B Common Stock.   
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Representatives of Moss Adams LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm 
for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012, will be invited to be present at the Meeting, will have the opportunity to 
make a statement if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to appropriate questions from 
Stockholders. 

Audit Fees:  Fees for audit services totaled $188,128 in fiscal 2012 and $199,109 in fiscal 2011, 
including fees associated with the annual audit and the reviews of the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 
10-Q. 

Audit-Related Fees:  Fees for audit-related services totaled $16,173 in fiscal 2012 and $16,274 in 
fiscal 2011.  Audit-related services principally include benefit plan audits and accounting consultations. 

Tax Fees:  Fees for tax services, including tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning, totaled 
$36,850 in fiscal 2012 and $53,864 in fiscal 2011.   

All Other Fees:  There were no fees for other services in fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011. 

The Audit Committee administers the Company's engagement of Moss Adams LLP and pre-approves 
all audit and permissible non-audit services on a case-by-case basis.  In approving non-audit services, the 
Audit Committee considers whether the engagement could compromise the independence of Moss Adams 
LLP, and whether for reasons of efficiency or convenience it is in the best interest of the Company to engage 
its independent registered public accounting firm to perform the services.  The Audit Committee, in reliance on 
management and the independent registered public accounting firm, has determined that the provision of these 
services in fiscal 2012 was compatible with maintaining the independence of Moss Adams LLP. 

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves all independent registered public accounting 
firm services.  The fees are budgeted, and the Audit Committee requires the independent registered public 
accounting firm and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year by 
category of service.  During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the 
independent registered public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-
approval categories.  In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging 
the independent registered public accounting firm. 

The Audit Committee has delegated pre-approval authority to each of its members.  The member to 
whom such authority is delegated must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to 
the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. 

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2013 ANNUAL MEETING 

Under certain circumstances, stockholders are entitled to present proposals at stockholder meetings.   

SEC rules provide that any stockholder proposal to be included in the proxy statement for the 
Company's 2013 annual meeting must be received by the Secretary of the Company at the Company's office at 
One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, California  91011 on or before March 1, 2013, in a form that complies 
with applicable regulations.  If the date of the 2013 annual meeting is advanced or delayed more than 30 days 
from the date of the 2012 annual meeting, stockholder proposals intended to be included in the proxy statement 
for the 2013 annual meeting must be received by the Company within a reasonable time before the Company 
begins to print and mail the proxy statement for the 2013 annual meeting.  Upon any determination that the 
date of the 2013 annual meeting will be advanced or delayed by more than 30 days from the date of the 2012 
annual meeting, the Company will disclose the change in the earliest practicable Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q. 



 

 -52-  
   
 

SEC rules also govern a company's ability to use discretionary proxy authority with respect to 
stockholder proposals that were not submitted by the stockholders in time to be included in the proxy 
statement.  In the event a stockholder proposal is not submitted to the Company on or before May 15, 2013, 
the proxies solicited by the Board for the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders will confer authority on the 
proxyholders to vote the shares in accordance with the recommendations of the Board if the proposal is 
presented at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders without any discussion of the proposal in the proxy 
statement for such meeting.  If the date of the 2013 annual meeting is advanced or delayed more than 30 days 
from the date of the 2012 annual meeting, then the stockholder proposal must not have been submitted to the 
Company within a reasonable time before the Company mails the proxy statement for the 2013 annual 
meeting. 

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K 

A copy of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 1, 2012 
(excluding the exhibits thereto) as filed with the SEC, accompanies this Proxy Statement, but it is not deemed 
to be a part of the proxy soliciting material.  The Form 10-K contains consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the report thereon of Moss Adams LLP, the Company's independent 
registered public accounting firm. 

The Company will provide a copy of the exhibits to its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 1, 
2012 upon the written request of any beneficial owner of the Company's securities as of the Record Date and 
reimbursement of the Company's reasonable expenses.  Such request should be addressed to the Company c/o 
Howard K. Kaminsky, the Secretary of the Company, at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, California  
91011.  Exhibits are available at no charge on the SEC's website, www.sec.gov. 

 

STOCKHOLDERS ARE URGED IMMEDIATELY TO COMPLETE, DATE AND SIGN THE 
ENCLOSED PROXY CARD(S) AND RETURN IT (THEM) IN THE ENVELOPE PROVIDED, TO WHICH 
NO POSTAGE NEED BE AFFIXED IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES, OR TO VOTE BY 
TELEPHONE OR THE INTERNET. 

By Order of the Board of Directors, 
 
SPORT CHALET, INC. 
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Secretary 

La Cañada, California 
July 6, 2012 
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Our street address, One Sport Chalet Drive, La Canada, CA 91011, does not appear correctly 
on most Internet mapping tools.  If you need to map to the office via the Internet, use Angeles 
Crest Highway at Foothill Boulevard, La Canada, CA 91011 as the closest reference. 

Exit on Angeles Crest Highway, and turn south.  Turn left on Town Center Drive.  Turn left 
on Sport Chalet Drive.  For further information call the Sport Chalet corporate office at 
(818) 949-5300.  
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PART I 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include statements relating to 
trends in, or representing management’s beliefs about, our future strategies, operations and financial results, as well 
as other statements including words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “predict,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“project,” “will,” “could,” “may,” “might” or any variations of such words or other words with similar meanings. Forward-
looking statements are made based upon management’s current expectations and beliefs concerning trends and 
future developments and their potential effects on the Company.  You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements as predictions of actual results. These statements are not guarantees of future 
performance and involve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Further, certain forward-looking 
statements are based upon assumptions as to future events that may not prove to be accurate.  Actual results may 
differ materially from those suggested by forward-looking statements as a result of risks and uncertainties which are 
discussed in further detail under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”  We do not assume, and specifically disclaim, any obligation 
to update any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. 
 
ITEM 1.  BUSINESS 
 
General Overview 
 

Sport Chalet, Inc. (referred to as the “Company,” “Sport Chalet,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) is a leading 
operator of full-service, specialty sporting goods stores offering a broad assortment of brand name 
sporting goods equipment, apparel, and footwear.  Sport Chalet was founded in 1959 when Norbert 
Olberz purchased a small ski and tennis shop in La Cañada, California.  A focus on providing quality 
merchandise with outstanding customer service was the foundation of Norbert’s vision.  As a true pioneer 
in our industry, Norbert’s goal was to:   
 

• See things through the eyes of the customer; 

• Do a thousand things a little bit better; 

• Not be the biggest, but the best; 

• Be the image of the sportsperson; and 

• Create ease of shopping. 

 
As of April 1, 2012, the Company operated 54 stores, including 33 locations in Southern 

California, nine in Northern California, eight in Arizona, three in Nevada, and one in Utah, comprising a 
total of over two million square feet of retail space.  These stores average approximately 41,000 square 
feet in size.  In addition, we have a Team Sales Division and an online store at sportchalet.com.   

 
Originally the Company was incorporated in California, and we reincorporated as a Delaware 

corporation in 1992.  Our corporate office is located at One Sport Chalet Drive, La Cañada, California 
91011, and our telephone number is (818) 949-5300.  Our website is located at sportchalet.com.  
 
Business Strategy 
 

Our strategy is to be a leading specialty retailer of sporting goods by being first to market with 
performance, technology and lifestyle merchandise for the serious sports enthusiast.  We strive to 
enhance our customer’s shopping experience with a well-trained sales staff who earn recognition and 
advancement based on their demonstrated merchandise and specialty service knowledge.  This strategy 
is supported by our investments in technology and marketing to understand customer and merchandise 
behavior.  Through our customer relationship management program, Action Pass, we analyze members’ 
buying patterns by store and by season, including frequency and specialty services purchased.  In 
addition, as a direct result in our earlier investment in information technology, we are able to understand 
how each item we sell performs in every store, by size and by color.  We study our customers’ online 
behavior and how they use our website to learn more about the products and services we offer in our 
stores, as well as their online purchasing behavior.  This data helps us to understand our business within 
a diverse marketplace and to make more informed decisions relating to marketing, micro-merchandising 
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store assortments, employee staffing and training, and store location planning both on a short-term 
tactical basis as well as on a long-term strategic basis.  

  
Our stores are located in states that have experienced, since the downturn that began in 2008, the 

worst macroeconomic conditions in the nation, as evidenced by statistics including, but not limited to, high 
unemployment rates, foreclosure rates and bankruptcy filings.  As a result, our sales, which are largely 
dependent on the level of consumer spending in the geographic regions surrounding our stores, declined and 
we incurred substantial losses in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010.  During fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, we 
aggressively took action to modify our business model to make the Company more efficient, improve our 
liquidity and reduce operating expenses.  These efforts continued in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012, while at the 
same time, we reinforced our commitment to be first to market with performance, technology and lifestyle 
merchandise by expanding our specialty brands and continuing to emphasize the availability and proficiency of 
our sales staff while many of our competitors emphasized value pricing and severely reduced store staffing.  As 
a result of these efforts, we reduced our net loss for fiscal 2012 to $5.1 million, or $0.36 per diluted share, 
compared to net losses of $8.3 million, or $0.59 per diluted share, and $52.2 million, or $3.70 per diluted share, 
for fiscal years 2010 and 2009, respectively.  For fiscal 2012, our losses increased from a net loss of $3.0 
million, or $0.21 per diluted share, for fiscal 2011 primarily due to the unseasonably warm and dry winter 
weather experienced in the second half of fiscal 2012.  With a more normal winter, we believe the 
improvements we have made to our business over the past few years have positioned us to return to 
profitability for fiscal 2013.  Our comparable store sales, which declined significantly during fiscal 2009 and 
fiscal 2010, stabilized in the latter part of fiscal 2011 and in fiscal 2012.  In fiscal 2013, our comparable store 
sales increased 2.8% for the nine weeks ended June 3, 2012.  A store’s sales are included in the comparable 
store sales calculation in the quarter following its twelfth full month of operation.   

 
Stores 
 

Our growth historically focused on Southern California.  Commencing in 2001, we have 
expanded our scope to all of California and to Nevada, Arizona and Utah, as well as online.  Generally, 
our new stores were located with the intent of strengthening our focus on Southern California or in areas 
characterized by a large number of housing developments.  Between fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2009, we 
opened 15 stores, relocated one existing store and re-launched our website.  We did not open any new 
stores between fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2012 and currently do not anticipate opening new stores in fiscal 
2013.  We currently have plans to open one new store in our core Southern California market in early 
fiscal 2014.  
 

In refining our store strategy, we have identified underperforming trade areas within markets 
where we have stores.  We have established new store performance criteria and intend to replace 
underperforming trade area stores.  Our lease negotiations have provided increased flexibility in our 
efforts to replace underperforming stores, and we intend to renegotiate, close and relocate stores that do 
not meet specific financial criteria as their leases terminate.   

 
The following table summarizes our lease expirations for our 54 stores as of April 1, 2012: 
 

Less than More than 
Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years

Expiration 44 3 17 11 13
Kick-out clause (2) 10 8 2 - -
Total lease expirations 54 11 19 11 13

(1)  The earlier date of lease expration or kick-out clause w here applicable.

Lease expirations by period (1)

(2)  A clause that allow s us to terminate the lease at our option at a specif ied date if  contractually 
specif ied minimum sales volumes are not exceeded.

 
 Historically, store openings have had a favorable impact on sales volume, but have negatively 
affected profit in the short term.  New stores tend to have higher costs in the early years of operation, due 
primarily to increased promotional costs and lower sales on a per employee basis until the store matures.  
As the store matures, sales tend to level off and expenses decline as a percentage of sales.  We believe 
our stores historically have required three to four years to attract a stable, mature customer base; but, 
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because of our relatively low number of stores and changing economic conditions, reliable statistical 
trends are not available and there can be no assurance that our newer stores will mature at that rate.   

 
Our typical store is 42,000 square feet in size and showcases every merchandise and service 

category with the feel of a specialty shop all contained under one roof.  The full-service approach to 
customer service and merchandise knowledge is enhanced by fixtures which feature specific technical, 
performance and lifestyle brands.  Each shop is staffed by trained sales associates with expertise in the 
merchandise they sell, permitting us to offer our customers a high level of merchandise knowledge and 
service from the beginner to the advanced sports enthusiast. 

 
Our typical format boasts a natural and outdoor-feel color scheme, clear-coated fixtures, 30-foot 

clear ceilings, large sport-specific graphics, a training pool for Scuba and water sports instruction and 
demonstrations, and a 100 foot shoe wall, among other features.  For both new stores and remodels, we 
continually evaluate and update our format, fixtures and merchandise to remain competitive.  We have 
taken advantage of unusual building layouts in the past and when appropriate may do so in the future.  
We evaluate stores for remodel based on each store’s age and competitive situation, as well as how 
much the landlord will contribute to our required improvements. Future store remodeling plans will 
depend upon several factors, including general economic conditions, competitive trends and the 
availability of capital. 

 
Our stores offer over 50 specialty services for the sports enthusiast, including climbing, 

backcountry skiing, ski mountaineering, avalanche education, and mountain trekking instruction, car rack 
installation, snowboard and ski rental and repair, Scuba training and certification, Scuba boat charters, 
team sales, custom golf club fitting, racquet stringing, and bicycle tune-up and repair.  Although the 
revenues generated by these specialty services are not material, these services further differentiate us 
from our competitors.  Generally, our stores are open seven days a week, typically from 9:30 a.m. to 9:30 
p.m. Monday through Friday, 9:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Saturday, and 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on Sunday. 
 
Merchandising 

 
Our merchandise feature a number of distinct, specialty sports and lifestyle categories, offering a 

large assortment of quality brand name merchandise at competitive prices.  The assortment includes 
traditional sporting goods merchandise (e.g., footwear, apparel and other general athletic merchandise) 
and core specialty merchandise such as snowboarding, skateboarding, mountaineering and Scuba.  Our 
strategy of being first to market with performance, technology and lifestyle merchandise appeals to both 
beginner and expert users.  Using our investments in technology, we tailor each store’s merchandise mix 
to appeal to our customers in each market.  As we continue to micro-merchandise each store to best 
reflect the local consumer’s needs and preferences with our expanding assortment of specialty brands, 
our goal is to leverage each store’s strengths by expanding and clarifying the presentation of 
merchandise categories in which a particular store excels by adjusting assortment plans, inventory levels 
and space allocation.  We leverage our investment in technology to minimize aged inventory and 
therefore produce what we believe is one of the freshest assortments of any specialty retailer in the 
nation. The ability to successfully sell this merchandise relies on our highly trained sales staff, known as 
Sport Chalet “Experts,” and therefore we employ ongoing year-round training focused on all the technical 
merchandise and services we offer.  

 
The following table summarizes sales of our merchandise assortment of hardlines, which are 

durable items, and softlines, which are non-durable items such as apparel and footwear, as a percentage 
of total net sales for each of the last three fiscal years: 

 

2012 2011 2010
Hardlines 55% 53% 53% 
Apparel 25% 26% 26% 

Footwear 20% 21% 21% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 

Fiscal year
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Online Division 
 
 In 2009, we re-launched our website at sportchalet.com, providing a fully integrated online and in-
store shopping experience for customers.  We significantly enhanced our online presence with a 
complete redesign of sportchalet.com and initiatives focused on driving consumers to the new website 
and building ongoing relationships with our Action Pass customers (see “Marketing and Advertising”).  
The site is managed by Sport Chalet employees and displays the complete selection of merchandise 
available in Sport Chalet stores.  The site also presents information about the specialty services available 
both in our stores as well as offsite locations and provides merchandise selection tools, advice and 
community sharing technologies.  In developing this online strategy, we leveraged our significant 
investments in infrastructure and systems and also partnered with leading technology providers.  
 

We are focused on our online business as a key component of our long-term strategy of 
expanding our geographic reach.  We leverage online sales information to improve the micro-
merchandising of our stores and to help determine potential trade areas.  To improve the functionality and 
efficiency of our online business, we are focused on initiatives (detailed below) that are designed to 
increase site traffic/conversion and enrich the site experience.  In fiscal 2012, we launched a 
merchandise recommendation engine, a post-purchase ratings and reviews program, and invested in 
natural search engine optimization.  We are in the process of adding vendor drop shipping of expanded 
product assortments, a social media communication strategy to engage the online community, and site 
regionalization/personalization technology to customize the site experience.   

 
Brand Shops - We continue to emphasize the importance and relevancy of our 
merchandise and service offerings by presenting our assortments within vendor brand 
shops.  Because we offer no private label merchandise, these shops allow us to present 
the technology and design efforts inherent in the high end technical product we feature.  
In addition, we offer athlete and Expert testimonial and advice about the products and 
services we offer.  We believe this feature makes us unique and differentiated.  
 
Recommendation Engine - The use of sophisticated algorithms to recommend 
merchandise using customers’ profiles, behavior and activity history allow us to increase 
site conversion and average order size. Further optimization of the business rules will 
result in incremental site performance. 
 
Ratings and Reviews - The expansion of the ratings and reviews technology to enable 
the syndication of reviews from partner sites and the solicitation of reviews from 
customers who have purchased in the stores will further improve “engagement” on the 
site, contributing to the growth in conversion. 
 
Search Engine Optimization - SEO initiatives have included improving the accessibility of 
the site by search engines and improving site content. Recent changes in search engine 
logic has also led to the development of “local search optimization” around the stores and 
a focus on rich and original shareable content.  
 
Drop Shipping - The drop shipping program will allow access to expanded inventories 
from in-line vendors.  Additionally, strategic partnerships are being developed with 
partners who offer deep selections of products in sporting goods related categories. 
These expanded offerings will be made available to in-store shoppers using currently 
installed systems. 
 
Social Media - A revamped blog site and enhanced social media program will leverage 
our “Experts” as well as guest bloggers from within the sporting goods industry to 
promote the authenticity of our brand.  
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Site Optimization and Personalization - The implementation of a testing and dynamic 
merchandising tool allow us to customize the website experience by shopper and region 
and optimize key parts of the site. We will have the ability to feature seasonal and 
weather relevant merchandise by region within and outside our store market areas.    

  
Purchases made online are shipped from the distribution center or our stores, leveraging our 

inventory investment.  Additionally, items in any store are available for direct shipping to the customer at 
any other store, their home or business.  Our website supports the redemption of the same gift cards and 
Action Pass rewards as may be redeemed in our stores.    
 

Prior to the re-launch of our website, Sport Chalet had an online store that was operated and 
managed by GSI Commerce, Inc. from 1999 until December 2008.  Sport Chalet received a license fee 
based on a percentage of sales generated by the website.  The licensing fee was not material to total 
revenues. 
 
Team Sales Division 
 
 We operate our Team Sales Division in our facility located in Van Nuys, California.  Team Sales 
serves as a full-service, vertically integrated team dealer offering in-house embellishment, silk screen, 
embroidery and custom art work on uniforms, footwear and equipment for any sport.  The Team Sales 
customer base is generally comprised of universities, high schools, athletic teams, youth sports leagues, 
booster clubs and recreational organizations, primarily for football and baseball.  We utilize a traveling 
commissioned sales force to serve our customers.  Team Sales offers a unique added value by 
establishing an early relationship between our customers at all skill levels and ages and our Sport Chalet 
brand and retail stores.  
 

With our large assortment of first to market performance, technical and lifestyle merchandise in 
our retail stores, we are able to attract the highest caliber of athletes and aspirational participants into our 
stores.  Many of these same customers compete in organized team sports activities at a very competitive 
level, frequently in gear furnished by our Team Sales Division.  In order to further integrate our reporting, 
inventory and accounts receivable management, and marketing, we added software to Team Sales in 
March 2012, creating a fully integrated Company.  As a result of our size and number of retail locations, 
we believe no team dealer in the country has the resources we possess to be able to integrate retail and 
team at all levels, including shared inventory availability on an instant basis, utilization of retail stores for 
team activities, events and clinics, further integration of our Action Pass customer relationship 
management program to reward our best customers at both team and retail, and the ability to custom 
produce embellished products for individual customers at the highest level of quality for any sport.  
 

In addition, with our major athletic brands’ focus on attracting high school athletes, we are 
recognized by our vendors as a retailer that speaks to our customer base in a strong and compelling 
fashion,  with real authenticity, a real voice, creating top of mind awareness, and further marketing and 
merchandising synergistic opportunities.    
 
Marketing and Advertising 
 
 Historically, we have generated our marketing and advertising campaigns in-house, with 
production support from outside vendors as needed.  The campaigns are designed to reflect our strategic 
direction through our brand and merchandise offerings, as well as communicate a focused and consistent 
theme/event calendar through media including email, the internet, special events, direct mail, radio and 
magazines.  Our marketing leverage has been boosted by vendor payments under cooperative marketing 
arrangements as well as vendor participation in sponsoring events, clinics and athletes’ appearances.  
We are not obligated to long-term advertising schedules, which can be expensive, and we believe this to 
be a more efficient way to use vendor support.  In 2009, we significantly enhanced our online presence 
with a complete redesign of sportchalet.com and new initiatives focused on driving consumers to the new 
website and building ongoing relationships with our Action Pass customers.  We also seek to strengthen 
our position as a leading sporting goods retailer in our markets through high-profile sponsorships with 
teams and organizations such as the University of Southern California, San Diego State University, 
Arizona State University, San Jose State University, the Phoenix Suns, and the Challenged Athletes 



 

 -6-

Foundation, while raising our profile in communities where we do business with contributions to local 
teams and leagues through our Team Sales Division.  
  

The launch of the new sportchalet.com in 2009 marked the introduction of an online strategy to 
better connect with our customers, capture additional market share through an online and in-store 
shopping experience, and raise familiarity with Sport Chalet.  As traditional forms of media become less 
relevant and effective, this platform has allowed us to leverage our vendors’ creative resources and web-
ready content to our advantage.  Unlike traditional media, there is less lead time involved and a social 
connection can be established with customers, similar to the in-store experience.  By internally managing 
the website, we are able to better control merchandise assortments, specialty services featured and 
branding opportunities offered.  The new site is supported with a program of online ads combined with 
search engine marketing and optimization to build awareness of Sport Chalet with online shoppers, 
especially around key promotional periods.  
  
 Our customer relationship management program, Action Pass, continues to grow following its 
rollout in 2007, now with over 1.7 million members, whose purchases represent over half of all our sales.  
In addition to earning points for each purchase redeemable towards future purchases, Action Pass 
members have access to exclusive merchandise, appearances by athletes, trips and specialty services 
related to their particular sporting interest.  The program allows us to develop marketing vehicles targeted 
at specific customer segments to create excitement around merchandise launches, new technologies and 
new services.  We are forming stronger relationships with our customers as we actively solicit Action 
Pass members’ feedback regarding their decision to shop at Sport Chalet and perceptions of our store 
environment, merchandise selection, and pricing.  This allows us to understand our customers’ 
purchasing habits and shopping carts.  We use this information to respond to our customers’ shopping 
preferences and patterns with continuous improvement in merchandise assortments, category 
adjacencies and other marketing initiatives across our entire network of stores.   
 
Purchasing and Distribution 
 

In order to provide a full line of specialty and sporting goods brands and a wide selection, we 
purchase merchandise from approximately 1,000 vendors.  Vendor payment terms typically range from 
30 to 150 days, and occasionally up to 720 days, from our receipt, and there are no long-term purchase 
commitments.  Our largest vendor, Nike, Inc., accounted for approximately 11% of our total inventory 
purchases in fiscal 2012, slightly higher than fiscal 2011, and our ten largest vendors collectively 
accounted for approximately 40% of our total purchases during fiscal 2012. 

 
We have made significant investments in the management of our purchasing and distribution 

systems, which provide us and our key merchandise suppliers with sell through information by individual 
item size, color, and store so that together we can better forecast our inventory needs and refine our 
assortments by store.  For merchandise planning and allocation, we use software that includes 
merchandise planning, open-to-buy management, performance analysis and allocation.  We allocate 
merchandise to our stores based on trends and statistical modeling and attempt to optimize store 
assortments and merchandise allocations and maximize flow-through at our distribution center.  For 
replenishment, we use a system that consists of three modules: (i) warehouse replenishment, which 
manages purchases from vendors, (ii) store replenishment, which manages shipments from the 
warehouse to stores, and (iii) network optimization, which synchronizes the two systems.  In addition, we 
use seasonal profile software to help identify, create and manage the seasonal trends of our 
merchandise.  In the event we do not stock a particular item in a store, we have software that allows us to 
quickly find the item in another location, including our distribution center, and complete the sale by 
accepting payment from the customer and shipping merchandise from the most optimal location to the 
customer’s preferred destination.  

 
We operate one distribution center, a 326,000 square foot facility located in Ontario, California.  

The distribution center serves as the primary receiving, distribution and warehousing facility.  A minimal 
amount of merchandise is shipped directly by vendors to our stores.  Most of the merchandise received at 
the distribution center is processed by unpacking and verifying the contents received and then sorting the 
contents by store for delivery.  Some of the merchandise received at the distribution center is pre-
packaged and pre-ticketed by the vendor so it can be immediately cross-docked to trucks bound for the 
stores.  Due to the efficiencies cross-docking creates, we encourage vendors to pre-package their 
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merchandise in a floor-ready manner.  Some of the merchandise is held at the distribution center for 
future allocation to the stores based on current sales trends as directed by our computerized 
replenishment and allocation systems to optimize inventory levels.  We believe that the advantages of a 
single distribution center include reduced individual store inventory levels and better use of store floor 
space, timely inventory replenishment of store inventory needs, consolidated vendor returns, and reduced 
transportation costs.  Common carriers deliver merchandise to our stores. 
 
Seasonality 
 

The market for retail sporting goods is seasonal in nature.  As with many other retailers, our business is 
heavily affected by sales of merchandise during the holiday season.  In addition, we have a reputation as a 
leading specialty winter merchandise retailer and our merchandise mix has historically emphasized winter-
sports related merchandise.  This positioning makes us more dependent upon winter business and the amount 
of snowfall at the resorts most frequented by our customers. We attempt to respond to changes in mid-season 
weather by maintaining flexibility in merchandise placement at the stores and the marketing of merchandise 
offerings.  In recent years, our fiscal third quarter, which includes the holiday season, represented 
approximately 30% of our annual sales.  Winter-related merchandise and services represent approximately 
15% of our annual sales and have ranged from approximately 15% to 25% of sales in our fiscal fourth quarter.  
We anticipate this seasonal trend in sales will continue.  See “Item 1A. Risk Factors – Seasonal fluctuations in 
the sales of sporting goods could cause our annual operating results to suffer” and “Note 9. Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements – Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited).” 

 
Industry and Competition 
 

The market for retail sporting goods is highly competitive, fragmented and segmented. We 
compete with a variety of other retailers, including the following:   

 
• specialty stores and independent dealers; 

• internet retailers and catalog merchandisers; 

• high end department stores; 

• vendor owned stores; 

• mass merchandisers and discount stores; and 

• big box sporting goods chains. 

 
Competitors may have greater financial resources than we do, or better name recognition in 

regions into which we currently operate or might seek to expand and may continue to actively open stores 
in our markets.  Specialty retailers often have the advantage of a lower cost structure and a smaller 
footprint that can be located in shopping centers and strip malls, offering more customer convenience.  
Internet retailers often have sales tax advantages and high end department stores often sell performance 
and lifestyle merchandise similar to ours.  We also compete with merchandise vendors who sell direct to 
customers online or in store and big box sporting goods chains with more purchasing power, but with less 
emphasis on customer service and specialty services, which often choose to compete on price.   

 
We have distinguished ourselves from our competitors by our emphasis on customer service and 

specialty services, and by providing a broader selection of higher-end specialty items that require such 
service and expertise.  Our focus on specialty services gives us the ability to offer leading specialty 
brands across all categories and activities which reinforces our commitment to be first to market with 
performance, technology and lifestyle merchandise.  We believe that our broad selection of high quality 
name brands and numerous specialty items at competitive prices, showcased by our well-trained sales 
staff, differentiates us from all of our competitors.   
 
Fiscal Year 
 
 Our fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks, ends on the Sunday nearest to the last day of March 
and is named for the calendar year ending closest to that date.  Fiscal 2011 was a 53 week year and thus 
included one extra week in the fourth quarter and ended on April 3, 2011.  As a result of the extra week in 
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fiscal 2011, the fiscal quarters of 2012 may not compare to the fiscal 2011.  A store’s sales are included 
in the comparable store sales calculation in the quarter following its twelfth full month of operation.  The 
comparable store sales calculation for fiscal 2011 is on a 52 week basis.  
 
Trademarks and Trade Names 

 
We use the “Sport Chalet” name as a service mark in connection with our business operations.  

We have registered “Sport Chalet” as a federal service mark with the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office, along with the mark “Action Pass,” among others.  We also own additional common 
law trademarks and service marks which are used in commerce without dispute.   
 
Employees 
 
 As of April 1, 2012, we had a total of approximately 2,900 full and part-time employees, 2,600 of 
whom were employed in our stores and 300 of whom were employed in warehouse and delivery 
operations or in corporate office positions.  The decrease compared to last year’s total of approximately 
3,100 full and part-time employees is due to a decrease of those employed in our stores primarily to align 
to the lower sales trends as a result of the unseasonably warm and dry winter weather as well as a store 
closure.  None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.  We operate with an 
open door policy and encourage and welcome the communication of our employees’ ideas, suggestions 
and concerns and believe this contributes to our strong employee relations.  Generally, each store 
employs a general manager, two to three assistant managers, who along with supervisors and 
department heads oversee the sales associates in customer service, merchandising, and operations. 
Additional part-time employees are typically hired during the holiday and other peak seasons.  
  
 We are committed to the growth and training of our employees in order to provide “Experts” in 
merchandise knowledge and service to our customers.  We conduct specialty universities, consisting of 
off-site technical training and merchandise demonstrations provided by our vendors for our employees.  
All of these universities are recorded for follow-up training online, and we continuously provide individual 
category training on an individual store basis.  This training prepares our employees to become certified 
in particular sports or activities, while at the same time reducing employee turnover.  In addition, our 
“Certified Expert” program encourages employees to attend merchandise-line-specific clinics and receive 
hands-on training to improve technical merchandise and service expertise.  Only after completing all of 
the clinics and training and passing specific tests, may an associate be considered a Certified Expert. 
Certified Expert certification is offered in 20 different service disciplines and is a requirement for new 
associates in their areas of expertise.  Being knowledgeable and informed allows our work force to meet 
our customer's needs and enhance their shopping experience. 
 
Additional Information  

 
The Company makes available free of charge through our website, sportchalet.com, our Annual 

Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments 
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
soon as reasonably practicable after those reports are filed with or furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  

 
The public may read any of the items we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room 

at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.  The public may obtain information about the operation of 
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  The SEC also maintains an Internet 
site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding the 
Company and other issuers that file electronically with the SEC at sec.gov. 
 
ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS 
 
 Our short-term and long-term success is subject to many factors that are beyond our control.  
Stockholders and prospective stockholders in the Company should consider carefully the following risk 
factors, in addition to the information contained in this report.  This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains 
forward-looking statements, which are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties.  Our actual results 
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could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various 
factors including those set forth below. 

 
We have a history of losses which could continue in the future. 
 
We have reported losses for each of the last five fiscal years and have an accumulated deficit of 

$18.9 million as of April 1, 2012.  For fiscal 2012, our losses increased from fiscal 2011 primarily due to 
the unseasonably warm and dry winter weather experienced in the second half of fiscal 2012.  There can 
be no assurance that we will report net income in any future period. 

 
A downturn in the economy has affected consumer purchases of discretionary items, 

significantly reducing our net sales and profitability.   
  
 The retail industry historically has been subject to substantial cyclical variations. The 
merchandise sold by us is generally a discretionary expense for our customers.  The current downturn in 
the general economy and uncertainties regarding future economic prospects that affect consumer 
spending habits are having, and are likely to continue for some time to have, a materially adverse effect 
on our results of operations.  We have sustained operating losses and negative comparable store sales 
for the past five fiscal years.  There can be no assurance that we will report net income in any future 
period or that comparable store sales will improve. 

 
The limited availability under our revolving credit facility may result in insufficient working 

capital.  
 

Our revolving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. (the “Lender”) provides for advances up to 
$65.0 million, increasing to $70.0 million from September 1st of each year through December 31st of each 
year.  The amount we may borrow under this credit facility is limited to a percentage of the value of 
accounts receivable and eligible inventory, minus certain reserves.  A significant decrease in eligible 
inventory due to our vendors’ unwillingness to ship us merchandise, the aging of inventory and/or an 
unfavorable inventory appraisal could have an adverse effect on our borrowing capacity under our credit 
facility, which may adversely affect the adequacy of our working capital.  Also we are subject to, among 
others, a covenant that we maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (replacing a previous EBITDA 
covenant) measured monthly on a trailing 12-month basis between 0.80 to 1.00 and 1.25 to 1.00 (varying 
from quarter to quarter).  The covenant would only apply if our availability falls below specified amounts.  
In the event of a significant decrease in availability under our credit facility, it is highly likely that the 
covenant would be violated and we may have insufficient working capital to continue to operate our 
business as it has been operated, or at all.  There can be no assurance that there will not be an event of 
default, and additional financing may not be available at terms acceptable to us, or at all.   
 

In fiscal 2012, our peak borrowing occurred during the week ended December 11, 2011, at which 
time our credit facility had a borrowing capacity of $70.0 million, of which we utilized $52.7 million 
(including a letter of credit of $2.6 million) and had $17.3 million in availability.  On April 1, 2012, our credit 
facility had a borrowing capacity of $59.5 million, of which we utilized $43.9 million (including a letter of 
credit of $2.6 million) and had $15.6 million in availability, $9.6 million above the availability requirement 
of $6.0 million. 

 
If cash generated by operations does not result in a sufficient level of unused borrowing capacity, 

our current operations could be constrained by our ability to obtain funds under the terms of our revolving 
credit facility.  In such a case, we would need to seek other financing alternatives with our bank or other 
sources.  Additional financing may not be available at terms acceptable to us, or at all.  Failure to obtain 
financing in such circumstances may require us to significantly curtail our operations. 

 
If our vendors do not provide sufficient quantities of merchandise, our net sales may 

suffer and hinder our return to profitability.  
 
 We purchase merchandise from approximately 1,000 vendors.  One vendor accounted for 
approximately 11% of our total inventory purchases for fiscal 2012, and our ten largest vendors 
collectively accounted for approximately 40% of our total purchases during fiscal 2012.  Our dependence 
on principal vendors involves risk.  If there is a disruption in supply from a principal vendor for any reason, 
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including concern over our financial condition or vendor supply chain issues, we may be unable to obtain 
merchandise that we desire to sell and that consumers desire to purchase.  A vendor could discontinue 
selling merchandise to us at any time for reasons that may or may not be within our control.  Our net 
sales may decline and hinder our return to profitability if we are unable to promptly replace a vendor who 
is unwilling or unable to satisfy our requirements with a vendor providing equally appealing merchandise.  
Moreover, many of our vendors provide us with incentives, such as return privileges, volume purchase 
allowances and cooperative marketing arrangements.  A decline in or discontinuation of these incentives 
could also negatively impact our results of operations.  
 

If we are unable to effectively manage and expand our alliances and relationships with 
selected suppliers of brand name merchandise, we may be unable to effectively execute our 
strategy to differentiate ourselves from our competitors.  
 

As part of our focus on merchandise differentiation, we have formed strategic alliances and 
exclusive relationships with selected suppliers to market merchandise under a variety of well-recognized 
brand names. If we are unable to manage and expand these alliances and relationships or identify 
alternative sources for comparable merchandise, we may not be able to effectively execute our 
merchandise differentiation strategy.  Additionally, consumers may not identify us as a source for these 
leading brands.   

 
Intense competition in the sporting goods industry could limit our growth and reduce our 

profitability.   
 

The sporting goods business and the retail environment are highly competitive, and we compete 
with specialty stores and independent dealers, internet retailers and catalog merchandisers, high end 
department stores, vendor owned stores, mass merchandisers and discount stores, and big box sporting 
goods chains.  A number of our competitors are larger, have greater financial resources, and have better 
name recognition in regions into which we currently operate or might seek to expand.  No assurance can 
be given that as our competitors continue to actively open stores in our markets, we will be able to 
continue to improve our business and return to profitability.  

 
Because our stores are concentrated in the western portion of the United States, we are 

subject to regional risks.   
 

Currently, most of our stores are located in Southern California and the remaining stores are 
located in Northern California, Nevada, Arizona and Utah.  Accordingly, we are subject to regional risks, 
such as the economy, weather conditions, natural disasters and government regulations.  When the 
region suffers an economic downturn, such as the declines in 2008 in the housing and credit markets, 
increased unemployment and bankruptcies, which have been strongly felt in California, Arizona and 
Nevada, or when other adverse events occur, historically there has been an adverse effect on our sales 
and profitability.  In addition, many of our vendors rely on the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach to 
process our shipments.  Any disruption or congestion at the ports could impair our ability to adequately 
stock our stores. Several of our competitors operate stores across the United States and, thus, are not as 
vulnerable to such regional risks. 

 
If we are unable to predict or react to changes in consumer demand, we may lose 

customers and our sales may decline.   
 
If we fail to anticipate changes in consumer preferences, we will experience lower net sales, 

higher inventory markdowns and lower margins.  Merchandise may or may not appeal to a broad range of 
consumers whose preferences cannot be predicted with certainty. These preferences are also subject to 
change.  Specialty sporting goods are often subject to short-lived trends, such as the short-lived 
popularity of wheeled footwear.  Apparel is significantly influenced by the latest fashion trends and styles.  
Our success depends upon the ability to anticipate and respond in a timely manner to trends in specialty 
merchandise and consumers’ participation in sports on an individual market basis. Failure to identify and 
respond to these changes may cause net sales to decline. In addition, because we generally make 
commitments to purchase merchandise from vendors up to nine months in advance of the proposed 
delivery, misjudging the market may cause us to over-stock unpopular merchandise and force inventory 
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markdowns that could have a negative impact on profitability, or cause us to have insufficient inventory of 
a popular item that can be sold at full markup.   

 
Our future operations may be dependent on the availability of additional financing.   

 
We may not be able to fund our future operations or react to competitive pressures if we lack 

sufficient funds.  Unexpected conditions could cause us to be in violation of our Lender’s operating 
covenants as occurred in fiscal 2009.  We cannot be certain that additional financing will be available in 
the future if necessary. 

 
 Seasonal fluctuations in the sales of our merchandise and services could cause our 
annual operating results to suffer.   
 
 Our sales volume increases significantly during the holiday season as is typical with other 
retailers.  In addition, our merchandise mix has historically emphasized winter-sports related 
merchandise increasing the seasonality of our business.  This positioning does make us more dependent 
upon winter business and the amount of snowfall at the resorts most frequented by our customers.  In 
recent years, our fiscal third quarter, which includes the holiday season, represented approximately 30% 
of our annual sales.  Winter-related merchandise and services represent approximately 15% of our 
annual sales and have ranged from approximately 15% to 25% of sales in our fiscal fourth quarter.  We 
anticipate this seasonal trend in sales will continue.  The operating results historically have been 
influenced by the amount and timing of snowfall at the resorts most frequented by our customers.  An 
early snowfall often has influenced sales because it generally extends the demand for winter apparel and 
equipment, while a late snowfall may have the opposite effect.  Ski and snowboard vendors require us to 
make commitments for purchases of apparel and equipment by early spring for fall delivery, and only 
limited quantities of merchandise can be reordered during the fall.  Consequently, we place our orders in 
the spring anticipating snowfall in the winter.  If the snowfall does not at least provide an adequate base 
or occurs late in the season, or if sales do not meet projections, we may be required to mark down our 
winter apparel and equipment.  

 
If we lose key management or are unable to attract and retain talent, our operating results 

could suffer.   
 
We depend on the continued service of our senior management.  The loss of the services of any 

key employee could hurt our business.  Also, our future success depends on our ability to identify, attract, 
hire, train and motivate other highly skilled personnel.  Failure to do so may adversely affect future 
results. 
  

Declines in the effectiveness of marketing could cause our operating results to suffer.  
 
 Our marketing campaigns are focused on the internet, email, direct mail, sports sponsorships, 
radio and magazines.  Also our marketing leverage has been boosted by vendor payments under 
cooperative marketing arrangements as well as vendor participation in sponsoring events, clinics and 
athletes’ appearances.  Our recent strategy shift significantly enhanced our online presence with a 
complete redesign of sportchalet.com and new initiatives focused on driving consumers to the new 
website and building ongoing relationships with our Action Pass customers.  We are directly marketing to 
individual customers based on their personal shopping information through the customer relationship 
program.  No assurance can be given that our shift in marketing strategy will be successful in connecting 
with our customers, capturing additional market share through a fully integrated online and in-store 
shopping experience, and raising familiarity with Sport Chalet.  We are relatively new to and have fewer 
resources than our competitors in the online arena, and our results may not meet our expectations.  In 
addition, no assurance can be given that what we learn from our Action Pass members about their 
shopping preferences and patterns will increase our ability to apply this learning to decisions about 
assortments, category adjacencies, and other marketing initiatives across our entire network of stores.   
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Problems with our information systems could disrupt our operations and negatively 
impact our financial results.   

 
Our ability to successfully manage inventory levels and our centralized distribution system largely 

depends upon the efficient operation of our computer hardware and software systems.  We use 
management information systems to track inventory information at the store level, replenish inventory 
from our warehouse, and aggregate daily sales information, among other things.  These systems and our 
operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from:  

 
• earthquake, fire, flood and other natural disasters;  

• power loss, computer systems failures, internet and telecommunications or data network 
failure, operator negligence, improper operation by or supervision of employees, physical and 
electronic loss of data and similar events; and  

• computer viruses, penetration by hackers seeking to disrupt operations or misappropriate 
information and other breaches of security.  

 
Any failure that causes an interruption in our operations or a decrease in inventory tracking could 

result in reduced net sales.  
 

 Failure to protect the integrity and security of our customers’ information could expose us 
to litigation and materially damage our standing with our customers. 
  

The increasing costs associated with information security, such as increased investment in 
technology, the costs of compliance with consumer protection laws and costs resulting from consumer 
fraud, could cause our business and results of operations to suffer materially.  While we are taking 
significant steps to protect customer and confidential information, there can be no assurance that 
advances in computer capabilities or other developments will prevent the compromise of our customer 
transaction processing capabilities and personal data.  More specifically, as Action Pass, our customer 
relationship management program, continues to grow, our exposure and risk increase as well.  If any 
such compromise of our information security were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
reputation, business, operating results and financial condition and may increase the costs we incur to 
protect against such information security breaches. 
 

We may not be able to renew the leases of existing store locations.  
 
We may not be able to renew the leases of existing store locations on our current lease terms.  

No assurance can be given that our future lease renewals will not be less favorable than the current lease 
terms. Many factors including, but not limited to, our history of losses and financial condition, may prevent 
us from renewing the leases of existing store locations on the current lease terms or at all.  We may be 
unable to agree on the terms of a lease renewal with our landlords, which could materially adversely 
affect our operating results. 

 
As a result of the current economic downturn, we have delayed opening new stores.  

Continued growth is uncertain and subject to numerous risks. 
 

Since our inception, we have experienced periods of rapid growth.  No assurance can be given 
that we will be successful in maintaining or increasing our sales in the future.  Any future growth in sales 
will require additional working capital and may place a significant strain on our management, information 
systems, inventory management, and distribution facilities.  Any failure to timely enhance our operating 
systems, or unexpected difficulties in implementing such enhancements, could have a material adverse 
effect on our results of operations. 
 

In addition, growth may partially depend on a strategy of opening new, profitable stores in 
existing markets and in new regional markets.  The ability to successfully implement this growth strategy 
could be negatively affected by any of the following:  

 
• suitable sites may not be available for leasing;   
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• we may not be able to negotiate acceptable lease terms;   

• we might not be able to hire and retain qualified store personnel; and   

• we might not have the financial resources necessary to fund our expansion plans. 

 
We face additional challenges in entering new markets, including consumers’ lack of awareness 

of the Company, difficulties in hiring personnel, cannibalization of our existing stores’ sales and problems 
due to our unfamiliarity with local real estate markets and demographics. New markets may also have 
different competitive conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns than our existing 
markets. To the extent that we are not able to meet these new challenges, sales could decrease and 
operating costs could increase. Furthermore, a decline in our overall financial performance, increased 
rents or any other adverse effects arising from the commercial real estate market in our geographical 
markets may adversely affect our growth.  There can be no assurance that we will possess sufficient 
funds to finance the expenditures related to growth, that new stores can be opened on a timely basis, that 
such new stores can be operated on a profitable basis, or that such growth will be manageable. 
 
 We may need to record additional impairment losses in the future if our stores' operating 
performance does not improve.  
 
 We continually review all our stores' operating performance and evaluate the carrying value of 
their assets in relation to their expected future cash flows.  In those cases where circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of the applicable assets may not be recoverable, we record an impairment loss 
related to the long-lived assets.  We incurred a non-cash impairment charge of $10.9 million, $10.7 
million and $2.1 million in fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, related to six, nine and two stores, 
respectively.  If our newer stores' operating performance does not improve in the future or our existing 
stores’ operating performance deteriorates in the future, the carrying value of our stores' assets may not 
be recoverable in light of future expected cash flows.  This may result in our need to record additional 
impairment losses and could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  
 

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate substantially, which may adversely affect 
our business.  
 

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, a substantial variation in our net 
sales and operating results from quarter to quarter.  We believe that the factors which influence this 
variability of quarterly results include general economic and industry conditions that affect consumer 
spending, changing consumer demands, the timing of our introduction of new merchandise, the level of 
consumer acceptance of new merchandise, the seasonality of the markets in which we participate, the 
weather and actions of competitors.  Accordingly, a comparison of our results of operations from period to 
period is not necessarily meaningful, and our results of operations for any period are not necessarily 
indicative of future performance.  See “Note 9. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Quarterly 
Results of Operations (Unaudited).” 
 

We are controlled by Irene and Eric Olberz and management, whose interests may differ 
from other stockholders.   

 
As of June 6, 2012, Irene and Eric Olberz, the wife and son of the Company's founder, Craig 

Levra, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Howard Kaminsky, the Company’s 
Chief Financial Officer, owned approximately 20%, 33% and 12%, respectively, of the voting power of the 
Company’s outstanding voting Class A and Class B Common Stock.  Ms. Olberz and Messrs. Olberz, 
Levra and Kaminsky effectively have the ability to control the outcome on all matters requiring 
stockholder approval, including, but not limited to, the election and removal of directors, and any merger, 
consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, and to control the Company’s 
management and affairs.  Transactions may be pursued that could enhance Ms. Olberz and Messrs. 
Olberz, Levra and Kaminsky’s interests in the Company while involving risks to the interests of the 
Company’s other stockholders, and there is no assurance that their interests will not conflict with the 
interests of the Company’s other stockholders. 
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Our Class B Common Stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ Stock Market (“Nasdaq”). 

 
On May 17, 2012, we received notice from Nasdaq that we are not in compliance with Rule 5460 

of the Nasdaq Listing Rules (the “Listing Rules”).  Rule 5460 requires secondary classes of common 
stock, such as our Class B Common Stock, to maintain a minimum Market Value of Publicly Held Shares 
(“MVPHS”) of $1 million.  The MVPHS of our Class B Common Stock is equal to (x) the consolidated 
closing bid price of the Class B Common Stock multiplied by (y) the number of shares of Class B 
Common Stock not held directly or indirectly by an officer, director or beneficial owner (determined in 
accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act of 1934) of more than 10% of the total shares of 
Class B Common Stock outstanding. 

 
The Listing Rules provide a period of 180 calendar days in which to regain compliance.  If at any 

time during this period the MVPHS of the Class B Common Stock closes at $1 million or more for a 
minimum of ten consecutive business days, we will regain compliance with Rule 5460.  If we do not 
regain compliance with Rule 5460 prior to the expiration of this period, the Class B Common Stock will be 
subject to delisting.  We would have the right to appeal any determination by Nasdaq to initiate delisting 
proceedings.  No assurance can be given that we will regain compliance with Rule 5460 within the time 
allotted or that we can subsequently maintain compliance in the future.  Delisting may have an adverse 
effect on the liquidity of our Class B Common Stock and, as a result, the market price for our Class B 
Common Stock might be adversely affected.  In addition, it is possible this may have an adverse effect on 
our Class A Common Stock and that we may fall below other continued listing standards with respect to 
our Class A Common Stock.  No assurance can be given about the ultimate impact of the delisting notice. 

  
The price of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock may be volatile.   
 
Our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are thinly traded making it difficult to 

sell large amounts.  The market prices of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are 
likely to be volatile and could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to factors such as quarterly 
variations in operating results, operating results which vary from the expectations of securities analysts 
and investors, changes in financial estimates, changes in market valuations of competitors, 
announcements by us or our competitors of a material nature, additions or departures of key personnel, 
future sales of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock and stock volume fluctuations.  Also, 
general political and economic conditions such as a recession or interest rate fluctuations may adversely 
affect the market price of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. 

 
 From time to time the Class A Common Stock has traded significantly lower than the Class B 
Common Stock, and there can be no assurance as to the relative trading prices of the Class A Common 
Stock and the Class B Common Stock. 
  

Provisions in the Company's charter documents could discourage a takeover that 
stockholders may consider favorable.   
 
 As of June 6, 2012, Irene and Eric Olberz, the wife and son of the Company's founder, Craig Levra, the 
Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Howard Kaminsky, the Company’s Chief Financial 
Officer, owned approximately 20%, 33% and 12%, respectively, of the voting power of the Company’s 
outstanding voting Class A and Class B Common Stock.  The holder of a share of Class B Common Stock is 
entitled to one vote on each matter presented to the stockholders whereas the holder of a share of Class A 
Common Stock has 1/20th of one vote on each matter presented to the stockholders.  Subject to the Class A 
protection provisions described below, Ms. Olberz and Messrs. Olberz, Levra and Kaminsky will be able to sell 
shares of Class A Common Stock and use the proceeds to purchase additional shares of Class B Common 
Stock, thereby increasing their collective voting power.  Subject to the prohibition on the grant, issuance, sale or 
transfer of Class B Common Stock to Messrs. Levra and Kaminsky, the Company will also be able to issue 
Class B Common Stock (subject to the applicable rules of the NASD and the availability of authorized and 
unissued shares of Class B Common Stock) to persons deemed by the Board of Directors to be preferable to a 
potential acquirer, thereby diluting the voting power of that potential acquirer.  The Class A protection provisions 
in the Company's Certificate of Incorporation could also make acquisition of voting control more expensive by 
requiring an acquirer of 10% or more of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock to purchase a 
corresponding proportion of Class A Common Stock.   
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The Company's Certificate of Incorporation contains certain other provisions that may have an 

"anti-takeover" effect.  The Company's Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting 
and, accordingly, a significant minority stockholder could not necessarily elect any designee to the Board 
of Directors.  As a result of these provisions in the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, stockholders of 
the Company may be deprived of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market 
prices and it would be more difficult to replace the directors and management of the Company.  

 
 We may be subject to litigation that may adversely affect our business and financial 
performance.  
 
 We may be subject to lawsuits resulting from injuries associated with the use of the merchandise 
or services we sell, employment matters or violations of government regulations. There is a risk that 
claims or liabilities will exceed our insurance coverage.  In addition, we may be unable to retain adequate 
liability insurance in the future.  An unfavorable outcome or settlement in any such proceeding could, in 
addition to requiring us to pay any settlement or judgment amount, increase our operating expense as a 
consequence and cause damage to our reputation. 

 
Changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments 

related to complex accounting matters could significantly affect our financial results.  
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and related accounting 
pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters 
that are relevant to our business, such as revenue recognition; lease accounting; and the carrying 
amount of property and equipment, inventories and deferred income tax assets, are highly complex and 
may involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by management. Changes in these 
rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments could 
significantly change our reported or expected financial performance.  

 
Failure to maintain adequate financial and management processes and controls could lead 

to errors in our financial reporting and could harm our ability to manage our expenses.  
 

Reporting obligations as a public company can place a considerable strain on our financial and 
management systems, processes and controls, as well as on our personnel.  In addition, we are required 
to document and test our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 so that our management can certify as to the effectiveness of our internal 
controls.  If our management is ever unable to certify the effectiveness of our internal controls or if 
material weaknesses in our internal controls are ever identified, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny 
and a loss of public confidence, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.  In addition, 
if we do not maintain adequate financial and management personnel, processes and controls, we may 
not be able to accurately report our financial performance on a timely basis. 

 
We self-insure for a significant portion of employee health insurance coverage and recent 

federal health care legislation could increase our expenses.  
 
In June 2011, we began to self-insure for a significant portion of employee health insurance 

coverage.  When estimating our self-insured liabilities, which include employee health, property, general 
liability and workers’ compensation insurance at various levels, we consider a number of factors, 
including historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and valuations provided by 
independent third-party actuaries.  Although we do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there 
will be a material change in the estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our self-insured liabilities, if 
actual results are not consistent with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to losses or 
gains that could be material.  This is particularly pertinent as it relates to employee health insurance, 
where our costs could be affected by seasonality and other factors, which could cause costs to vary 
widely and unpredictably from period to period.  

 
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “Act”) and the Health Care 

Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “Reconciliation Act”) were signed into law.  The Act, as modified by 
the Reconciliation Act, includes a large number of health care provisions to take effect over four years, including 
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expanded dependent coverage, incentives for businesses to provide health care benefits, a prohibition on the 
denial of coverage and denial of claims on pre-existing conditions, a prohibition on limits on essential benefits 
and other expansions of health care benefits and coverage.  The costs of these provisions are expected to be 
funded by a variety of taxes and fees.  Some of the taxes and fees, as well as certain health care changes 
required by these acts, are expected to result, directly or indirectly, in increased health care costs for us.  It 
remains difficult to predict the cost impact of health care reform and at this time, we cannot quantify the impact, 
if any, that the legislation may have on us due to the changing regulatory environment around this legislation 
and due to the government’s requirement to issue future unknown regulatory rules.  There is no assurance that 
we will be able to absorb and/or pass through the costs of such legislation in a manner that will not adversely 
impact our results of operations.  

 
Terrorist attacks, acts of war and foreign instability may harm our business.   
 
Terrorist attacks may cause damage or disruption to our employees, facilities, information 

systems, vendors and customers, which could significantly impact net sales, costs and expenses and 
financial condition.  The potential for future terrorist attacks, the national and international responses to 
terrorist attacks, political instability and conflict outside of the United States, and other acts of war or 
hostility may cause greater uncertainty and cause us to suffer in ways that we currently cannot predict.  
Our geographical focus in California, Nevada, Arizona and Utah may make us more vulnerable to such 
uncertainties than other comparable retailers who may not have similar geographical concentration. 
  
 We rely on one distribution center and any disruption could reduce our sales.   
 
 We currently rely on a single distribution center in Ontario, California. Any natural disaster or 
other serious disruption to this distribution center due to fire, earthquake or any other cause could 
damage a significant portion of our inventory and could materially impair both our ability to adequately 
stock our stores and our sales and profitability.   

 
We may pursue strategic acquisitions, which could have an adverse impact on our 

business.   
 

We may from time to time acquire complementary companies or businesses. Acquisitions may 
result in difficulties in assimilating acquired companies, and may result in the diversion of our capital and 
our management’s attention from other business issues and opportunities. We may not be able to 
successfully integrate operations that we acquire, including their personnel, financial systems, 
distribution, operations and general store operating procedures. If we fail to successfully integrate 
acquisitions, our business could suffer. In addition, the integration of any acquired business, and their 
financial results, into ours may adversely affect our operating results. We currently do not have any 
agreements with respect to any such acquisitions.  
 
 Our comparable store sales will fluctuate and may not be a meaningful indicator of future 
performance.  
 

Changes in our comparable store sales results could affect the price of our Class A Common 
Stock and Class B Common Stock. A number of factors have historically affected, and will continue to 
affect, our comparable store sales results, including competition, our new store openings and remodeling, 
general regional and national economic conditions, actions taken by our competitors, consumer trends 
and preferences, changes in the shopping centers in which we are located, new merchandise 
introductions and changes in our merchandise mix, timing and effectiveness of promotional events, lack 
of new merchandise introductions to spur growth in the sale of various kinds of sports equipment, and 
weather. Our comparable store sales may vary from quarter to quarter, and an unanticipated decline in 
revenues or comparable store sales may cause the price of our Class A Common Stock and Class B 
Common Stock to fluctuate significantly. 

 
A regional or global health pandemic could severely affect our business.  

 
A health pandemic is a disease that spreads rapidly and widely by infection and affects many 

individuals in an area or population at the same time.  If a regional or global health pandemic were to 
occur, depending upon its location, duration and severity, our business could be severely affected. 
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Customers might avoid public places in the event of a health pandemic, and local, regional or national 
governments might limit or ban public gatherings to halt or delay the spread of disease.  A regional or 
global health pandemic might also adversely impact our business by disrupting or delaying production 
and delivery of merchandise in our supply chain and by causing staffing shortages in our stores.  

 
 
Global warming could cause erosion of both our winter and summer seasonal businesses 

over a long-term basis. 
 
 Changes to our environment, whether natural or man-made, could cause significant disruption in 
both air temperature and snowfall, limiting our ability to capitalize on one of our core competencies, the 
winter business.  In addition, lack of proper snowfall could have a negative impact on our fishing and 
lake-focused water sports businesses, as these rely on streams, rivers, and lakes to be at adequate 
depth and clarity in order to provide enjoyable experiences for our customers.  
 
ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Not applicable.  
 
ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES 
  
 At April 1, 2012, we had 54 store locations.  Swimming pool facilities for Scuba and kayaking 
instruction are located in 33 of the 54 store locations.  The following table summarizes information on our 
store locations by region: 
 

Year Percentage of total
Region entered Number of stores number of stores

Southern California 1959 33 61%
Northern California 2003 9 17%
Arizona 2005 8 15%
Nevada 2001 3 5%
Utah 2007 1 2%
Total 54 100%

 
  We lease all of our existing store locations.  The leases for most of the existing stores are for 
approximately ten-year terms plus multiple option periods under non-cancelable operating leases with 
scheduled rent increases.  Some of the leases provide for contingent rent based upon a percentage of 
sales in excess of specified minimums.  Additionally, some of the leases contain kick-out clauses, which 
allow us to terminate the lease at our option at a specified date if contractually specified minimum sales 
volumes are not exceeded.  Many of the leases obligate us to pay costs of maintenance, utilities, and 
property taxes.   

 
In our efforts to reduce operating expenses and improve liquidity, we reviewed our store leases 

and obtained rent reductions and lease modifications from a number of our landlords.  These negotiations 
included renegotiating base rent, revising some of our leases to contain percentage rent clauses, which 
obligate us to pay rents based on a percentage of sales rather than fixed amounts, and amending certain 
leases to feature kick-out clauses.   
 
 We lease from corporations controlled by Irene and Eric Olberz, the wife and son of the 
Company's founder, our corporate office in La Cañada and our stores in La Cañada (through July 7, 2011 
when the shopping center was sold to an unrelated party), Huntington Beach and Porter Ranch, 
California.  We have incurred rental expense to Irene and Eric Olberz of $2.4 million, $3.1 million and 
$3.2 million in fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Management believes that the occupancy 
costs under the leases with corporations controlled by Irene and Eric Olberz described above are no 
higher than those which would be charged by unrelated third parties under similar circumstances. 
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ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

On April 12, 2012, the Company was served with a complaint filed in the California Superior 
Court for the County of Los Angeles, entitled Brian Bennett v. Sport Chalet, Inc. and Sport Chalet Team 
Sales, Inc. (Case No. BC482472), alleging violations of the California Civil Code.  The complaint was 
brought as a purported class action on behalf of wheelchair-bound persons located in California.  The 
plaintiff alleges, among other things, that the Company violated California state law by failing to make 
certain store locations accessible to individuals with disabilities. The plaintiff seeks, on behalf of the class 
members, unspecified amounts of damages; attorneys’ fees and costs.  Plaintiffs' demands for injunctive 
relief claim that the features of some of the Company's California stores are not in compliance with state 
or federal regulations and therefore are not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs. The Company 
intends to defend this litigation vigorously.   

 
From time to time, the Company is involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to the 

conduct of its business.  Management does not believe that any of these legal proceedings will have a 
material adverse impact on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company, 
either due to the nature of the claims, or because management believes that such claims should not 
significantly exceed the limits of the Company’s insurance coverage. 

 
ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  

 
Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 
ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 

  MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
 
Market Price for Common Shares  
 

On September 21, 2005, a stockholder approved recapitalization plan established two classes of 
common stock, Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock.  See “Note 1. Basis of Presentation 
– Common Stock."  Our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are traded on the Nasdaq 
Global Market System under the symbol “SPCHA” and “SPCHB,” respectively.  The following table 
summarizes the range of high and low sale prices of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common 
Stock for the periods indicated: 

 

FY 2013 High Low High Low
Q1 (1) 1.38$         1.10$         1.77$         1.53$         

FY 2012 High Low High Low
Q4 1.77$         1.23$         2.24$         1.63$         
Q3 1.88$         1.60$         2.50$         2.08$         
Q2 2.06$         1.66$         2.39$         1.87$         
Q1 2.13$         1.77$         2.49$         1.89$         

FY 2011 High Low High Low
Q4 2.95$         1.82$         4.05$         1.88$         
Q3 2.40$         1.58$         2.95$         1.96$         
Q2 2.30$         1.50$         2.88$         2.01$         
Q1 3.49$         2.10$         3.63$         2.51$         

 (1)   First quarter of f iscal 2013 is through June 5, 2012.

Class B

Class B

Class A Class B

Class A

Class A

 
 On June 5, 2012, the closing price of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock as 
reported by Nasdaq was $1.31 and $1.72, respectively.  Stockholders are urged to obtain current market 
quotations for the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. 
 
Approximate Number of Holders of Common Shares  
 
 The number of stockholders of record of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock 
as of June 4, 2012 was 136 and 114, respectively (excluding individual participants in nominee security 
position listings), and as of that date, we estimate that there were approximately 700 beneficial owners for 
Class A Common Stock and 700 beneficial owners for Class B Common Stock holding stock in nominee 
or “street” name. 
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Performance Graph 
 

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in cumulative total stockholder 
return of the Company's common stock during the period from March 31, 2007 to March 31, 2012 with 
(i) the cumulative total return of the Nasdaq Composite Stock Market Index and (ii) the cumulative total 
return of the S&P Specialty Stores Index.  The comparison assumes $100 was invested on March 31, 
2007 in the common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and the reinvestment of dividends through 
March 31, 2012.  The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of 
future stock price performance. 

The graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating 
by reference this Annual Report into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities  
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference, 
and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such Acts.  
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Dividend Policy 
 
 We have not paid any cash dividends to stockholders since our initial public offering in November 
1992.  We currently intend to retain any earnings for use in the operation and potential expansion of our 
business and, therefore, do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future.  The declaration and payment of any such dividends in the future will depend upon our earnings, 
financial condition, capital needs and other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. 
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ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
 The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data as of and for the five most 
recent fiscal years ended April 1, 2012.  Our fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks, ends on the Sunday 
nearest to the last day of March and is named for the calendar year ending closest to that date.  Fiscal 
2011 was a 53 week year and thus included one extra week in the fourth quarter and ended on April 3, 
2011.  This data should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto and 
other financial information included herein.   

 

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Statements of Operations Data:

Net sales 349,883$   362,483$   353,695$   372,652$   402,534$   
Cost of goods sold, buying and occupancy costs 254,510     260,131     258,873     284,257     285,982     
Gross profit 95,373       102,352     94,822       88,395       116,552     
Selling, general and administrative expenses 89,203       92,647       85,894       107,651     105,697     
Depreciation and amortization 9,450         10,351       12,644       14,243       12,898       
Impairment charge -                 -                 10,935       10,730       2,077         
Loss from operations (3,280)        (646)           (14,651)      (44,229)      (4,120)        
Interest expense 1,790         2,366         2,762         2,195         1,466         
Loss before income taxes (5,070)        (3,012)        (17,413)      (46,424)      (5,586)        
Income tax provision (benefit) 2                3                (9,139)        5,823         (2,224)        
Net loss (5,072)$     (3,015)$     (8,274)$     (52,247)$    (3,362)$     

Class A and Class B loss per share:
Basic (0.36)$       (0.21)$       (0.59)$       (3.70)$        (0.24)$       
Diluted (0.36)$       (0.21)$       (0.59)$       (3.70)$        (0.24)$       

Weighted average Class A
and Class B shares outstanding:
Basic 14,190     14,189     14,126     14,123       14,075     
Diluted 14,190     14,189     14,126     14,123       14,075     

Selected Operating Data:
Comparable store sales decrease (1) (0.6)% (0.4)% (8.3)% (12.4)% (4.5)%
Gross profit margin 27.3% 28.2% 26.8% 23.7% 29.0%
Selling, general and administrative expenses as a

percentage of net sales 25.5% 25.6% 24.3% 28.9% 26.3%
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,297$       2,774$       (2,938)$      (10,739)$    16,374$     
Stores open at end of period 54              55              55              55              51              
Total square feet at end of period 2,220         2,260         2,260         2,260         2,067         
Net sales per square foot (2) 148$          153$          155$          179$          218$          
Average net sales per store (2) 6,085$       6,271$       6,317$       7,303$       8,533$       

Balance Sheet Data: 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Working capital 15,547$     17,640$     13,667$     (415)$         39,197$     
Total assets 127,453     127,120     138,709     151,055     171,315     
Bank debt 41,255       40,854       45,290       39,140       17,216       
Total stockholders' equity 18,288$     22,446$     24,484$     32,086$     83,969$     

(1)

(2) Calculated using stores that w ere open for the full current f iscal year and w ere also open for the full prior f iscal year.

A store’s sales are included in the comparable store sales calculation in the quarter follow ing its tw elfth full month of 
operation.  The comparable store sales calculation for f iscal 2011 is on a 52 w eek basis.

Fiscal year

(in thousands, except per share, stores and per square foot amounts)

As of fiscal year end
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
  RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the 

meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include statements relating to 
trends in, or representing management’s beliefs about, our future strategies, operations and financial results, as well 
as other statements including words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “predict,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“project,” “will,” “could,” “may,” “might” or any variations of such words or other words with similar meanings. Forward-
looking statements are made based upon management’s current expectations and beliefs concerning trends and 
future developments and their potential effects on the Company.  You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements as predictions of actual results. These statements are not guarantees of future 
performance and involve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Further, certain forward-looking 
statements are based upon assumptions as to future events that may not prove to be accurate.  Actual results may 
differ materially from those suggested by forward-looking statements as a result of risks and uncertainties which are 
discussed in further detail under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”  We do not assume, and specifically disclaim, any obligation 
to update any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. 
 
 The following should be read in conjunction with “Item 6. Selected Financial Data” and our 
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto. 
 
General Overview 
 

Sport Chalet, Inc. (referred to as the “Company,” “Sport Chalet,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) is a leading 
operator of full-service, specialty sporting goods stores offering a broad assortment of brand name 
sporting goods equipment, apparel, and footwear.  Over the last 53 years, Sport Chalet has grown into a 
chain of 54 specialty sporting goods stores serving California, Nevada, Arizona and Utah, as well as a 
Team Sales Division and an online store at sportchalet.com.  
    

Our stores are located in states that have experienced, since the downturn that began in 2008, 
the worst macroeconomic conditions in the nation, as evidenced by statistics including, but not limited to, 
high unemployment rates, foreclosure rates and bankruptcy filings.  As a result, our sales, which are 
largely dependent on the level of consumer spending in the geographic regions surrounding our stores, 
declined and we incurred substantial losses in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010.  During fiscal 2009 and fiscal 
2010, we aggressively took action to modify our business model to make the Company more efficient, 
improve our liquidity and reduce operating expenses.  These efforts continued in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 
2012, while at the same time, we reinforced our commitment to be first to market with performance, 
technology and lifestyle merchandise by expanding our specialty brands and continuing to emphasize the 
availability and proficiency of our sales staff while many of our competitors emphasized value pricing and 
severely reduced store staffing.  As a result of these efforts, we reduced our net loss for fiscal 2012 to 
$5.1 million, or $0.36 per diluted share, compared to net losses of $8.3 million, or $0.59 per diluted share, 
and $52.2 million, or $3.70 per diluted share, for fiscal years 2010 and 2009, respectively.  For fiscal 
2012, our losses increased from a net loss of $3.0 million, or $0.21 per diluted share, for fiscal 2011 
primarily due to the unseasonably warm and dry winter weather experienced in the second half of fiscal 
2012.  With a more normal winter, we believe the improvements we have made to our business over the 
past few years have positioned us to return to profitability for fiscal 2013.  Our comparable store sales, 
which declined significantly during fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, stabilized in the latter part of fiscal 2011 
and in fiscal 2012.  In fiscal 2013, our comparable store sales increased 2.8% for the nine weeks ended 
June 3, 2012.  A store’s sales are included in the comparable store sales calculation in the quarter 
following its twelfth full month of operation.   
 
Results of Operations 
 

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011 
 
The following table sets forth statement of operations data determined in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), the relative percentages of net 
sales, and the percentage increase or decrease, for fiscal years 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except per 
share amounts).  Fiscal 2011 was a 53 week year and thus included one extra week in the fourth quarter 
and ended on April 3, 2011.  The results for the 52 weeks ended April 1, 2012 (fiscal 2012) are compared 



 -23-

to the 53 weeks ended April 3, 2011 (fiscal 2011), except for sales comparisons that exclude the extra 
week in fiscal year 2011 and compare the 52 weeks ended April 1, 2012 to the 52 weeks ended April 3, 
2011 (excluding the first week of fiscal 2011).   
 

Amount Percent Amount Percent
Net sales 349,883$   100.0% 362,483$   100.0% (12,600)$    (3.5%)
Gross profit 95,373       27.3% 102,352     28.2% (6,979)        (6.8%)
Selling, general and administrative
   expenses 89,203       25.5% 92,647       25.6% (3,444)        (3.7%)
Depreciation and amortization 9,450         2.7% 10,351       2.9% (901)           (8.7%)
Loss from operations (3,280)        (0.9%) (646)           (0.2%) (2,634)        407.7% 
Interest expense 1,790         0.5% 2,366         0.7% (576)           (24.3%)
Loss before income taxes (5,070)        (1.4%) (3,012)        (0.8%) (2,058)        68.3% 
Income tax provision 2                0.0% 3                0.0% (1)               (33.3%)
Net loss (5,072)        (1.4%) (3,015)        (0.8%) (2,057)        68.2% 

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted (0.36)$        (0.21)$        (0.14)$        68.2% 

Fiscal year
2012 2011 Dollar 

change
Percentage 

change

 Net sales decreased $12.6 million, or 3.5%, to $349.9 million for fiscal 2012 from $362.5 million 
for fiscal 2011.  The decrease in sales is primarily due to the extra week in fiscal 2011 that contributed 
$5.8 million to sales in that fiscal year.  Excluding the extra week in fiscal year 2011, net sales decreased 
$6.8 million, or 1.9%, primarily due to a store closure decrease of $4.1 million, a comparable store sales 
decrease of $1.9 million, or 0.6%, and an increase in the usage of our customer relationship management 
program, Action Pass, which requires sales be reduced as points are earned, partially offset by an 
increase in online business of 22.0%.  The comparable store sales decrease was due to the 
unseasonably warm and dry winter weather experienced in the second half of the year, which significantly 
affected snowfall at the resorts most frequented by our customers.  This resulted in a 25.9% sales 
decrease in winter related merchandise, which was partially offset by a 4.6% sales increase in non-winter 
categories in the second half of the year.  Online sales of winter related merchandise decreased 18.7% 
while online sales of non-winter categories increased 41.3% in the second half of the year.  In October 
2011, one store was closed to complete this store’s relocation to a larger store in an area with more 
appealing customer demographics, which opened in June 2008.   
 
 Gross profit decreased $7.0 million, or 6.8%, primarily as a result of the decrease in sales.  
Additionally, a decrease in sales of winter rentals and repairs, which have higher margins, and an 
increase in the usage of Action Pass, negatively impacted gross profit as a percent of sales, which 
decreased to 27.3% from 28.2%.   
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) decreased $3.4 million, or 3.7%.  The 
decrease is primarily due to savings of $1.9 million in labor to align to the lower sales trends, $1.6 million 
in insurance costs as a result of self-insuring for a significant portion of employee health insurance 
coverage, and the extra week in fiscal 2011.  As a percent of sales, SG&A slightly decreased to 25.5% 
from 25.6%.  

 
Depreciation expense decreased $0.9 million, or 8.7%, as a result of the low level of capital 

expenditures in recent fiscal years with no new store openings or significant remodels.  
 
Net loss increased by $2.1 million, primarily due to the unseasonably warm and dry winter 

weather, to $5.1 million, or $0.36 per diluted share for fiscal 2012, from a net loss of $3.0 million, or $0.21 
per diluted share for fiscal 2011.   

 
Fourth Quarter 2012 Compared to Fourth Quarter 2011 
 
The following tables set forth statement of income data and relative percentages of net sales, and 

the percentage increase or decrease, for the fourth quarter of fiscal years 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, 
except per share amounts).  Fiscal 2011 was a 53 week year and thus included one extra week in the 
fourth quarter and ended on April 3, 2011.  The results for the 13 weeks ended April 1, 2012 (fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2012) are compared to the 14 weeks ended April 3, 2011 (fourth quarter of fiscal 2011), 
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except for sales comparisons that exclude the extra week in fiscal year 2011 and compare the 13 weeks 
ended April 1, 2012 to the 13 weeks ended April 3, 2011 (excluding the first week of the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2011).   

 

Amount Percent Amount Percent
Net sales 81,856$     100.0% 98,205$     100.0% (16,349)$    (16.6%)
Gross profit 19,544       23.9% 28,440       29.0% (8,896)        (31.3%)
Selling, general and administrative
   expenses 20,838       25.5% 24,941       25.4% (4,103)        (16.5%)
Depreciation and amortization 2,085         2.5% 2,707         2.8% (622)           (23.0%)
(Loss) income from operations (3,379)        (4.1%) 792            0.8% (4,171)        *
Interest expense 430            0.5% 482            0.5% (52)             (10.8%)
(Loss) income before income taxes (3,809)        (4.7%) 310            0.3% (4,119)        *
Income tax provision -             0.0% 3                0.0% (3)               *
Net (loss) income (3,809)        (4.7%) 307            0.3% (4,116)        *

(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic and diluted (0.27)$        0.02$         (0.29)$        *

* Percentage change not meaningful

Fiscal fourth quarter
2012 2011 Dollar 

change 
Percentage 

change

 Net sales decreased $16.3 million, or 16.6%, to $81.9 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 
from $98.2 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011.  The decrease in sales is primarily due to the extra 
week in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 that contributed $9.7 million to sales in that quarter.  Excluding 
the extra week in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2011, net sales decreased $6.6 million, or 7.5%, 
primarily due to a comparable store sales decrease of $4.4 million, or 5.3%, a store closure decrease of 
$2.0 million, and an increase in the usage of our customer relationship management program, Action 
Pass, which requires sales be reduced as points are earned, partially offset by an increase in online 
business of 11.5%.  The comparable store sales decrease was due to the unseasonably warm and dry 
winter weather, which significantly affected snowfall at the resorts most frequented by our customers.  
This resulted in a 32.1% sales decrease in winter related merchandise, which was partially offset by a 
2.6% sales increase in non-winter categories.  Online sales of winter related merchandise decreased 
27.7% while online sales of non-winter categories increased 56.9%.   
 

Gross profit decreased $8.9 million, or 31.3%, primarily as a result of the decrease in sales.  
Additionally, a decrease in sales of winter rentals and repairs, which have higher margins, negatively 
impacted gross profit as a percent of sales, which decreased to 23.9% from 29.0%.   

 
SG&A decreased $4.1 million, or 16.5%.  The decrease is primarily due to savings of $2.1 million 

in labor to align to the lower sales trends, $0.6 million in insurance costs, and the extra week in fiscal 
2011.  As a percent of sales, SG&A slightly increased to 25.5% from 25.4% primarily due to the decrease 
in sales.  

 
Depreciation expense decreased $0.6 million, or 23.0%, as a result of the low level of capital 

expenditures in recent fiscal years with no new store openings or significant remodels.  
 

 Net loss increased by $4.1 million, primarily due to the unseasonably warm and dry winter 
weather, to a loss of $3.8 million, or $0.27 per diluted share for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, 
compared to net income of $0.3 million, or $0.02 per diluted share for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011.  

 
Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010 
 
The following table sets forth statement of operations data determined in accordance with GAAP, 

the relative percentages of net sales, and the percentage increase or decrease, for fiscal years 2011 and 
2010 (in thousands, except per share amounts).  Fiscal 2011 was a 53 week year and thus included one 
extra week in the fourth quarter and ended on April 3, 2011.  The results for the 53 weeks ended April 3, 
2011 (fiscal 2011) are compared to the 52 weeks ended March 28, 2010 (fiscal 2010), except for 
comparable store sales results, which compare the 52 weeks ended April 1, 2011 to the 52 weeks ended 
March 28, 2010.   
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Amount Percent Amount Percent
Net sales 362,483$   100.0% 353,695$   100.0% 8,788$       2.5% 
Gross profit 102,352     28.2% 94,822       26.8% 7,530         7.9% 
Selling, general and administrative
   expenses 92,647       25.6% 85,894       24.3% 6,753         7.9% 
Depreciation and amortization 10,351       2.9% 12,644       3.6% (2,293)        (18.1%)
Impairment charge -             0.0% 10,935       3.1% (10,935)      *
Loss from operations (646)           (0.2%) (14,651)      (4.1%) 14,005       (95.6%)
Interest expense 2,366         0.7% 2,762         0.8% (396)           (14.3%)
Loss before income taxes (3,012)        (0.8%) (17,413)      (4.9%) 14,401       (82.7%)
Income tax provision (benefit) 3                0.0% (9,139)        (2.6%) 9,142         *
Net loss (3,015)        (0.8%) (8,274)        (2.3%) 5,259         (63.6%)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted (0.21)$        (0.59)$        0.37$         (63.7%)

* Percentage change not meaningful

Fiscal year
2011 2010 Dollar 

change 
Percentage 

change

 Net sales increased $8.8 million, or 2.5%, to $362.5 million for fiscal 2011 from $353.7 million for 
fiscal 2010.  The change in sales is primarily due to the extra week in fiscal 2011 which contributed $5.9 
million to sales.  See “Item 1. Business – Fiscal Calendar.”  Excluding the extra week in fiscal year 2011, 
net sales increased $2.9 million, or 0.8% due to sales increases in online and Team Sales divisions of 
110% and 15%, respectively, partially offset by a comparable store sales decrease of $1.3 million, or 
0.4%.  Continued weak macroeconomic conditions in our markets caused a slight decline in comparable 
store sales.   
 
 Gross profit increased $7.5 million, or 7.9%, primarily as a result of a decrease in rent expense of 
$3.9 million from successful landlord negotiations and the increase in sales.  As a percent of sales, gross 
profit increased to 28.2% from 26.8%. 
  

SG&A increased $6.8 million, or 7.9%.  The increase is primarily due to an increase of $4.7 
million in labor to sell higher priced specialty merchandise, which helped increase the dollar value of our 
average sales transaction by 2.0%, for incentive payments primarily paid to our sales staff, and for the 
extra week in fiscal 2011, as well as increases in workers compensation expense related to one major 
claim and credit card fees.  As a percent of sales, SG&A increased to 25.6% from 24.3% as the leverage 
gained from the sales increase was offset by the higher labor expense.  

 
Depreciation expense decreased $2.3 million, or 18.1%, as a result of the non-cash impairment 

charge of $10.9 million recorded in fiscal 2010 and the low level of capital expenditures in fiscal 2010 and 
fiscal 2011 with no new store openings or significant remodels.  

 
In fiscal 2010, we recorded a tax benefit of $9.1 million due to a refund from a net operating loss 

carryback.  We will not record income tax benefits until it is determined that is it more likely than not that 
we will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred income tax assets.   

 
Net loss decreased by $5.3 million to $3.0 million, or $0.21 per diluted share for fiscal 2011, from 

a net loss of $8.3 million, or $0.59 per diluted share for fiscal 2010.  Excluding the non-cash impairment 
charges and the effect of income taxes in fiscal years 2011 and 2010, we reduced our net loss by $3.5 
million to $3.0 million, or $0.21 per diluted share for fiscal 2011, from a net loss of $6.5 million, or $0.46 
per diluted share for fiscal 2010.   

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

In the absence of new store openings, our primary capital requirements currently are for inventory 
replenishment and store operations.  From fiscal 2007 to fiscal 2010, we increasingly relied on bank borrowings 
for our capital needs to fund new store openings and losses from operations.  For fiscal 2011, we generated 
positive cash from operating activities and reduced the utilization of our bank loan from $46.9 million (including 
a letter of credit of $1.6 million) at March 28, 2010 to $42.5 million (including a letter of credit of $1.6 million) at 
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April 3, 2011.  For fiscal 2012, our losses increased from fiscal 2011 primarily due to the unseasonably warm 
and dry winter weather and as a result, we slightly increased the utilization of our bank credit facility from $42.5 
million (including a letter of credit of $1.6 million) at April 3, 2011 to $43.9 million (including a letter of credit of 
$2.6 million) at April 1, 2012.  With a more normal winter, we believe the changes we have made to improve our 
business over the past few years have us well positioned for a return to profitability for fiscal 2013.   We believe 
that cash from operations will be sufficient to fund currently anticipated requirements for the next 12 months and 
reduce our dependence on bank borrowings. 
 
 Net cash provided by operating activities has generally been the result of net loss, adjusted for 
depreciation and amortization, and changes in inventory along with related accounts payable.  As 
previously announced, we closed one store to complete this store’s relocation to a larger store and we 
received the final installment payment of $0.9 million from the landlord as part of the closing terms in 
October 2011.  The following table summarizes the more significant items for fiscal years ended April 1, 
2012 and April 3, 2011: 
 

2012 2011

Net loss (5,072)$      (3,015)$      
Depreciation and amortization 9,450 10,351
Merchandise inventories  (4,592) 3,692
Accounts payable 5,533 (3,392)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,939 (3,307)
Deferred rent (2,684) (1,001)
Other   (277) (554)
Net cash provided by operating activites 5,297$      2,774$      

Fiscal year

(in thousands)

 
Inventory increased $4.6 million as average inventory per store increased 6.9% to $1.8 million 

from $1.7 million at the end of fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.  The increase is primarily the 
carryover of winter related merchandise due to the lower than planned sales.  The winter carryover 
inventory has been integrated into the inventory purchasing plans for fiscal 2013 and will result in higher 
than normal inventory levels through at least the third quarter of fiscal 2013. 

 
Accounts payable changes are generally related to inventory changes.  However, the timing of 

vendor payments or receipt of merchandise near the end of the period influences this relationship.  For 
fiscal 2012, a portion of the winter carryover inventory has been granted extended dating by the vendors.   

 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets can include approximately one month’s rent, 

depending on the timing of our fiscal month end, as most leases require payment at the beginning of 
each calendar month.  The additional week in fiscal 2011 resulted in one month’s rent being reflected in 
prepaid expenses, while fiscal 2012 did not.  

 
We will not record income tax benefits until it is determined that is it more likely than not that we 

will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred income tax assets.  Our valuation allowance 
is equal to all of the net deferred tax assets, $25.1 million.  We have federal and state net operating loss 
carryforwards of $17.2 million and $45.5 million, respectively, which can be carried forward for a period 
ranging from 16 to 20 years.  

 
Net cash used in investing activities and fixed assets acquired on credit and under capital leases 

are for capital expenditures as summarized below: 
 

2012 2011 2010

Existing stores 1,064$       166$          318$          
Information systems 1,859 1,485 281
Rental equipment 1,903         661            139            
Total 4,826$       2,312$       738$          

Fiscal year 

(in thousands)

 
Forecasted capital expenditures for fiscal 2013 are expected to be approximately $5.5 million 

primarily for new rental equipment, information systems and one new store.  Approximately $1.5 million 
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for the new store will be reimbursed by the landlord upon opening in early fiscal 2014. We have not 
opened new stores since fiscal 2009 and currently do not anticipate opening new stores in fiscal 2013.  
We currently have plans to open one new store in our core Southern California market in early fiscal 
2014.   

 
Net cash provided by financing activities reflects advances and repayments of borrowings under 

our revolving credit facility.  
 
Our revolving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. (the “Lender”) provides for advances up to 

$65.0 million, increasing to $70.0 million from September 1st of each year through December 31st of 
each year.  This facility also provides for up to $10.0 million in authorized letters of credit.  The amount 
we may borrow under this credit facility (the “Line Amount”) is limited to a percentage of the value of 
accounts receivable and eligible inventory, minus certain reserves.  A significant decrease in eligible 
inventory due to our vendor’s unwillingness to ship us merchandise, the aging of inventory and/or an 
unfavorable inventory appraisal could have an adverse effect on our borrowing capacity under our credit 
facility, which may adversely affect the adequacy of our working capital.  Interest accrues at the Lender’s 
prime rate plus 1.75% (5.00% at April 1, 2012), or at our option we can fix the rate for a period of time at 
LIBOR plus 2.75%.  In addition, there is an unused commitment fee of 0.25% per year, based on a 
weighted average formula.  This credit facility expires in October 2014.  Our obligation to the Lender is 
presently secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of our non-real estate assets, and we are 
subject to, among others, a covenant that we maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (replacing a 
previous EBITDA covenant) measured monthly on a trailing 12-month basis between 0.80 to 1.00 and 
1.25 to 1.00 (varying from quarter to quarter).  The covenant would only apply if our availability falls below 
the greater of (x) $5.0 million and (y) 10% of the Line Amount or the borrowing base, whichever is less.  
In the event of a significant decrease in availability under our credit facility, it is highly likely that the 
covenant would be violated.   

 
In fiscal 2012, our peak borrowing occurred during the week ended December 11, 2011, at which 

time our credit facility had a borrowing capacity of $70.0 million, of which we utilized $52.7 million 
(including a letter of credit of $2.6 million) and had $17.3 million in availability.  On April 1, 2012, our credit 
facility had a borrowing capacity of $59.5 million, of which we utilized $43.9 million (including a letter of 
credit of $2.6 million) and had $15.6 million in availability, $9.6 million above the availability requirement 
of $6.0 million. 

 
Contractual obligations and commitments related to operating lease obligations, employment 

contracts and letters of credit are excluded from the balance sheet in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.   

 
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of April 1, 2012:  
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Contractual Obligations Less than More than 
(in thousands) Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years
Operating leases (1) 149,000$       30,862$         50,503$         33,041$         34,594$         
Capital leases 1,346             628                686                32                  -                     
Revolving credit facility (2) 41,255           41,255           -                     -                     -                     
Letters of credit 2,650             2,650             -                     -                     -                     
Employment contracts (3) 150                75                  75                  -                     -                     
Total contractual obligations 194,401$       75,470$         51,264$         33,073$         34,594$         

Payment due by period

(1) Amounts include the direct lease obligations.  Other obligations required by the lease agreements such as 
contingent rent based on sales, common area maintenance, property taxes and insurance are not f ixed amounts and, 
therefore, are not included.  The amount of the excluded expenses are: $9.6 million, $10.0 million and $11.5 million for 
the f iscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Operating lease obligations ref lect savings from lease 
modif ications, assume "kick-out clauses" w ill be exercised and do not ref lect potential renew als or replacements of 
expiring leases.

(2) Periodic interest payments on the credit facility are not included in the preceding table because interest expense is 
based on variable indices, and the balance of our credit facility f luctuates daily depending on operating, investing and 
f inancing cash flow s.  The credit facility expires in October 2014 and is show n as less than 1 year due to a "lock box 
arrangement" per ASC 470-10-45-5A, Debt.

(3) On July 15, 2011, Norbert Olberz passed aw ay.  Pursuant to his amended employment contract dated April 1, 2000, 
upon his death, Irene Olberz, his w ife w ill be paid a base salary of $0.1 million per year until March 31, 2014.

 
 We lease all of our existing store locations.  The leases for most of the existing stores are for 
approximately ten-year terms plus multiple option periods under non-cancelable operating leases with 
scheduled rent increases.  Some of the leases provide for contingent rent based upon a percentage of 
sales in excess of specified minimums.  Additionally, some of the leases contain kick-out clauses, which 
allow us to terminate the lease at our option at a specified date if contractually specified minimum sales 
volumes are not exceeded.  Many of the leases obligate us to pay costs of maintenance, utilities, and 
property taxes.   

 
Generally, our purchase obligations are cancelable 45 days prior to shipment from our vendors.  

Letters of credit amounting to approximately $2.6 million were outstanding as of April 1, 2012 and expire 
within one year. 

 
No cash dividends have been declared on Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock 

as we intend to retain earnings for use in the operation of our business and, therefore, do not anticipate 
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates 
 
 Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States.  In connection with the preparation of our financial statements, 
we are required to make assumptions and estimates about future events, and apply judgments that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and the related disclosures. We base our 
assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and other factors that 
management believes to be relevant at the time our consolidated financial statements are prepared. On a 
regular basis, management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to 
ensure that our financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. However, because future events and their effects cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates, and such 
differences could be material. 
 
 Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management believes that the following 
accounting estimates are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported 
financial results, and they require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, 
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resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. 
Management has reviewed these critical accounting estimates and related disclosures with the Audit 
Committee of our Board. 

 
Inventory Valuation. We value our inventory based on weighted-average cost, using the retail 

method at the item level.   
 
We consider cost to include direct cost of merchandise and inbound freight, plus internal costs 

associated with merchandise procurement, storage and handling. The retail method is widely used in the 
retail industry due to its practicality. Current owned retail represents the retail price for which merchandise 
is offered for sale on a regular basis reduced for any permanent or clearance markdowns. As a result, the 
retail method normally results in an inventory valuation that is lower than a traditional cost basis. 
  

Inherent in the retail method calculation are certain significant management judgments and 
estimates including markdowns and shrinkage, which can significantly impact the owned retail and, 
therefore, the ending inventory valuation at cost. Specifically, the failure to take permanent or clearance 
markdowns on a timely basis can result in an overstatement of carrying cost under the retail method. 
Management believes that its application of the retail method reasonably states inventory at the lower of 
cost or market. 
  

We regularly review aged and excess inventories to determine if the carrying value of such 
inventories exceeds market value. The carrying value of inventory is reduced to market value as 
necessary. A determination of market value requires estimates and judgment based on our historical 
markdown experience and anticipated markdowns based on future merchandising and advertising plans, 
seasonal considerations, expected business trends and other factors. 

 
Shrinkage is accrued as a percentage of sales based on historical shrinkage trends.  We perform 

physical inventories twice per year at our stores, near the end of our second quarter and near the end of 
our fiscal year.  The reserve for shrinkage represents an estimate since the last physical inventory date 
through the reporting date and actual results can vary from this reserve based on internal and external 
factors.  The shrinkage accrual at fiscal year end is immaterial. 

 
We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology used to establish our 

inventory valuation during the past three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood 
that there will be a material change in future estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our inventory. 
However, if estimates regarding consumer demand are inaccurate or our ability to maintain our cost 
complement percentages for certain merchandise changes in an unforeseen manner, we may be 
exposed to losses or gains that could be material. A 10% change in our valuation of slow moving 
inventories would not be material to the Company’s financial statements for the past three years. 

 
  Revenue Recognition.  Sales are recognized upon the purchase by customers at our retail store 
locations, less merchandise returned by customers.  Online sales are recognized upon shipment of 
merchandise to customers.  Revenue from gift cards, gift certificates and store merchandise credits is 
recognized at the time of redemption.  To enhance our customer’s shopping experience, our return policy 
is simply: “If at any time you are not completely satisfied with a service or item purchased, simply return it 
so we can make it right.”  When available we track the original sale date with each return and provide a 
reserve for projected merchandise returns based on this historical experience.  As we estimate a reserve 
for projected merchandise returns based on historical experience, the actual returns could differ from the 
reserve, which could impact sales.  We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a 
material change in the estimates we use to reserve for returns as a result of the change in our return 
policy.  However, if actual results are not consistent with our estimates, we may be exposed to losses or 
gains that could be material. 
 

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology used to recognize 
revenue during the past three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there 
will be a material change in the estimates we use to reserve for returns. Additionally, we believe that a 
10% change in our reserves for merchandise returns would not be material to the Company’s financial 
statements for the past three years.  
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We have a customer relationship management program, Action Pass, which allows members to 
earn points for each purchase completed at our stores. Points earned enable members to receive a 
certificate that may be redeemed on future purchases. The value of points earned are included in accrued 
expenses and recorded as a reduction in sales at the time the points are earned, based on the retail 
value of points that are projected to be redeemed. A 10% change in our customer loyalty program liability 
at April 1, 2012, would not be material to the Company’s financial statements.  

 
Gift Card/Certificate Redemption. We offer our customers the option of purchasing gift cards 

and, in the past, gift certificates which may be used toward the future purchase of our merchandise. 
Revenue from gift cards, gift certificates and store merchandise credits (the “Gift Cards”) is recognized at 
the time of redemption. The Gift Cards have no expiration dates. We record unredeemed Gift Cards as a 
liability until the point of redemption.  
  

Our historical experience indicates that not all issued Gift Cards are redeemed (the “Breakage”). 
Based upon over five years of redemption data, approximately 90% of Gift Cards are redeemed within the 
year after issuance, and approximately 95% are redeemed within 36 months of the date of issuance, after 
which redemption activity is negligible. Accordingly, we recognize Breakage as revenue by periodically 
decreasing the carrying value of the Gift Card liability by approximately 5% of the aggregate amount. A 
10% change in our breakage estimates at April 1, 2012, would not be material to the Company’s financial 
statements.  
 

We recognize Breakage at the time of redemption of Gift Cards.  The revenue from Breakage is 
included in the income statement line item net sales and amounted to $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 
million for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 

Self-Insurance. Property, general liability and workers' compensation insurance coverage is self-
insured for various levels. When estimating our self-insured liabilities, we consider a number of factors, 
including historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and valuations provided by 
independent third-party actuaries. Self-insurance accruals include claims filed, as well as estimates of 
claims incurred but not yet reported based on historical trends. 

 
In June 2011, we began to self-insure for a significant portion of employee health insurance 

coverage.  When estimating our self-insured liabilities, which include employee health, property, general 
liability and workers’ compensation insurance at various levels, we consider a number of factors, 
including historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and valuations provided by 
independent third-party actuaries.  Although we do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there 
will be a material change in the estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our self-insured liabilities, if 
actual results are not consistent with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to losses or 
gains that could be material.  This is particularly pertinent as it relates to employee health insurance, 
where our costs could be affected by seasonality and other factors, which could cause costs to vary 
widely and unpredictably from period to period.  A 10% change in our self-insured accruals at April 1, 
2012, would not be material to the Company’s financial statements. 

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is determined by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If such 
assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by comparing projected 
individual store discounted cash flow to the asset carrying values.  Declines in projected store cash flow 
could result in the impairment of assets.  
  

Our impairment loss calculations contain uncertainties because they require management to 
make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate future cash flows and asset fair values, including 
forecasting useful lives of the assets and selecting the discount rate that reflects the risk inherent in future 
cash flows.  We have not made any material changes in our impairment loss assessment methodology 
during the past three fiscal years.  We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a 
material change in the estimates or assumptions we use to calculate long-lived asset impairment losses. 
However, if actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions used in estimating future 
cash flows and asset fair values, we may be exposed to losses that could be material.  Using the 
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impairment evaluation methodology described herein, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges 
totaling $10.9 million and $10.7 million, in the aggregate, during fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The 
carrying value of property and equipment was approximately $22.1 million as of April 1, 2012.  
 

Accounting for Income Taxes.  As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, income taxes are estimated for each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process 
involves estimating actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting 
from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, which are generally included within the balance sheet. The likelihood that deferred 
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income is assessed, recognizing that future taxable 
income may give rise to new deferred tax assets. To the extent that future recovery is not likely, a 
valuation allowance would be established. To the extent that a valuation allowance is established or 
increased, an expense will be included within the tax provision in the income statement. 
 

Based on the cumulative losses to date, the near term outlook and other available objective 
evidence, management concluded that a valuation allowance equal to all of the net deferred tax assets, 
$25.1 million, should be recorded as the Company’s ability to return to profitability during the loss 
carryforward period does not meet the “more likely than not” standard.  The net deferred assets include 
federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $17.2 million and $45.5 million, respectively, which 
can be carried forward for a period ranging from 16 to 20 years.  

  
Provisions for income taxes are based on numerous factors that are subject to audit by the 

Internal Revenue Service and the tax authorities in the various jurisdictions in which we do business. 
 
Although management believes that the judgments and estimates discussed herein are 

reasonable, actual results could differ, and we may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material.  
An unfavorable tax settlement could require use of our cash and could result in an increase in our 
effective income tax rate in the period of resolution.  

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

 
See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this 10-K for a detailed description of 

recent accounting pronouncements.  We do not expect these recently issued accounting 
pronouncements to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

  
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
 Our exposure to interest rate risk consists primarily of borrowings under our credit facility, which 
bears interest at floating rates (primarily LIBOR rates). The impact on earnings or cash flow during the 
next fiscal year from a change of 100 basis points in the interest rate would not be significant. 
  
 Although we cannot precisely determine the overall effect of inflation, our operations are 
influenced by general economic conditions.  We do not believe that, historically, inflation has had a 
material impact on our results of operations as we are generally able to pass along inflationary increases 
in costs to our customers.  However, in recent periods, we have experienced an impact on overall sales 
due to a consumer spending slowdown as a result of macroeconomic circumstances which include weak 
housing trends and rising unemployment in our core markets. 
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
 
 The financial statements required by this section are submitted as part of Item 15 of this report. 
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

 FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
 None. 
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ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 
We have established and maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to 

ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time 
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  In designing and evaluating the 
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any disclosure controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable assurance of 
achieving an entity’s disclosure objectives.  The likelihood of achieving such objectives is affected by 
limitations inherent in disclosure controls and procedures.  These include the fact that human judgment in 
decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns in internal control can occur because of human 
failures such as simple errors, mistakes or intentional circumvention of the established processes. 

 
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Craig Levra, and Chief Financial Officer, Howard 

Kaminsky, with the participation of the Company’s management, have evaluated the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures, and have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report, these controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level. 
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 

Management prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and all 
related financial information contained in this Annual Report and for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer and implemented by the Company's Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  

 
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 

that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.  

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting can provide only 

reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

 
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 

reporting based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation 
included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, 
testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this 
evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is 
effective as of April 1, 2012.  
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

There were no changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting, identified by 
the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended 
April 1, 2012 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  
 
ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
 None. 
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PART III 
 
ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
 The information concerning the directors and executive officers of the Company is incorporated 
herein by reference from the section entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors” contained in the definitive 
proxy statement of the Company to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 
the Company’s last fiscal year (the “Proxy Statement”).  We have adopted a code of business conduct 
and ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers.  The code of ethics has 
been posted on our website under “About Us – Investor Relations – Corporate Governance” at 
sportchalet.com.  We intend to satisfy disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers 
from, any provisions of our code of business conduct and ethics on our website. 
 
ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
 The information concerning executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference from the 
sections entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and 
“Executive Compensation” contained in the Proxy Statement. 
 
ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT  
     AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
 The information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management 
is incorporated herein by reference from the sections entitled “General Information - Security Ownership 
of Principal Stockholders and Management” and “Executive Compensation” contained in the Proxy 
Statement. 
 
ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND 
      DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

 
The information concerning certain relationships and related transactions, and director 

independence, is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of 
Directors” contained in the Proxy Statement. 
 
ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 
 

The information concerning principal accountant fees and services is incorporated herein by 
reference from the section entitled “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” contained in the 
Proxy Statement.  
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PART IV 
 
ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 
(a) (1) Financial Statements - The financial statements listed on the accompanying Index  

to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this report.   
 

(2) Schedules – Valuations and Qualifying Accounts. 
 
For fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, in thousands. 
 

Allowance for Balance at Balance at
sales returns beginning of end of 
(year ended) period Additions Deductions period

4/1/2012 421$                  21,452$         21,423$         450$                  
4/3/2011 433$                  21,457$         21,469$         421$                  
3/28/2010 374$                  29,041$         28,982$         433$                  

 
(b) Exhibits - See Index on Page 54. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Sport Chalet, Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sport Chalet, Inc. as of April 1, 2012 
and April 3, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 1, 2012.  Our audits also included the financial 
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(2).  These consolidated financial statements and the 
financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The 
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis 
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Sport Chalet, Inc. as of April 1, 2012 and April 3, 2011, 
and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended April 1, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the 
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
information set forth therein. 
 
 
 
/s/ Moss Adams LLP 
 
Los Angeles, California 
June 8, 2012 
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Sport Chalet, Inc. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
 

2012 2011 2010

Net sales 349,883$      362,483$      353,695$       
Cost of goods sold, buying and occupancy costs 254,510       260,131       258,873         
Gross prof it 95,373         102,352       94,822           

Selling, general and administrative expenses 89,203         92,647         85,894           
Depreciation and amortization 9,450           10,351         12,644           
Impairment charge -                   -                   10,935           
Loss from operations (3,280)          (646)             (14,651)          

Interest expense 1,790           2,366           2,762             
Loss before income taxes (5,070)          (3,012)          (17,413)          

Income tax provision (benefit) 2                  3                  (9,139)            
Net loss (5,072)$         (3,015)$         (8,274)$          

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted (0.36)$           (0.21)$           (0.59)$            

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding:

Basic and diluted 14,190         14,189         14,126           

Fiscal year

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 

April 1, April 3,

2012 2011

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,811$                  51$                        

Accounts receivable, net 2,777                   2,109                    

Merchandise inventories  98,181                 93,588                  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,603                   4,542                    

Total current assets 105,372               100,290                

Fixed assets, net 22,081                 26,830                  

Total assets 127,453$              127,120$               

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 28,220$                21,606$                 

Loan payable to bank 41,255                 40,854                  

Salaries and w ages payable 2,980                   3,247                    

Other accrued expenses  17,370                 16,943                  

Total current liabilities 89,825                 82,650                  

Deferred rent 19,340                 22,024                  

Commitments and contingencies 

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value:

Authorized shares – 2,000,000 -                             -                             
Issued and outstanding shares – none 

Class A Common Stock, $.01 par value:
Authorized shares – 46,000,000 124                        124                        
Issued and outstanding shares – 12,414,490 at
April 1, 2012 and 12,413,490 at April 3, 2011 

Class B Common Stock, $.01 par value:
Authorized shares – 2,000,000 18                          18                          
Issued and outstanding shares – 1,775,821 at
April 1, 2012 and 1,775,821 at April 3, 2011

Additional paid-in capital 37,021                 36,107                  

Accumulated deficit (18,875)                (13,803)                 

Total stockholders’ equity 18,288                   22,446                   
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 127,453$              127,120$               

(in thousands, except share amounts)

 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Sport Chalet, Inc. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
 

Additional Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount paid-in capital deficit Total

Balance at March 29, 2009 12,359,990  124$      1,763,321  18$        34,458$           (2,514)$            32,086$ 
Options exercised 52,500         1            7,500         142                  142        
Share-based compensation 530                  530        
Net loss for 2010 (8,274)              (8,274)    

Balance at March 28, 2010 12,412,490  124$      1,770,821  18$        35,130$           (10,788)$          24,484$ 
Options exercised 1,000           5,000         12                    12          
Share-based compensation 965                  965        
Net loss for 2011 (3,015)              (3,015)    

Balance at April 3, 2011 12,413,490  124$      1,775,821  18$        36,107$           (13,803)$          22,446$ 
Options exercised 1,000           -         
Share-based compensation 914                  914        
Net loss for 2012 (5,072)              (5,072)    

Balance at April 1, 2012 12,414,490  124$      1,775,821  18$        37,021$           (18,875)$          18,288$ 

Class A Class B 

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Sport Chalet, Inc. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

2012 2011 2010

Operating activities 
Net loss (5,072)$         (3,015)$         (8,274)$          

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash 
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 9,450           10,351         12,644           

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 39                4                   4                   

Impairment charge -                   -                    10,935           

Share-based compensation 914              965              530                

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (668)             294              (969)               

Merchandise inventories (4,592)          3,692           (8,849)            

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,939           (3,307)          943                

Income tax receivable -                   12                992                

Accounts payable 5,533           (3,392)          (6,085)            

Salaries and w ages payable (267)             (725)             (178)               

Other accrued expenses (295)             (1,104)          (3,470)            

Deferred rent (2,684)          (1,001)          (1,161)            

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  5,297           2,774           (2,938)            

Investing activities 
Purchase of f ixed assets (3,023)          (1,205)          (738)               

Proceeds from sale of assets 85                -                    -                    

Net cash used in investing activities (2,938)          (1,205)          (738)               

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrow ing 376,359       384,409       396,262         

Repayment of bank borrow ing (375,958)      (388,845)      (390,112)        

Proceeds from exercise of stock options -                   12                142                

Net cash provided by (used in) f inancing activities 401              (4,424)          6,292             

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,760           (2,855)          2,616             

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 51                2,906           290                

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,811$          51$               2,906$           

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest 1,762$          2,274$          2,645$           

Income tax 2$                 -$                   -$                  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing 
and financing activities
   Purchases of f ixed assets on credit 1,081$          
   Fixed assets acquired under capital leases 722$             1,107$          -$                  

Fiscal year

(in thousands)

 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Basis of Presentation  
 
Operations 

 
Sport Chalet, Inc. (the “Company”), founded by Norbert Olberz in 1959, is a leading operator of 

full-service, specialty sporting goods stores offering a broad assortment of brand name sporting goods 
equipment, apparel, and footwear.  As of April 1, 2012, the Company operated 54 stores including 33 
locations in Southern California, nine in Northern California, eight in Arizona, three in Nevada, and one in 
Utah.  In addition, the Company has a Team Sales Division and an online store at sportchalet.com.  Sport 
Chalet, Inc. has two wholly owned subsidiaries: Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC and Sport Chalet Team 
Sales, Inc. 

 
Fiscal Year 

 
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Sunday nearest to the last day of March.  Fiscal years 

2012, 2011, and 2010 ended on April 1, 2012, April 3, 2011, and March 28, 2010, respectively.  All fiscal 
years presented include 52 weeks of operations except fiscal 2011, which included 53 weeks. 

 
Common Stock 

 
The Company has two classes of common stock.  Each share of Class B Common Stock entitles 

the holder to one vote, and each share of Class A Common Stock entitles the holder to 1/20th of one 
vote.  The Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock will generally vote on all matters as a 
single class, except as required by applicable law.  The holders of Class A Common Stock, voting as a 
separate class, are also entitled to elect one director, and the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority 
of the shares of Class A Common Stock, voting as a separate class, will be required to amend certain 
provisions of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation.  

 
Each share of Class A Common Stock and each share of Class B Common Stock shall have 

identical rights with respect to dividends and distributions; provided, however, that the holder of each 
share of Class A Common Stock shall be entitled to receive a regular cash dividend equal to 110% of any 
regular cash dividend paid with respect to a share of Class B Common Stock; and provided, further, that 
dividends or other distributions payable on the common stock in shares of common stock shall be made 
to all holders of common stock and may be made only as follows:  (i) in shares of Class A Common Stock 
to the record holders of Class A Common Stock and to the record holders of Class B Common Stock, 
(ii) in shares of Class A Common Stock to the record holders of Class A Common Stock and in shares of 
Class B Common Stock to the record holders of Class B Common Stock solely in connection with a 
proportionate dividend to effectuate a split of the common stock, or (iii) in any other authorized class or 
series of capital stock to the holders of both classes of common stock. 

 
 Irene and Eric Olberz, the wife and son of the Company's founder, along with certain members of 
management collectively own approximately 63% of the outstanding shares of the Class A Common 
Stock and Class B Common Stock at April 1, 2012.   
 
Segments of an Enterprise 
 

The Company operates in a single operating segment and operates only in the United States.   
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries: Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC and Sport Chalet Team Sales, Inc.  All significant inter-
company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of less than three months 
when purchased to be cash equivalents.  Management of cash provides for the reimbursement of all bank 
disbursement accounts on a daily basis.   

 
The Company has a concentration of credit risk when cash deposits in banks are in excess of 

federally insured limits in the event of nonperformance by the related financial institution.  However, 
management does not anticipate nonperformance by these financial institutions. 
 
Merchandise Inventories 
 

We value our inventory based on weighted-average cost, using the retail method at the item level.   
 
We consider cost to include direct cost of merchandise and inbound freight, plus internal costs 

associated with merchandise procurement, storage and handling. The retail method is widely used in the 
retail industry due to its practicality. Current owned retail represents the retail price for which merchandise 
is offered for sale on a regular basis reduced for any permanent or clearance markdowns. As a result, the 
retail method normally results in an inventory valuation that is lower than a traditional cost basis. 
  

Inherent in the retail method calculation are certain significant management judgments and 
estimates including markdowns and shrinkage, which can significantly impact the owned retail and, 
therefore, the ending inventory valuation at cost. Specifically, the failure to take permanent or clearance 
markdowns on a timely basis can result in an overstatement of carrying cost under the retail method. 
Management believes that its application of the retail method reasonably states inventory at the lower of 
cost or market. 
  

We regularly review aged and excess inventories to determine if the carrying value of such 
inventories exceeds market value and the carrying value of inventory is reduced to market value as 
necessary. A determination of market value requires estimates and judgment based on our historical 
markdown experience and anticipated markdowns based on future merchandising and advertising plans, 
seasonal considerations, expected business trends and other factors. 

 
Shrinkage is accrued as a percentage of sales based on historical shrinkage trends.  We perform 

physical inventories twice per year at our stores, near the end of our second quarter and near the end of 
our fiscal year.  The reserve for shrinkage represents an estimate since the last physical inventory date 
through the reporting date and actual results can vary from this reserve based on internal and external 
factors.  The shrinkage accrual at fiscal year end is immaterial. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 

Accounts receivable is reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for 
doubtful accounts represents an estimate of the losses inherent in accounts receivable based on several 
factors, including historical trends of aging of accounts, write-off experience and expectations of future 
performance.   The following table summarizes accounts receivable, which consists of amounts due from 
customers, vendors and landlords: 

 
April 1, April 3,

2012 2011

Customers 2,653$              2,284$              
Vendors 248                  19                     
Other 216                  130                  

3,117               2,433               
Allow ance for doubtful accounts (340)                 (324)                 
Net accounts receivable 2,777$              2,109$              

(in thousands)
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Fixed Assets 
 

Fixed assets are primarily fixtures, equipment, and leasehold improvements which are stated on 
the basis of cost.  Depreciation of fixtures and equipment is computed primarily on the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  Leasehold improvements are amortized on the 
straight-line method over the shorter of the life of the asset or the remaining lease term, taking into 
consideration modifications to lease agreements which may shorten the remaining lease term.   

 
The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows: 
 

Fixtures and equipment   5-7 years 
Computer software and equipment 3-7 years 
Rental equipment   3 years 
Vehicles    5 years 
Leasehold improvements  10-15 years 

 
The following table summarizes the components of fixed assets: 

 
April 1, April 3,

2012 2011

Fixtures and equipment 40,001$            39,968$            

Computer softw are and equipment 35,027             33,216             

Rental equipment 6,893               6,630               

Vehicles 361                  361                   

Leasehold improvements 61,413             62,980             
143,695           143,155           

Accumulated depreciation (121,614)          (116,325)          

Net f ixed assets 22,081$            26,830$            

(in thousands)

 
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and the costs of additions and 

betterments that increase the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. When leasehold improvements or 
equipment are disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed 
from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in operations.  
 
Long-Lived Assets 
 

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of 
assets to be held and used is determined by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future 
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If such assets are considered 
impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by comparing projected individual store discounted 
cash flow to the asset carrying values. 

 
A non-cash impairment charge of $10.9 million was recorded in fiscal 2010, related to six stores 

with significantly lower than expected sales volume which, based on trends, were not expected to obtain 
sufficient cash flow over their remaining lease terms to support the net book value of their leasehold 
improvements and fixtures.   

 
Financial Instruments 

 
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which 

approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. 
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Pre-opening Costs 

Non-capital expenditures incurred prior to the opening of a new store are charged to operations 
as incurred. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from retail sales are recognized at the time the customer receives the merchandise, net 
of sales tax and an allowance for estimated returns.  Online sales are recognized upon shipment of 
merchandise to customers.  Outbound shipping costs billed to customers are recorded as revenues.   
Issuance of gift cards and store credits are recorded as a liability until redeemed for merchandise.  
Revenues from services and licensing agreements are generally recorded on a cash basis, which 
approximates when the revenue is earned, and are not material.  

 
The Company has a customer relationship management program, Action Pass, which allows 

members to earn points for each purchase completed at its stores.  Points earned enable members to 
receive a certificate that may be redeemed on future purchases.  The value of points earned are included 
in accrued expenses and recorded as a reduction in sales at the time the points are earned, based on the 
retail value of points that are projected to be redeemed. 

Gift Card/Certificate Redemption  
  
 Gift cards and certificates are issued by the Company to be used toward the future purchase of 
the Company’s merchandise. Revenue from gift cards, gift certificates and store merchandise credits (the 
“Gift Cards”) are recognized at the time of redemption.   The Gift Cards have no expiration dates.   
  

The Company’s experience indicates that not all issued Gift Cards are redeemed (the 
“Breakage”).  Accordingly, Breakage is recognized as revenue by periodically decreasing the carrying 
value of the Gift Card liability by approximately 5% of the aggregate amount.  The Company recognizes 
Breakage at the time of redemption of Gift Cards.  The revenue from Breakage is included in the income 
statement line item net sales and amounted to $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million for fiscal years 
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Cost of Goods Sold, Buying and Occupancy 

 Cost of goods sold, buying and occupancy includes merchandise costs, net of discounts and 
allowances, inbound freight and outbound shipping costs, as well as distribution center, purchasing, and 
occupancy costs. Distribution center costs include receiving costs, internal transfer costs, labor, building 
rent, utilities, depreciation, repairs and maintenance for the Company’s distribution center and distribution 
system. Purchasing costs include both labor and administrative expense associated with the purchase of 
the Company’s merchandise.  Occupancy costs primarily consist of store rent.  All these costs reflect, in 
management’s opinion, the direct cost involved in bringing the Company’s merchandise to market. 
 
Vendor Allowances 
  
 Vendor allowances include consideration received from vendors, such as volume rebates and 
cooperative advertising funds. Vendor allowances other than for cooperative advertising are immaterial 
and accounted for when received. The majority of this consideration is based on contract terms. Amounts 
that represent the reimbursement of costs incurred for advertising are recorded as a reduction of the 
related expense in the period incurred. Amounts expected to be received from vendors relating to the 
purchase of merchandise are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold as the merchandise is sold.  

Advertising Costs 

 Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense, net of vendor reimbursement, 
amounted to $5.3 million, $4.5 million and $4.3 million for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  
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The amount of vendor reimbursements amounted to $2.9 million, $2.0 million and $3.4 million for fiscal 
years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting to compute the difference between the 
tax basis of assets and liabilities and the related financial reporting amounts using currently enacted tax 
laws and rates. 

Deferred Rent 

Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases or free rent 
periods is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term, beginning on the date of initial 
possession, which is generally when the Company can enter the space and begin the construction build-
out.  The amount of the excess of straight line rent expense over scheduled payments is recorded as a 
deferred rent liability. Construction allowances and other such lease incentives are recorded as deferred 
credits, and are amortized on a straight line basis as a reduction of rent expense over the lease term. 
 

When lease agreements are modified any remaining balance of deferred rent or credits are 
amortized on a straight line basis over the new term beginning on the effective date of the modification 
over the modified remaining lease term.  Changes to future rent payments are also amortized on a 
straight line basis.   Some lease modifications feature kick-out clauses, which allow the Company to 
terminate the lease at its option at a specified date when contractually defined minimum sales volumes 
are not exceeded.  We determine the probability of exceeding the sales volume and if necessary use the 
shorter of the kick-out clause date or the remaining lease term as the straight line amortization period.  

 
Self-Insurance Accruals  

 The Company self-insures a significant portion of expected losses under workers’ compensation 
and general liability programs.  Accrued liabilities have been recorded based on estimates of the ultimate 
costs to settle incurred claims, both reported and unreported. 

 
In June 2011, the Company began to self-insure for a significant portion of employee health 

insurance coverage.  When estimating our self-insured liabilities, which include employee health, 
property, general liability and workers’ compensation insurance at various levels, we consider a number 
of factors, including historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and valuations 
provided by independent third-party actuaries.   
 
Loss Per Share  

Loss per share, basic, is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the year.  Loss per share, diluted, is computed based on the weighted average number of 
common and potentially dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding for the year.   The Company 
does not utilize the two-class method to report its earnings per share. The two-class method is an 
earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock according 
to participation rights in undistributed earnings. Our Class A Common Stock is entitled to receive a 
regular cash dividend equal to 110% of any regular cash dividend paid with respect to a share of Class B 
Common Stock, which could result in the two-class method of computing earnings per share. However 
the application of this method would result in an immaterial change in earnings per share and is therefore 
not presented. 
 

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted loss per share are as follows: 
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2012 2011 2010

Net loss (5,072)$         (3,015)$         (8,274)$          

Weighted average number of

common shares outstanding 14,190         14,189         14,126          

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.36)$           (0.21)$           (0.59)$            

Fiscal year

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
 Options to purchase an aggregate of 2.2 million, 1.8 million and 1.9 million shares for fiscal years 
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as 
their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the 2012, 2011 and 2010 fiscal years 
was $0.9 million, $1.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively. 

 
The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 

option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating 
the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, 
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock 
price volatility.  The following weighted average assumptions are used to estimate the fair value for stock 
options granted in the years listed below: 

 

2012 2011 2010

Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 2.0% 2.3%

Expected volatility 103.0% 93.2% 92.5%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected life in years 6.5 8.2 6.4

Fiscal year 

 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.39,   

$1.76 and $1.89, respectively. 
 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 
 
 In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued additional guidance on 
fair value measurements that clarifies the application of existing guidance and disclosure requirements, 
changes certain fair value measurement principles and requires additional disclosures about fair value 
measurements.  The updated guidance is effective on a prospective basis for financial statements issued 
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2011.  The 
effect of this guidance will not have a material impact on our financial statements.  
 

In December 2011, the FASB issued requirements on disclosures about offsetting and related 
arrangements for financial instruments and derivative instruments, including gross and net information 
and evaluation of the effect of netting arrangements on the statement of financial position.  The effect of 
this requirement will not have a material impact on our financial statements. 
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3. Loans Payable to Bank
 

Our revolving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. (the “Lender”) provides for advances up to 
$65.0 million, increasing to $70.0 million from September 1st of each year through December 31st of 
each year.  This facility also provides for up to $10.0 million in authorized letters of credit.  The amount 
we may borrow under this credit facility (the “Line Amount”) is limited to a percentage of the value of 
accounts receivable and eligible inventory, minus certain reserves.  A significant decrease in eligible 
inventory due to our vendor’s unwillingness to ship us merchandise, the aging of inventory and/or an 
unfavorable inventory appraisal could have an adverse effect on our borrowing capacity under our credit 
facility, which may adversely affect the adequacy of our working capital.  Interest accrues at the Lender’s 
prime rate plus 1.75% (5.00% at April 1, 2012), or at our option we can fix the rate for a period of time at 
LIBOR plus 2.75%.  In addition, there is an unused commitment fee of 0.25% per year, based on a 
weighted average formula.  This credit facility expires in October 2014.  Our obligation to the Lender is 
presently secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of our non-real estate assets, and we are 
subject to, among others, a covenant that we maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (replacing a 
previous EBITDA covenant) measured monthly on a trailing 12-month basis between 0.80 to 1.00 and 
1.25 to 1.00 (varying from quarter to quarter).  The covenant would only apply if our availability falls below 
the greater of (x) $5.0 million and (y) 10% of the Line Amount or the borrowing base, whichever is less.  
In the event of a significant decrease in availability under our credit facility, it is highly likely that the 
covenant would be violated.  At April 1, 2012, our credit facility had a borrowing capacity of $59.5 million, 
of which we utilized $43.9 million (including a letter of credit of $2.6 million) and had $15.6 million in 
availability, $9.6 million above the availability requirement of $6.0 million. 

 
The weighted average interest rate on borrowings during the 2012, 2011 and 2010 fiscal years 

was 3.21%, 4.23% and 4.86%, respectively. 
 

4. Other Accrued Expenses 
 

Other accrued expenses consist of the following: 
 

April 1, April 3,
2012 2011

Amount due to customers 4,599$              4,566$              

Accrued sales tax 2,590               3,552               

Self-insurance accruals 2,313               2,199               

Other 7,868               6,626               

Other accrued expenses 17,370$            16,943$            

(in thousands)

 
5. Commitments and Contingencies 

 
The Company leases all of its existing store locations (including its corporate office space and 

three stores, one of which was through July 7, 2011, from Irene and Eric Olberz, the wife and son of the 
Company’s founder). The leases for most of the existing stores are for approximately ten-year terms plus 
multiple option periods under non-cancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases.  Some of 
the leases provide for contingent rent based upon a percentage of sales in excess of specified minimums.  
If there are any free rent periods, they are accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term, 
beginning on the date of initial possession, which is generally when the Company enters the space to 
begin the construction build-out.  The amount of the excess of straight line rent expense over scheduled 
payments is recorded as a deferred rent liability. Construction allowances and other such lease 
incentives are recorded as deferred credits, and are amortized on a straight line basis as a reduction of 
rent expense over the lease term.  Many of the leases obligate the Company to pay costs of 
maintenance, utilities, and property taxes.   

 
Future minimum payments, including lease modifications, by year and in the aggregate, under 

those leases with terms of one year or more, consist of the following at April 1, 2012: 
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Leases w ith Unrelated 
Irene Olberz leases Total

2013 1,521$               29,340$             30,861$             
2014 1,285                 26,070               27,355               
2015 1,184                 21,964               23,148               
2016 569                    17,064               17,633               
2017 -                         15,409               15,409               

Thereafter -                         34,594               34,594               
4,559$              144,441$          149,000$          

(in thousands)

 
Total rent expense amounted to $36.5 million, $37.2 million and $41.2 million for fiscal years 

2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which include $2.4 million, $3.1 million and $3.2 million, respectively, 
for the leases with Irene and Eric Olberz. Also, total rent expense includes contingent rentals calculated 
as a percentage of gross sales over certain base amounts of $1.8 million, $1.6 million and $1.7 million for 
fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

 
On July 15, 2011, Norbert Olberz passed away.  Pursuant to his amended employment contract 

dated April 1, 2000, upon his death, Irene Olberz, his wife will be paid a base salary of $0.1 million per 
year until March 31, 2014. 
 

On April 12, 2012, the Company was served with a complaint filed in the California Superior 
Court for the County of Los Angeles, entitled Brian Bennett v. Sport Chalet, Inc. and Sport Chalet Team 
Sales, Inc. (Case No. BC482472), alleging violations of the California Civil Code.  The complaint was 
brought as a purported class action on behalf of wheelchair-bound persons located in California.  The 
plaintiff alleges, among other things, that the Company violated California state law by failing to make 
certain store locations accessible to individuals with disabilities. The plaintiff seeks, on behalf of the class 
members, unspecified amounts of damages; attorneys’ fees and costs; and injunctive relief.  The 
Company intends to defend this litigation vigorously.  The Company’s estimated total cost for this 
litigation is not expected to have a material negative impact on the Company’s results of operations or 
financial condition. 
 

From time to time, the Company is involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to the 
conduct of its business.  Management does not believe that any of these legal proceedings will have a 
material adverse impact on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company, 
either due to the nature of the claims, or because management believes that such claims should not 
exceed the limits of the Company’s insurance coverage. 
 
6. Income Taxes 
 
 The provision (benefit) for income taxes for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, consists of the 
following: 
 

2012 2011 2010

Federal:
Current -$                  -$                  (9,136)$         

Deferred -                    -                   -                   
-                    -                   (9,136)          

State:
Current 2                   3                  (3)                 

Deferred -                    -                   -                   
2                   3                  (3)                 
2$                 3$                 (9,139)$         

Fiscal year

(in thousands)

 
In fiscal 2010, we recorded a tax benefit of $9.1 million related to the portion of the 2009 net 

operating loss that was previously not carried back and reduced the associated valuation allowance.  
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We evaluate whether a valuation allowance should be established against our net deferred tax 

assets based on the consideration of all available evidence using a "more likely than not" standard.  
Significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified.  The determination to record a 
valuation allowance is based on the recent history of cumulative losses and losses expected in the near 
future.  In conducting our analysis, we utilize a consistent approach which considers our current year 
loss, including an assessment of the degree to which any losses are driven by items that are unusual in 
nature and incurred to improve future profitability.  In addition, we review changes in near-term market 
conditions and any other factors arising during the period which may impact our future operating results. 

   
As a result of our previous analysis, we determined that a full valuation allowance against our net 

deferred tax assets was required.  We will not record income tax benefits in the consolidated financial 
statements until it is determined that it is more likely than not that we will generate sufficient taxable 
income to realize our deferred income tax assets.  As of April 1, 2012, our net deferred tax assets and 
related valuation allowance totaled $25.1 million.  The Company has federal and state net operating loss 
carryforwards of $17.2 million and $45.5 million, respectively, which can be carried forward for a period 
ranging from 16 to 20 years.  

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax 
purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets as of fiscal year 
end 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 

 

Current Non-current Current Non-current

Deferred tax assets:
Fixed assets $                  - 11,636$        $                  - 10,336$        

Net operating loss carryforw ard -                   8,497           -                    7,550            

Adjustments to the carrying value of inventory 2,206             -                     2,219             -                     
Accrued vacation 493              -                   457               -                    

Self-insurance accruals 1,020           -                   995               -                    

Allow ance for bad debt and sales returns 344              -                   297               -                    

Deferred rent -                   (735)             -                    248               

Other 1,682           -                   1,046            -                    

Total deferred tax assets before 
valuation allow ance 5,745           19,398         5,014            18,134          

Valuation allow ance (5,745)          (19,398)        (5,014)           (18,134)          

Total deferred tax assets -$                  -$                  -$                   -$                  

(in thousands)

2012
Fiscal year

2011

 
A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 with the 

amount computed using the federal statutory rate, are as follows: 
 

2012 2011 2010

before taxes (1,725)$         (1,025)$         (5,920)$          
State taxes, net of federal tax effect (281)             (176)             (1,016)           
Deferred tax valuation allow ance 1,993           1,179           (2,102)           

Other, net 15                  25                  (101)               
2$                 3$                 (9,139)$          

(in thousands)
Statutory rate, 34% applied to loss

Fiscal year

 
 We determined there is no liability related to uncertain tax positions.  When applicable, we 
recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.  The tax years 
after fiscal 2009 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and the fiscal 2011 is 
currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service.  The tax years after fiscal 2008 remain open to 
examination by state tax authorities.   
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7. Award Plan and Stock Award 
 
Award Plan 
 

The Company’s 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (“2004 Plan”) became effective on August 2, 2004 
and terminated its prior plan (“1992 Plan”).  Awards outstanding under the 1992 Plan may be exercised or 
settled in accordance with their original terms.  Any shares not issued under the 1992 Plan were added to 
the shares available for issuance under the 2004 Plan. 

 
Under the 2004 Plan, stock options or other awards to purchase or receive shares of the 

Company’s common stock may be granted to employees, directors and consultants of the Company and 
its affiliates.  Generally, the option price per share shall not be less than fair market value at the date of 
grant, and options vest for periods up to five years and if not exercised, expire ten years from the date of 
grant. The 2004 Plan also provides for issuance by the Company of stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock and performance awards. 

  
 In November 2009, we completed an offer to exchange certain employee stock options for new 

options (the "Option Exchange").   Under the Option Exchange, each eligible employee, other than the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and members of the Board of Directors, were given the 
opportunity to exchange some or all of his or her outstanding options to purchase shares of Class A 
Common Stock, with exercise prices equal to or greater than $2.38 per share, that were granted under 
the Company's 1992 Incentive Award Plan or 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, for new options to purchase a 
fewer number of shares than the exchanged options. The number of shares underlying the new options 
equaled one-half of the number of shares underlying the exchanged options. The exercise price of the 
new options was $1.71, the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the new option grant date, 
November 9, 2009, as reported by The Nasdaq Global Market. The new options vest in two equal 
installments, one-half on the first anniversary of the new option grant date and the remaining one-half on 
the second anniversary of the new option grant date, regardless of whether the exchanged options were 
fully or partially vested. The term of the new options is six years, regardless of the remaining term of the 
exchanged options.  Options to purchase an aggregate of 721,927 shares of Class A Common Stock 
were exchanged for new options to purchase an aggregate of 360,976 shares of Class A Common Stock.  
The new options issued in the Option Exchange was accounted for as a modification of equity classified 
awards in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) ASC 718-10-50-2.h.2.  A 
total of 147 employees participated in the Option Exchange and the total incremental compensation cost 
resulting from the Option Exchange was not material.   

 
As of April 1, 2012, there were 618,480 shares of common stock available for issuance pursuant 

to future stock option grants. There are 2.2 million Class A Options to purchase Class A Common Stock 
and 35,251 Class B Options to purchase Class B Common Stock outstanding at April 1, 2012, the Class 
A Options and Class B Options are combined in the disclosures that follow.  The stock option activity 
during fiscal 2012 is presented in the following table:  
 

Weighted-
average 

Weighted remaining Aggregate 
average contractual intrinsic value 

Options exercise price term (years) (in 000's)
Outstanding as ofApril 3, 2011 1,791,321          2.87$                 
Granted 614,500             1.70                   
Exercised (1,000)                0.17                   
Forfeited or expired (183,475)            3.68                   
Outstanding as of April 1, 2012 2,221,346         2.48$                7.1                    16$                   

Vested as of April 1, 2012 1,427,046         2.80$                6.1                    8$                     
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The aggregate intrinsic value is based on the Company’s closing stock price of $1.28 and $1.70 
for Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, respectively, as of the last trading day of the 
period ended April 1, 2012.   

 
As of April 1, 2012, total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to non-vested 

stock options was $0.8 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 
approximately 2.1 years. 

 
The Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options. 
 

8. Employee Retirement Plan 
 
The Sport Chalet, Inc. Employee Retirement Savings Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covers all eligible 

employees.  Employees who have completed three months of service and are 21 years of age or older 
are eligible to participate.  Employees may contribute from 2% to 100% of their eligible earnings or the 
government limit (whichever is less).  The Company matched 25% of the first 4% of employee pre-tax 
earnings deferred into the 401(k) Plan up to December 31, 2009.  The Company did not make 
discretionary contributions in fiscal years 2012 and 2011.  The Company expense related to this plan was 
$0.1 million for fiscal year 2010. 
 
9. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited) 
 

A summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations are as follows:   
 

Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

FY 2012
Net sales 81,856$         97,223$         87,980$         82,824$         
Gross profit 19,544           26,306           25,699           23,824           
(Loss) income from operations (3,379)            (572)               1,030             (359)               
Net (loss) income (3,809)            (1,036)            599                (826)               
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (0.27)$            (0.07)$            0.04$             (0.06)$            

Fourth Third Second First
Quarter (1) Quarter Quarter Quarter

FY 2011
Net sales 98,205$         95,828$         88,763$         79,687$         
Gross profit 28,440           26,364           25,008           22,540           
Income (loss) from operations 792                (318)               131                (1,251)            
Net income (loss) 307                (861)               (518)               (1,943)            
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.02$             (0.06)$            (0.04)$            (0.14)$            

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(1) Fiscal 2011 w as a 53 w eek year and thus included one extra w eek in the fourth 
      quarter (14 w eeks) and ended on April 3, 2011.
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly 
authorized. 

SPORT CHALET, INC. 
(Registrant) 

 
Date:  June 8, 2012 By: /s/  HOWARD K. KAMINSKY                   

 Howard K. Kaminsky, Executive Vice President – 
 Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
 
 KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears 
below hereby constitutes and appoints Howard K. Kaminsky, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial 
Officer and Secretary, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, to sign 
and execute on behalf of the undersigned any and all amendments to this report, and to perform any acts 
necessary in order to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power 
and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requested and necessary to be done in 
connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby 
ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or their or his or her substitutes, shall do 
or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated. 

 
/s/ CRAIG L. LEVRA   Date:  June 8, 2012                

 Craig L. Levra, Chairman,  
 Chief Executive Officer and President 
 (Principal Executive Officer) 

 
/s/  HOWARD K. KAMINSKY     Date:  June 8, 2012                 

 Howard K. Kaminsky, Executive Vice President – 
 Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
         
 /s/  JOHN R. ATTWOOD  Date:  June 8, 2012                 
 John R. Attwood, Director 
 
 /s/  DONALD J. HOWARD   Date:  June 8, 2012                 
 Donald J. Howard, Director 
  
 /s/  RACHEL C. GLASER   Date:  June 8, 2012                 
 Rachel C. Glaser, Director 
 

/s/  ERIC S. OLBERZ  Date:  June 8, 2012                
 Eric S. Olberz, Director  
    
 /s/  RANDALL G. SCOVILLE                Date:  June 8, 2012                 

 Randall G. Scoville, Director 
  
 /s/  KEVIN J. VENTRUDO  Date:  June 8, 2012                 

 Kevin J. Ventrudo, Director 
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(18) 

   
10.15 Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement dated as of September 25, 2003, between the Company 

and Bank of America, N.A.  
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10.21 

 
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 20, 2008, between the 
Company, together with each of the other Obligated Parties party thereto from time to time, 
certain financial institutions, as Lenders thereunder, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent. 

 
(25) 

 
10.22 

 
Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 18, 2010, 
between the Company, together with each of the other Obligated Parties party thereto from time 
to time, certain financial institutions, as Lenders thereunder, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent. 

 
(26) 

 
10.23 

 
Pledge Agreement dated as of June 20, 2008, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., 
as administrative agent for the Lenders. 

(27) 

   
10.24 Secured Continuing Guaranty dated as of June 20, 2008, by Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC in 

favor of Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders. 
(28) 

   
10.25 Website Security Agreement and Power of Attorney dated as of June 20, 2008, between the 

Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders. 
(29) 

   
10.26 Post Closing Agreement dated as of June 20, 2008, between the Company and Bank of America, 

N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders. 
(30) 

   
10.27 Trademark Security Agreement dated as of June 20, 2008, between the Company and Bank of 

America, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders. 
(31) 

   
10.28 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Limited 

Forbearance Agreement dated as of December 28, 2008, among the Company, Sport Chalet 
Value Services, LLC, the Lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

(32) 

   
10.29 Letter agreement dated as of December 28, 2008, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value 

Services, LLC and Bank of America, N.A. 
(33) 

   
10.30 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Limited 

Forbearance Agreement dated as of January 29, 2009, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value 
Services, LLC, the Lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

(34) 

   
10.31 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver 

dated as of March 2, 2009, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC, the Lenders 
and Bank of America, N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

(35) 

   
10.32 Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of May 4, 

2009, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC, the Lenders and Bank of America, 
N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

(36) 

 
10.33 

 
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 5, 
2010, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC, the Lenders and Bank of America, 
N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

 
(37) 

 
10.34 

 
First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of 
May 1, 2012, among the Company, Sport Chalet Value Services, LLC, the Lenders and Bank of 
America, N.A., as agent for the Lenders. 

 
(38) 

 
10.35* 

 
Employment Agreement dated as of April 1, 2000, between the Company and Norbert J. Olberz. 

 
(39) 

   
10.36* Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated as of December 9, 2005, between the 

Company and Norbert J. Olberz. 
(40) 

   
10.37* Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2008, between the Company and Craig L. 

Levra. 
(41) 

   
10.38* Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2008, between the Company and Howard K. 

Kaminsky. 
(42) 
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10.39* Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2008, between the Company and Dennis D. 

Trausch. 
(43) 

   
 
10.40* 

 
Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2008, between the Company and Thomas H. 
Tennyson. 

 
(44) 

   
10.41* Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2008, between the Company and Tim 

Anderson. 
(45) 

   
10.42* Form of letter agreement dated as of March 31, 2006 re acceleration of vesting of options 

between the Company and certain of its executive officers and key employees. 
(46) 

   
14.1 Code of Conduct. (47) 
   
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. † 
 
24.1 

 
Power of attorney (see signature page). 

 

   
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
† 

   
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
† 

   
32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
† 

   
† Filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
   
* Constitute management contracts, or compensatory plans or arrangements, which are required to 

be filed pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K. 
 

   
(1) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended September 27, 2009. 
 

   
(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended September 27, 2009. 
 

   
(9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2006. 
 

   

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration of Certain Classes of 
Securities on Form 8-A, filed on September 29, 2005. 

 

   
(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration of Certain Classes of 

Securities on Form 8-A, filed on September 29, 2005. 
 

   
(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 

(Registration Statement No. 33-53120). 
 

   
(6) Incorporated by reference to Appendix D to the Company's definitive proxy statement for the 2004 

annual meeting of stockholders. 
 

   
(7) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2006. 
 

   
(8) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 

(Registration Statement No. 33-53120). 
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(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended March 30, 2008. 

 

   
(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended September 30, 1994. 
 

   
(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2006. 
 

   
(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 1999. 
 

   
(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended September 30, 2002. 
 

   
(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 1998. 
 

   
(16) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended June 30, 2000. 
 

 
(17) 

 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2001. 

 

   
(18) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2002. 
 

   
(19) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended September 30, 2003. 
 

   
(20) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 

October 3, 2005. 
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